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' INTRODUCTORY PREFACE AND APPROVAL

The Kaduna State Audit Manual is a complete system of gEJidance tools, broken down
into parts and volumes as indicated below:

o Volume | - Guiding Principles for Financial Audits (made up of Parts A and B)

Part A - Planning of an Audit Assignment
Part B - Execution of an Audit Engagement

. a Volume 2 - Guides for Routine Audit and Audit Frograms :
o xo:ume 3 - Lnfofrmatlon TicI:[r.'ltolagy Systems Audit bt Wl S'{%‘*:‘:\*-
o - Perform . » .
o ume ance Audi | 155{&15 — iu@ e B
hg%mems .
Purpose | LeTesm ——lmﬂrm‘»‘w‘ )i
P VL 'ﬂ‘h(,

This set of Aud1t Manual is a complete system designed to provide the Audrtors of the inid
Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State with the key working tool in the carrying

out their routine and special audit tasks in a professional manner. The manual is in
accordance with the ISSAls standards (1000-2999} which implies full compliance with

all relevant ISAs and additional guidance set out in the INTOSAIl Practice Notes to
describe public sector external audit.

Guiding Principles for Financial Audits provides the direction for audit which
ultimately entails expressmg an opinion as to whether or not the financial statements
audited are prepared in all material respects, in accordance with-
identified/applicable financial reporting framework and/or statutory requlrements '
In addition to this, it also includes other audit objectives such as:

= Reporting instances of non-compliance with authorities including budgets
and accountability, and/or

= Reporting on the effectiveness of internal control.

Performance Audit: The performance audit system has the key objective of providing
guides to Auditors of the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State in carrying out value
for money audits; it also enhances the development of methods and practices in the
conduct of performance audits.

Information Technology Systems Audit (IS): The IS audit provides the opportunity to
the State Auditors to determine how each MDA uses IT systems to initiate, record,
process and report transactions or other financial data. The Auditor must determine
whether controls exist, are well designed, are understood, are operating efficiently
and are being complied with by the operating personnel.

Use of the Manual

The set of manual has been developed for the use of Auditors of Kaduna State in the
professionatl work of audits as concerns State Government finances and accounting as
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specified by retevant laws and statutes, and international standards. As a procedural
manual, it should be avaitasle to all staff involved in audit functions on behalf of the
Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State wherever and whenever such duties are

assigned.
Distribution of the Manual

Each member of staff of the Gffice of the Auditor General Kaduna State should have

access to the Manual as a Norklng tool and also as basic guide to his/her work -

schedules. The Manual shall be applied strictly in dealing with every audit assignment.
Given that staffs are normalls rotated around duties, tasiks, assignments, places and
locations etc.., each Auditor should have at least a basic understandmg of the
procedures of every section of the Manual.

The procedures provided are aimed at enabling Auditors to apply a uniform

‘methodology for carrying out audit assignments. The standardized audit planning,

execution, the regular working papers and the method of documenting and
referencing information are also given to ensure absolute consistency. In addition, the
Auditor should foliow the sequence in the Manual to conduct his/her work.

Method of Amendment :
As part of the financial control system of Kaduna State, the Manua! could require
changes at any time based on updates in Government financial systems or
international standards initiative. In such 2 case, the relevant nart would be
subjected to the required modification accordingly. To amend any part of the manual,
an Auditor who wishes to suggest a modification will propose such tc his superior
officer for review. The review process will pass through the hierarchy to the
Departmental Director. Where the Departmental Director is satisfied with the
suggestion{s}, such is passed to the standing Committee on Audit Manual within
Kaduna State Auditor General’s Gffice. The Committee will review the suggestion and
if satisfied will recommend the changes to the Auditor-General of Kaduna State.

Assuming the recommendation is acceptable to the Auditor - General, the relevant
changes will be authorised accordingly. The Auditor-General will then communicate
the changes to all holders of the Manual. Such modification will be inserted into the
relevant volume/section while any pricr section will be withdrawn accordingly.

- Approval

t hope this manual will ass'st in developing our institution significantly in the years
ahead. ! adopt this audit manual as the basis for the audit approach by all Auditors in

Kaduna State.

TIMOTHY BOSSAN AVONG Fona
Auditor-General Kaduna State
JANUARY 2019




PART A

PLANNING OF AN AUDIT ASSIGNMENT




SECTION |

GROUNDWORK FOR AN AUDIT ASSIGNMENT

This section of the Manual contains the following subjects:

Subject Paragraphs
Objectives and Code of Ethics 2-7
What an Audit Entails 8-18
Overall Considerations 19 - 40

lA. Objectives and Code of Ethics

Objectives

2.

An Auditor should appreciate the following as basic objectives of an audit:

a. Reasonable assurance about the financial statements presented by Office of the

Accountant General Kaduna State and the MDAs, and whether or not these are
free from material misstatements {whether due to fraud or error)

- Matters arising from an audit shall be made known Lo management of the entity

and those charged with governance. Moreover, professional judgment and
skepticism shatll be maintained throughout an audit. The following tasks are also
relevant:

i.  Identify and assess risks of material misstatement, which may be due to
fraud or error, based on an understanding of the entity and its contro!
environment,

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about whether material
misstatements exist, by designing and carrying out suitable audit tests to
mitigate the risks.

1i.  Form an opinion on the financiat statements and any other objectives on
which reporting is mandatory, based on conciusions drawn from the audit
evidence obtained.

Be alert to areas that may give rise to risks of non-compliance with statutory
requirements or risks relating to the effectiveness of internal control when
planning and performing an audit

- Reporting on the effectiveness of internal control.

The Groundwork and planning activities for an audit engagement are depicted as
a flow diagram (Flow Chart 1) below:
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3 INTOSA! Cone of Ethics for Auditors: The Code of Ethics guides the daily wor
of an Auditor. In addition, the code of ethics recognizes that the objectives ¢
the loi are to work to the highest standards of professionatism. Fhese require

four basic components thus:

fu

Credibility: The development of any society is based on credibe imiermation

b. Professionalism: The obvious need for individuals who can be clearty identified
by the MDA, and other interested parties as a professional Auditor

¢. Quality of Service: The assurance that ali audits are carried out to the highes:

standar: i

<. Lonfidence: The auditee and users of the related audit renorts zon -
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o Political neutratity: It is important for Auditors to maintain political neutrality

o Conflict of interest: The various aspects are listed thus:

d.

o

L

in the course of his/her work, an Auditor shall not take management
responsibilities or powers, which must remain solely with the auditee
organization '

. Auditors ‘are to 'protéct their independence and avoid any possible conflict of

interest by refusing gifts or gratifications

The Auditor shall avoid relationships with officers and staff of the auditee
which may influence, compromise or threaten his/her ability to act
independently o

. An Auditor is not to use his/her official position to promote private interests

and therefore must avoid relationships which involve the risk of corruption

An Auditor is not allowed to use information received during his/her duties as a
means of securing personal benefit. Divulging of information that would
provide unfair advantage to other individuals or organizations is not permissible

o Confidentiality or professional secrecy: An Auditor shall not disclose
information obtained in the auditing process to third parties, except for the
purposes of meeting the auditee’s statutory or other identified
responsibilities as part of the organization’s normal procedures or in
accordance with relevant laws.

o Professional competence and due care: It involves the following:

In carrying out their work, Auditors are to apply high professional standards
always

. An Auditor should apply applicable auditing, accounting and financial

management policies, procedures and practices; he/she should have a good
understanding of the constitutional, legal and institutional principles and
siandards governing the operations of the audited entity

An Auditor shall exercise due professicnal care in conducting and supervising an
audit and in preparing related reports

4. The legisiative and/or executive authority, the general public and the audited

entities need to be fully assured cf the fairness and impartiality of the Auditor
It is essential that the reports and opinions of an Auditor be considered to be
accurate and reliable by knowiedgeable third parties

The Auditors’ work must stand the test of legislative and/or executive scrutiny,
public judgments on propriety and examination against this Code of Ethics.




Declaration on Compliance with the Code of Ethics

7.

Each Auditor shall declare compliance with this code of ethics before
commencing cach audit assignment using the Code of Ethics Declaration Form
((Working Paper 1A). Also, at the end of every audit report, the Auditor shali
conclude that the statements included in this Code of Ethics have been duly
observed.

1B. What an Audit Entails

Objectives

8.

This section provides a foretaste at the audit process and atso a comprehensive
list of the working papers applicable to each audit.

Financial Audit

9.

The Financial Audit of Kaduna State embraces the-

A. Attestation of financial accountability of MDAs. It involves the examination
- and evaluation of financial records and expression of opinions therecn

b. Confirmation of finar:ial accountability of the government administrtive.
units

c. Audit of financial systems and transactions, inciwuding an evaiuatinn of
compliarce with statutes and regulations

d. Revic v of internal control and internal audit functions

£. Assessment of the probity and propriety of administrative decisions taiker
within the audited entity and

f. Reporting of any other matters arising from or refating i 1he audi 7o
considered necessary to disclose,

A tinancial audit expresses an opinion as to whether the financia’ SYsLony i
reiiable and that the statements presented is a fair representation ‘
firaricial position of the entity as at a particular date. Moreaver, o Dinan S
audit cnables an Auditor to express an opinion as Lo wieilor or et e
financial statements are prepared, in all material respecls, i aucoroanes i
an identified/applicable  financial repmting framowork 1,/ or sLoaliitoy
requirements.
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negronacie Assurance

accordance with auditing statements is designed to provide
romecprance that the financial statements taken as a whole are froe
=rial rmsstatements.

N norerms of umwdmg reasonable assuranice, Auditors shalt obtain sufficient and
anppropriate  audit  evidence to conclude that therc are ne material
st aterneris in the financial statements as a whole

14 The timatations which are inherent in the audit process affect the Auditor’s

.

abitiny to Jdetoct material misstatements and in turn to provide absolute
assurance on lhe financial statements.  These limitations oxist because of the
fotlowing foctors:

g, QOnby & sarmple of iransactions or batances wili be selected for the audit

T crene Uroiations of any accountine and internal control system, for
SN e possibility of collusion and
The ract that moest audit evidence is persunsive rather than conclusive.

-
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b, The 'a":}‘!_!f;s\.‘--.ir‘.g roquirements are to be considered and maintained by Auditors
threughoul the audit work:
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5o Professionat _____c pticisi: or recognizing that circumstances may exist that
C\%.USE 'm' al misstatemenis

Professional judgment by Auditors leading to informed decisions and the

anprocriate apolication of relevant knowledge and experience to the facts
wd OrCumsLances.
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wioand goprepriate audit evidence should be obtained to reduce
T At accen tablv low level and enable the Auditor to draw

Snandin Statements

aatements prepared and prosented for auail are those of the
audit does not relieve management or those charged with

seir responsibilities = s prescribed by oreievant laws or

1

Lhe Hnancal statemnents are prepared in accordance with applicable financial
s's’_-=;'~“rhri9 -‘ramewum usually prescribed by International Standards, laws and
ceoidations  'noturn, the form of audit opinion expressed by the Auditor will
coends dpon the reporting framework.
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8. A complete set of financial statements in terms of IPSAS prepared on a cash
pasis will include the following:

a. Astatement of cash receipts and payments
L. Acceunting policies and explanatory notes and

C. When the entity makes publicly available it’s approved budget, a comparison
of budget and actual amounts either as a separate additional financial
statement or as a budget colump in the statement of cash receipts and
pavments.

iC. Oversil Considerations

Audit Engagements

} 19. At the commencement of an audit assignment, the Auditor responsible {the
; Team Leader) shall study, understand and apply the required documentation
especially the Audit Planning Working Papers. Next is the process of cenfirming
the audit team and cxternally engaged experts (if any).

: 20, Applying the applicable Working Papers, the concerned Auditor (Team lLeader)
i shall:

a. Comply with relevant ethical requirements mncluding independence

b, Plan the time to perform the audit.

Audit Organization

21. For clarity and to enhance easy delineation of roles, the reporting structure for
an audit team should be designed at the commencement of an audit. Such
wold not be static however. An example of 4 structure for an audit team is
shown helow:

 oweier

rD_é puly Director vji

i

! S -

o
: 'Team Leader

——— e ——

SO R

| Unit Cumit | uUnit © unit | Unit |
| Member! Member] | mem ber | Mem ber Mem ber|

F - _ ———— _—_ _ R




Basic Role of the Auditor

22.

23.

For each audit assignment, the Team Leader shall form a conclusion on
compliance with requirements that apply to the audit engagement. This entails
the following:

Obtaining relevant information from the relevant Director to identify and
evaluate circumstances and relationships that create threats to independence

Evaluating the information on identified breaches, if any, of the institution’s
independence, policies and procedures to determine whether they create a
threat to independence for the audit

Taking appropriate action tc eliminate such threats or reduce them to an
acceptable tevel by applying safeguards. The Team Leader {through his/her
Director) shall promptly report to the Auditor - General, any failure to resclve
the matter for appropriate action and

Documenting conclusions on independence and any relevant discussions with
the institution that support these conclusions.

Before the commencemont of the audit, the Team Lead shall confirm and
document compliance with certain ethical standards which shall include the
following:

a. Compliance with relevant ethical requirements including independence
{refer to WP1A  Codc of Cthics working paper)

b. Have appropriate competence and capabilitics to perform the  audit
engagement in accordance with professional standards and applicable legal
and regulatory reguirements

Team Lead Responsibility

24.

To achieve effectiveness, the Team Leader shall throughout the assignment:

Remain alert, take note ard docuiment any non-compliance with relevant
ethical requirements and crsure that appropriale actions are Laken

. Take responsibility for the @ 00, supervision and performance of the audit
engagement
Control performance and o000 2views throussout the audit

. Take responsibility for ensuring that appropriate consultation takes place or

difficult or contentious matters, including the fact that appropriate
conclusions are reached and implemented. Such consuttation shalt be
documented.

12




Audit Engagement Letter

25.

26.

When aspects of ethical and competency requirements have been duly
considered and it is clear that the assigned team is capable of performing the
audit, the Audit Engagement Letter/Letter of introduction is prepared and sent
to the accounting officer of the auditee. The Engagement letter/Letter of
Introduction is signed by the Auditor General or his duly delegated official.

The Engagement letter (Working Paper 1B} is the medium for nforming the
management of the audited entity, regarding the objectives and scope of the
audit and the obligations of the Auditor General.

Changes to the Terms of Engagement

27.

On recurring audits, the Auditor shatl consider whether or not circumstances
require the terms of the engagement to be revised and whether there is a need
to remind the audited entity of the existing terms of engagement. When it is
decided not to send a new Engagement Letter to the auditee, the Team Leader
should still update and communicate to management (of the auditee) the
retevant target dates applicable for the audit.

Audit Findings

28,

29.

30.

31.

Audit findings {i.e. exceptions) should be documented in the required format as
soon as discovered. These findings are communicated to the auditee through
the following available means:

a. Informal guery {this could sometimes be discussed with the auditee)
D. Management [etter; and
C. Audit report.

Audit queries are formal means of communication. Such are sent via the
accounting officer to the relevant division heads where the queries reside. This
way, management has an opportunity to give timely feedback or comments and
additional information to the Auditor. There is no restriction on the number of
queries that may be sent by the Auditor {Team Leader), but il is advised to
avoid sending endless numbers of wndividual queries. The overall group head
(usuatly the Group Supervisor) should rather collect the queries and send them
simultanecusly {for example, all queries for a guarter should be sent at once).
Such method or arrangement should be communicated and agreed with the
auditee. '

Unresolved matenial findings which will be considered for reporting should
nonetheless always be inctuded (and this way be repeated) included in the
Management Letter. Repeating unresolved findings will alert management to
the items that will potentially appear in the audit report. This will ensure that
audit reports do not contain issues that will ‘surprise” management.

The management letter is normally issued at the end of the engagement
summarizing all unresolved findings previousty raised in queries and any new




1ssues not yet raised. Management shall be requested to provide comments on

the findings in the Managenient Letter.

32.  The draft audit report on the work of the Accountant Genzral and tor individual
Accounting Officers will be discussed wilh the auditee before i is finalized.

Depending on the circumstances, it may &
management.
Communication during the Audit

33, Throughout the audit, there is the nocd and a vownonsinsdirg fo come
with the management and thogs choroor! with P
entivy. Lommunication entails the form, Ly and

A vitat informartion s the Augit Engagerin vy Lo

34 ACPGUCY Ivolang verbal o wriitlen cusimiunizaticn shoule pe Gers
exambte, there should be a protocot 107 sending out Engagement ietier wiiioh

2 odone simultaneousiy with the

NE
Management Letter (e.g. if 3l findings have already been rsnorted 1o

?

T

wili specify that the letter should for example De hand - delivered wo th.:
relevant person at the auditee’s office and that an acknowledgment of receif..
should be signed by the auditee. Oral communication in genera’ will not b=

adequate. Generally. auditors are required Lo communicaie any s1om im0

findings irom the audit to those charged with governance ir wri’ i,

35. ihie policy of the kaduna Siawe Audiior General O Coranmunicalion Shoui oo
all basic aspects of cormmmunications by Auditors with the management o:

RN

auditee and those charged with governance The document snoitle acores:, -
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The clear purpase 0i communicatio: ..

b, The form in which communication wili pe o

c. The persons in the audit team responsibwe tor the communication and tne

person receiving the commumcation at the audiiers,

d. The contents of the commein-at .
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Communication for Information Gathering

36.

37.

38.

39.

Information might be gathered through interviewing the personnel of the
audited entity. Even though this may be a very effective way of obtaining
relevant information, verbal statements, when used as evidence need to be
documented or confirmed. Meetings held with personnel should be documented
in the minutes of these meetings. Minutes which should be signed by the
relevant official and the Auditor and should contain any agreements reached or
requirements raised by both parties.

Confirmation may take the form of formal management representation (for
material issues) or through obtaining alternative supporting evidence.

The working papers when completed will ensure full compliance with the
requirements included in this Manual. Also included in each working paper are
the relevant review requirements and the references to other working papers
where applicable.

The effectiveness of an audit relies significantly on good communication with
the auditec entity. Communication is also vital throughout the audit process
and the key aspects of communication within this manual are as follows:

Engagement letter before the audit commences, to explain the nature and
scope of the audit.

Overall audit strategy at the end of planning, to explain the audit approach
being adopted, based on the preliminary evaluation of the audited entity

Entrance meeting with the management of the audited entity

- An interim management letter to provide a listing of audit findings and to

provide management with an opportunity to respond at the end of an audit
visit

. A final management letter to inform the audited entity of all significant issues

found during the audit and to provide management with an opportunity to
respond. This should form the basis of the exit meeting with the auditee and

An audit report to provide an overall opinion on the financial statements and
other aspects included in the Engagement Letter

40. Table | below provides a comprehensive list of all Working Papers to be applied

during the groundwork and planning stage of each audit. Details of the Working
Papers are presented in the Annexure

15




Table 1

TABLE OF WORKING PAPERS
LINKS WITH | MANDATORY
WORKING PAPER | PUROSE /| OTHER WORKING | COMPLETED | REYIEWEDBY
ECISIONS /
(WP) OUTCOMES WORKING BY
PAPERS PAPERS
1A [ Code of | Conclude on the Mandatory, |Each  team | Team Leader
| ethics team’s for each | member responsible for
independence audit. the audit
1B | Audit Understanding on | Overall audit | Mandatory, | Deputy Director -
engagement terms of the | strategy for each | Birector person
letter engagement and | should audit. responsible for
informs  Auditor | contain  the the audit
and same report to sign
management, information | the
their respective | relating to engagement
responsibilities the scope and letter
with respect to | timelines of
the audit the audit.
- i
STRATEGIC AUDIT PLANNING
PURPOSE / | LINKS WITH | MANDATORY
:VwOJ;KiNG PAPER DECISIONS /| OTHER WORKING | WORKING E[?,:ELH :5\’ IEWED
OQUTCOMES PAPERS PAPERS
1C Analytical Identify risk | Identified risks of | Mandatory, to | Team Deputy
review areas where large | material be complete for | Lead Director
differences are | misstatement on | each audit.
noted between | a financial
trends and | statement level
expectations
1D Review of [ To provide an Mandatory, to | Team Deputy
internal assessment of the be completed | Leader Director/Dir
audit work and for each ector
function competence  of auditee with
and report 7 the internal audit internal  audit
function. function.
1€ Fraud To determine Mandatory, for ; Team Deputy
checklist fraud each audit. Lead Director
B susceptibility
_ ]

16




1F Overall Audit | Setting out the Conclusions Mandatory Team Leader Group

Strategy conclusion from from all other | to be Supervisar

all working working completed

papers up to this | papers should | for each

stage and be included audit.

formulating the here

high ievel audit

approach. The

Overall Audit

Strategy is

communicated to

the management

of the auditee.

1G Engagement | Confirms Information Mandatory, | Team Leader Deputy

team _ understanding included from | to be Director
discussion and informs the other working | completed
document engagement papers in pre- | for each

team about engagement audit.

important and strategic

aspects of the planning as

audit, well as

previous
years.
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AUDIT EXECUTION

ﬁ_ :

CONCLUDING AND REPORTING

LINKS WITH
WORKING  PAPER | PURFOSE /1 OTHER A . | COMPLETE | REVIEWED
(WP) O AES WORKING Y ORSING | b BY BY
ou PAPERS ’
2F Managemen | Management All  unresolved | Mandatory, Director Auditor
t letter letter is issued to | findings and | to be General
the Auditee and | exceptions are | completed
should include | included in the | for each
all matters that | management audit.
are still | letter.
putstanding and
yet to be
[reanzed
TTOTTT LT
accounting officer
of the auditee.
2C Auditw To provide a basis | Includes all To be Director
query for communication | findings / completed leader
of findings with the | exceptions when
auditee. raised. findings are
raised and
communicat
|ed
2D Review To document all To be Team Deputy
worksheet | responses from completed Leader/Tea | Director/Dir
auditee to the when m members | ector
reviewers necessary
’_ZE Audit Summary of the Summarises Administrati | Team Deputy
summary audit process for information ve working Leader Director/Dir
memorand | each component from the other | paper, to be ector
um working papers | completed
for each
L | audit. B
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AUDIT DOCUMENTATION AND QUALITY CONTROL
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SECTION It

STRATEGIC PLANNING

Section Il (Strategic Planning) contains the following key subjects:

Subject Paragraphs
Cbjectives 2-7
Materiality 8-12
Understanding the Audited Entity 13-80

Il A: Objectives

2.

.

1.

Vi,

This section provides guidance on approaches to effectively organize and plan an
audit assignment in order to guarantee ultimate accomplishment and objectivity.
To achieve this, the Team Leader shall develop and document an audit strategy
plan involving:

a. The nature, timing and extent of planned risk assessment procedures

b. The nature, timing and extent of planned further audit procedures at the
assertion level which is documented during detailed planning

c. Any other procedures which may be necessary to ensure compliance with the
audit as pronounced in this manual

Although the planning phase could be time - consuming, it is nevertheless
required since the Auditor has a responsibility to understand and document the
systems and processes of the auditee in order to assess all related risks.
Furthermore, adequate audit planning is essential in order to:

Appreciate the important areas of the audit focus; this will prevent the
dissipation of energy

Identify and resolve potential problems in a timely manner
Properly organize and manage the audit engagement
Select and assign team members to tasks

Facilitate adequate supervision and review of audit work

Co-ordinate the tasks by subordinates with regards to audit components

20




Understand the Entity

4.

During the strategic planning stage, the Auditor (particularly the Team Leader)
shall obtain a thorough understanding of the audited entity and make vital
decisions affecting the audit. Such could be the:

. Studying the reported financial information (financial statements) and identifying

transactions and balances to be audited

. Understanding the auditee’s operations in order to identify risks of material

misstatement. This is done through performing the Analytical Review (Refer to

the working paper 1C Preliminary Analytical Review). Although much of this
should be common between and across ministries, departments and agencies.

. Assessing the internal controls and governance environment {Refer to WP 1D and

- Fraud checklist WP 1E)

. Compiling and communicating the overall audit strategy to the audited entity.

(Refer to WP 1F Overall Audit Strategy)

Overall Audit Strategy

5.

A key issue in setting an overall plan of an audit is to document the approach
for the performance. It involves the summary of the detailed work completed
earlier and should include the following:

Scope, timing and direction of the audit -

Reporting objectives and the nature of the communications required
Significant factors directing the audit

Results of preliminary engagement activities and any relevant previous
knowledge gained

e. The nature, timing and extent of resources necessary to perform the audit

anow

The Team Leader will design key decisions and significant matters which are
then documented in the Overall Audit Strategy. These will also form the basis of
discussion with subordinate Auditors concerning the above stated aspects of the
audit.

Changes to Plans during the Course of Audit

7.

Planning an audit is a continual process throughout the audit engagement.
Consequently, the overall strategy and the detailed plan shall be documented,
updated and amended as necessary during the course of the assignment. As a
result of any unexpected events, changes in conditions, or the audit evidence
obtained from the results of audit procedures, the Auditor may need to modify
the overall audit strategy and plan (for one or more components), and thereby
the resulting planned nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.
All changes made to planning documents should be documented.
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Il B: Materiality

Audit Materiality

8.

10.

11.

12.

The Team Leader should determine materiality in line with standard guide
sighed off by the Auditor General, bearing in mind the different users of
financial statements and their common financial information needs e.g.
legislatures and regulators making decisions about the entity. Determination of
materiality is also based on the professional judgment of the Team Leader and
the understanding of the auditee’s operations and risks.

The objective of the Auditor is to apply the concept of materiality
appropriately in planning and performing the audit. Matertality can be divided
into two categories namely qualitative and quantitative materiality.

Auditors are to compute the quantitative materiality level as a numerical
value, based on professional judgment. The most important figure in the
financial statements should be the basis for setting matenality.

In the case of spending entities like government ministries, the basis to
catculate materiality is usualty the gross expenditure of the entity. in the case
of entities that cotlect revenue, the income figure 1s the most important and
hence the basis for setting materiality. An Auditor normally set materiality in
the range 0.25 per cent to 1 per cent of gross expenditure.

When an Auditor calculates materiality before the final financial statements
are available, budgeted figures, estimated amounts or interim financial
information may be used. A revision of such materiality should be done as soon
as the exact final information is available.

I €. Understanding the Audited Entity

13.

The Auditor should obtain an understanding of the audited entity’s
environment and the internal controls. This will enable him/her assess the risk
of material misstatement whether due to fraud or error and to determine the
relevant audit approach to be followed. In understanding the auditee’s
operations, the considerations included in the relevant working papers are
fundamental as auditors cannot audit effectively without it.

Risk of Material Misstatement, Compliance or Regularity

14.

Risks are inherent in the financial side of every organization; such risks could
be:

. The risk that services cannot be delivered due to for example capacity

constraints

. The risk that the entity is subject to fraud by its employees or management and
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c. The risk that the financial statements may include material errors due to

deficiency in employees’ skills.

Risk Assessment Procedures

15.

16.

In order to plan for the audit, the Team Leader shall obtain an understanding
of the entity and its environment, including its internal control system by
performing the risk assessment procedures. This should be sufficient in order to
identify and assess the risks of material misstatement both on a financial
statements and assertion levels. The risk assessment procedures alone are not
sufficient or appropriate to base an opinion on. The Auditor may perform the
following (or a combination of the following) risk assessment procedures to

obtain an understanding of the entity and its environment including its internal
control:

. Discussion with and inquiries from management and staff within the entity

. Analytical procedures whereby relationships between the following is

considered:

1.  Expenditure versus appropriation
ii.  Benefit payments, such as pensions versus demographic allocations
iil.  Interest as a percentage of debt compared to the government
borrowing rate and

. Observation and inspection of documentation such as

1.  Legislative reports or minutes
1.  Additional documents prepared by management for the legislature,
such as performance reports or funding requests
.  Testimonies of agency officials
iv.  Other directives
v.  Official records of proceedings of the legislature

. Performance of other appropriate activities.

Analytical procedures may be helpful in identifying the existence of unusual
transactions or events, and amounts, ratios, and trends that might indicate
matters that have financial statements and audit implications. Analytical
procedures refer to the analysis of significant ratios and trends including the
resulting investigation of fluctuations and relationships that are inconsistent
with other relevant information or deviations from predicted amounts. The
Auditor may also compare budgeted to actual or to extrapolated figures {where
actual figures are not yet available). When these comparisons yield significant
deviations (normally identified for each audit), the Auditor considers those
results in identifying risks of material misstatement and should investigate and
obtain adequate explanations and appropriate corroborative audit evidence.
(Refer to working paper WP 1C Analytical review)
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17.

Observation and inspection may support inquiries of management and others,
and also provide information about the entity and its environment. Such audit
procedures ordinarily include the following:

Observation of the entity’s activities and operations

Inspection of documents (such as operational plans and strategies), records, and

internal control manuals

Reading reports prepared by management (such as quarterly management
reports and interim financial statements) and those charged with governance
{(such as minutes of management meetings)

. Visits to the entity’s premises and plant facilities (if relevant), and

. Tracing transactions through the information system relevant to financial

reporting (walk-through procedures).

Depths of Understanding the Audited Entity

18.

f.

The Auditor should understand the entity and its environment especially the
following aspects:

. Transactions and balances to be audited and the applicable financial reporting

framework

. Applicable legislative framework, laws and reguiations

Nature of the entity and its operations, financing, governance structures etc.

Decisions due to political processes for example new geographic locations or
closures of existing locations, reorganizations, including transfer of activities to
other entities, new program areas, budgetary constraints or cut backs

. Measurement and review of the entity’s financial performance

Relevant internal controls including the manual and information technology (IT)
environment.

Specific consideration should be given to fraud, litigations and claims against
the entity, related parties and the sustainability of service delivery (going

concern)

Expectations of the legislature and other users of the resultant Auditor’s Report
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Previous Recommendations and Reported Items

19.

The Auditor shoutd establish whether previously reported items still constitute
risk areas. This is done by evaluating whether management has taken
appropriate steps on previously reported recommendations and findings that
could affect the audit. The corrective actions taken should be assessed to
identify lingering risk areas.

Considering Compliance with Laws and Regulations

20.

Some laws or regulations have a direct effect on the financial statements
whilst others are fundamental to the operations of the entity (therefore impact
indirectly). The Auditor should consider the impact of both on the financial
information presented and also on the operations of the auditee. In addition,
the Team Leader should obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding compliance with the provisions of those laws and regutations which
have direct effect on the financial statements. These may include Financial
Instructions and the annual budget and relevant laws, for example, Fiscal
Responsibility Act, Procurement Act etc. .

Responsibilities of Auditors

21,

22.

23.

24.

Auditors should gain an understanding of the legal and regularity framework of
the entity as well as design and perform audit procedures to identify material
misstatements due to non-compliance. However, he/she is not responsiblte for

preventing non-compliance and at the same time cannot be expected to detect
all noncompliance with laws and regulations.

Regarding understanding the entity and the related objectives, Auditors are to:

a. Identify and understand the legat and regulatory requirements of the
entity

b. Obtain audit evidence regarding compliance with the provisions of those
laws and regulations which have a direct effect on the financial
statements

c. Respond appropriately to non-compliance or suspected non-compliance
with laws and regulations identified during the audit.

For all other audit findings, the Auditor should identify whether there is an

element of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations

Where the Auditor concerned finds or suspects non-compliance with laws and
regulations, she/he shall consider the following:

a. Understand the nature of the non-compliance
b. Design further tests to evaluate the effect of the non-compliance
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25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

C.

Discuss the matter with management and those charged with governance

d. Consider the need to obtain legal advice where necessary
e. Consider any non-compliance reported in other reports

The Auditor shall also evaluate the implications of non-compliance in relation
to other aspects of the audit, including his/her risk assessment, and the
reliability of written representations. Further actions are then taken
accordingly.

Auditors are to communicate non-compliances with laws and regulations
identified during the course of the audit to those charged with governance
unless the matters are inconsequential. The Auditor may have a mandate to
order the auditee to correct non-compliances with legislation. All intentional
non-compliances should be communicated to the Accounting Officer as soon as
practicable.

Where the Auditor suspects that management or those charged with
governance are involved in non-compliance, he/she shall communicate the
matter to the next higher level of authority at the entity.

Auditors shall document all identified or suspected non-compliance with laws
and regulations and the results of discussion with management and, where
applicable, those charged with governance and other parties outside the
entity.

During the strategic planning stage, the Team Leader should obtain a general
or high level understanding of the legal and regutatory framework applicable to
the entity, and the mechanism the entity has put in place to ensure compliance
with that framework.

_ Objectives, Strategies and Related Risks

30.

The Auditor is to obtain an understanding of the entity’s objectives and
strategies, and the related risks that may result in material misstatement of
the financial statements. Strategies represent the operational approaches by
which management intends to achieve its objectives. Strategies should include
provisions to management’s approach to deal with applicable risks. An
understanding of risks in the public sector environment relates to an
organization not possessing the sufficient capacity or processes to deliver on its
mandate.

internal Controls

31.

The Auditor should obtain a clear understanding of the internal controls

established by management in consonance with the relevant rules/regulations.

These controls are in place to provide reasonable assurance about the

achievement of the entity’s objectives with regard to reliability of the

accounting and financial systems, the effectiveness and efficiency of

operations. and compliance with applicable laws and regulations. It follows
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32.

33.

34.

35.

that internal control is designed and implemented to address identified risks
that threaten the achievement of any of these objectives. Internal control
consists of the following components:

. The control environment
. The entity’s risk assessment process

. The information system, including the related processes, relevant to financial

reporting, and communication

. Control activities and

. Monitoring of controls

Each Auditor shall obtain a good understanding of the internal controls relating
to the design and implementation of controls relevant to the audit. In the
evaluation of the above, some of the categories of controt will be performed on
a financial statements level (control environment, risk assessment process),
and some of it (such as control activities) will be documented and evaluated
for each audited component. The designs of controls are adequate when they
can prevent or detect misstatements and errors. Where controls are not
appropriately designed, the Auditor should not consider its implementation but
report the ineffective design to management.

In obtaining the understanding of internal controls, the Auditor shall take the
following into account:

. Any additional reporting responsibilities regarding internal controls

a
b. Relevant contrels that relate to compliance with authorities.

8]

Controls related to monitoring performance against the budget

a

Controls related to transferring budgetary funds to other entities

e. Supervision and other controls may be performed by parties outside the
entity and relate to areas such as compliance with procurement
regutations, execution of the budget, other areas as defined by legislation
or audit mandate and management's accountability

Control Environment

The Auditor shall obtain an understanding of the control environment. The
controt environment includes aspects of governance, management functions,
behaviour and attitudes, underlying culture, actions to prevent and detect
fraud and error, commitment to ethical values and competence.

Even though for some of these elements, documented evidence may be

difficult to obtain {for example management’s attitude and awareness), the
assessment of the control environment should not only be based on inquiries
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and discussions. Conclusions drawn should be linked back to documented
policies and procedures or lack thereof.

Information System, and the Related Processes, relevant to Financial Reporting

36.

37.

38.

The information system relevant to financial reporting objectives, which
includes the accounting system, consists of the procedures and records
established to initiate, record, process, and report the entity’s transactions (as
well as events and conditions) and to maintain accountability for the related
assets and liabilities.

Auditors shall obtain an understanding of the information system, including the
related processes, relevant to financial reporting, including the following
areas:

a. The classes of transactions in the entity's operations that is significant to
the financial statements

b. The procedures, within both T and manual systems, by which those
transactions are initiated, recorded, processed and reported in the
financial statements

c. The related accounting records, whether electronic or manuat, supporting
information, and specific accounts in the financial statements, in respect
of initiating, recording, processing and reporting transactions

d. How the information system captures events and conditions, other than
classes of transactions that are significant to the financial statements

e. The financial reporting process used to prepare the entity’s financial
statements, including significant accounting estimates and disclosures

f. Controls surrounding journal entries, including non-standard journal entries
used to record non-recurring, unusual transactions or adjustments.

Auditors should obtain an understanding of how the entity communicates
financial reporting roles and responsibilities and significant matters relating to
financial reporting, including:

a. Communication between management and those charged with governance
and

b. External communication, such as those with regutatory authorities.

Control Activities

39.

Auditors are to obtain sufficient understanding of control activities to assess
the risks of material misstatement at the assertion level and to design further
audit procedures responsive to the assessed risks. Control activities are the
policies and procedures that help ensure that management directives are
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carried out; for example, that necessary actions are taken to address risks that
threaten the achievement of the entity’s objectives.

40.  Examples of specific control activities include those relating to the following:
Control activity | Description |
Authorization How and by whom transactions are authorized are
detailed in the procedures and included in the job
) descriptions of personnel. _ .
Performance Performance contracts for personnel relate to the actual
reviews job performed.
Information ' Detailed descriptions of information processing. This
processing includes general and application controls.
Physical controls Safeguarding of assets, for example controls over access
| _ to the inventory storeroom.
Segregation of | Different persons are responsible for:
duties * Authorising a transaction/acquisition
» Recording the details in the cash book/general ledger
etc..
| » Handling the goods/stock/assets
4i.  Control activities implemented by management can also be categorised by
determining whether the controls are preventative or detective. Preventative
controls are controls with functions to prevent errors and misstatements from
happening. Detective controls are controls with functions to detect and correct
errors and misstatements after they already happened.
42.  Implementing a preventative control is normally a better and more sustainable

solution, but sometimes it takes longer to implement and can be more costly.
in such cases a detective control can provide a temporary solution until the
preventative control is implemented.

Monitoring of Controls

43,

Monitoring of controls is a process to assess the effectiveness of internal
control performance over time. It includes pre-identified aspects such as the
recognition of information monitored e.g. exception reports drawn from the
system on large value spending on a monthly basis. These processes should be
built into the normal recurring activities of an entity and include regular
management and supervisory activities. The Auditor shall evaluate the sources
of information used to monitor and evaluate whether such information is
reliable. Corrective actions taken in response to management’s monitoring
activities should be evident.

Management should also make effective use of internal audit to contribute to

the monitoring of an entity’s activities. Auditors should evatuate the
responsibilities of the internal audit function and its position/influence in the
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entity’s organizational structurk; and the activities performed, or to be
performed, by the internal audit function.

Consideration of Fraud

45.

46.

47.

48.

Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from either fraud or error.
The distinction is that fraud is caused intentionally while an error is
unintentional. In the public sector, any suspected fraud or significant
irregularity has to be investigated by the auditors. There are two types of fraud
_ fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets. Although the
Auditor may suspect or in rare cases, identify the occurrence of fraud, he/she
does not make legal determinations of whether fraud has actually occurred.

Fraud or fraudulent financial reporting may be accomplished through:
:—\f‘ - ’ ! 4 ’ - L .

a. Manip’ulation, falsification {(including forgery}, ‘9 alteration of accounting
records or supporting documentation from which the financial statements

'+ are prepared.

b. Misrepresentation or omission of transactions, events or other significant
- information from the financial statements

c. Intentional misapplication of accounting principles relating to amounts,
classification, manner of pgesentation, or disclosure '

d. Abuse, including the misuse of authority or position for personal financial
interests or those of an immediate wor close family member or business
associate. '

Misapprop'ﬁation of assets can be accomplished in a variety of ways including:

a. Embezzling receipts (e.g. misappropriating collections on accounts
receivable or diverting receipts in respect of writtén-off accounts to
perscnal bank accounts)

b. Stealing physical assets or intellectual property (for example, stealing
inventory for personal use or for sale, stealing scrap for resale, colluding
with a third party by disclosing technological data in return for payment)

c. Causing an entity to pay for goods and services not received (for example,
payments to fictitious vendors, kickbacks paid by vendors to the entity’s
purchasing agents in return for inflating prices, payments to fictitious
employees) and

d. Converting an entity’s assets to personal use (for example, using the
entity's assets as collateral for a personal loan or a lpan to a related

party).

Fraud is usually committed when certain factors are present thus:

a. Incentive or pressure to commit fraudulent financial reporting when
management is under pressure to achieve an unrealistic target. in the public
sector, employees or management may be under pressure to deliver high
quality services with inadequate resources and to meet budgets
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b. There is an opportunity to commit fraud when internal control can be
overridden. Lack of skills, high volume low value cash transactions may be
prevalent in the operations

c. Rationalization of the act of fraud when staff (including management) has
ethical values allowing them to commit a dishonest act.

49.  The primary responsibility for fraud prevention and detection rests with
management and those charged with governance ar oversight. Auditors arc
responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.

20.  However, due to inherent limitations of an audit, there may be some material
misstatements which may not be detected, however the Auditor may plan and
performed the audit. This is particularly true for fraud where the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is nigher than other
misstatements resulting from error. The following scenarios may be the
position:

a. Person(s) committing fraud will try to conceal it and in most cases also
involve sophisticated and carefully organized schemes to do so. These may
include forgery or deliberate failure to record transactions etc. .

b. Collusion between more than one employee is usually an aspect which wilt
make detection of fraud particularly difficult during routine audit

c. Fraud involving management whereby accounting records are easily
manipulated, present fraudulent information, overrun control procedures.

51. For this reason, an attitude of professional skepticism is vital for the Auditor
throughout the audit, recognizing the possibility that a material misstatement
due to fraud could exist and internal controls effective to discover errors may not
be effective to discover fraud. This should also apply to revenue collection and
capital contracting e.g. appointment of contractors

Responsibilities of Auditors

52.  The objectives of the Auditor are to identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud and also to 0hia.
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding theo assessed risks of maier .
misstatement due Lo fraud, through designinrg and implementing annrae.
responses. finally. rhe  Auditor shall respond APPIRIpriaiony o S
suspected fraud idontified during the audit,

n3 The relative importance of the risk factors varies ANNOAY SNTate s
entities from critical to insignificant. Accordingly, the tenm Sx
considerable  professionat judgment  when  considering A R TR A
individually and & combination. When considering the prosence o1 1k factor



54.

5.

56.

57.

the team shoultd consider whether there are other factors or specific controls
that mitigate or exacerbate the risk factors that have been identified.

Auditors should identify and assess the risks of material misstatement due to
fraud at the financial statements level, and at the assertion level for audited
components.

Also, Auditors should be able to identify the red flags (fraud risks) in a
particular audit area. Red flags are anomalies that point to symptoms or
indicators that are to be associated with fraud such as:

Invoices without matching orders (Occurrence or validity of expenditure)
Payments made without matching invoices

Over invoicing and under delivery by suppliers

There is poor segregaticn of duties in asset management

Poor physical security of assets (Asset management - existence of assets)
Lack of controls relating to complete recording of income received

Fees charged are less than fair market value {Completeness of revenue)
Goods or services are price highly compared to the market.

w0 ah o

To respond to the risk of management override of controls, Auditors should
design and perform audit procedures to:

a. Test the appropriateness of material journal entries recorded in the
general ledger especially around the financial year end and making
inquiries about any unusual or inappropriate activity relating to the
processing of journals

b. Review accounting estimates for biases that could result in material
misstatement due to fraud.

During the evaluation of audit evidence: The Auditor should consider whether
analytical procedures that are performed at or near the end of the audit when
forming an overall conclusion as to whether the financial statements as a whole
are consistent with his/her knowledge of the auditee indicate a previously
unrecognized risk of material misstatement due to fraud. Unusual or
unexpected relationships in for example revenue accounts may indicate
manipulation of financial information.

For identified misstatements, the Auditor should consider whether there is an
indication of fraud. If there is such an indication he/she should consider the
implications of this in the light of other aspects of the audit, particularly the
reliability of management representations

Consider the audit report when the financial statements are materially
misstated as a result of fraud, the Auditor should consider the implications for
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the entire audit. The reliability of evidence previously obtained when there is a
possibility of fraud should be considered

If, as a result of a misstatement resutting from fraud or suspected fraud, the
Auditor encounters exceptional circumstances that bring into question his/her
ability to continue performing the audit, he/she should consider the following:

i.  Determine the professional and legal responsibilities applicable in the
circumstances, including whether there is a requirement for him/her
to report separately to regulatory authorities

ii.  Identify whether there is a need to request the help of forensic
auditors where applicable

ii.  Obtain written representations from management relating to their
responsibilities and knowledge of fraud (refer to working paper 2B
Management representation letter)

Communication of Fraud

58.

39.

Where an Auditor identifies fraud or obtain information that indicates that
fraud may exist, he/she should communicate such to the appropriate level of
management and to those charged with governance such as the Permanent
Secretary or equivalent immediately.

The Auditor should consider whether there are other matters related to fraud
to be discussed with those charged with governance of the entity when it is
relevant to their responsibilities.

Procedures Regarding Litigations and Claims

60.

61.

Litigations and claims involving an entity may have a material effect on the
financial statements and thus may be required to be disclosed and/or provided
for in the financial statements. Auditors may also have additional reporting
responsibilities for cxample identifying future claims and potential wider
consequences of those claims,

Auditors should carry out audit procedures in order to be aware of any
litigation and claims involving the entity which may result in a material
misstatement of the financial statements. Such procedures would include the
following:

Inquire by obtaining written representations from management

Inguire from the central legal department which administers claims against the
government where applicable

Review of minutes of those charged with vovernance and correspondence with
the entity’s legal counsel

Use any information obtained regarding the entity's operations including
information from discussions with any in-house tegal department and
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62.

e. Any other information which may assist in identifying litigations and claims

including media reports, general public and stakeholder feedback

When existing litigation and claims have been identified. the Auditor should
seek direct communication with the entity’s legal counsel. The letter, which
should be prepared by management, should request the entity’s legal counsel
to communicate directly with the Auditor.

Assessing the Risks of Material Misstatement

63.

64.

Risk of material misstatement refers to the fact that the financial statements
may be materially misstated prior to audit. The risk of material misstatement
consists of two components, namely:

Inherent risk The susceptibility of a class of transaction, account balance or
disclosure to a misstatement that could be material

. Control risk  The risk that a material misstatement could occur and go

undetected by the entity’s internal contrel means.

Throughout the strategic planning process and the whole audit exercise, the
Auditor should identify risks of material misstatements. The risks of material
misstatement should be assessed at the financial statements and assertion
levels. For this purpose, the Auditor should carry out the following:

Identify risks by considering the entity and its environment, including relevant
controls, and by considering the classes of transactions, account batances, and
disclosures in the financial statements

. Relate the identified risks to what can go wrong at the assertion level

Consider the significance and likelihood of the risks. Significant risks require
special audit consideration or risks for which substantive procedures atone do
not provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Auditors are required to
evaluate the design of the entity’s controls, including relevant control
activities, over such risks and determine whether they have been implemented.

Significant Risks that Require Special Audit Consideration

55.

66.

As part of the risk assessment, Auditors should determine which of the risks
identified are, in his/her judgment, risks that require special audit
consideration ¢such risks are defined as “significant risks”).

The application of the following criteria can be used to determine whether the
identified risk is significant:

a. Risk of fraud {e.g. susceptibility of assets to misappropriation)
b. Motivation to misstate results

c. Non-routinc or unusual transactions

d. Transactions fnvolving retated parties
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e. Complex transactions
f. Significant estimations with high degree of subjectivity
g. Audit adjustmenits or differences in prior year’s audit.

67.  In deciding on the significance of a risk, the Auditor should exclude the effects
of identified controls related to the risk. The following may also influence the
fact as to which risks are significant:

Complexity and inconsistency in regulations and directives

Non-compliance with authorities

The budget process and the execution of the budget

The budget in the public sector is an authoritative tool determined by the
legislature. Auditors therefore normally include the budget process as an
essential part of their understanding of the entity and its environment, and of
the risk assessment, rather than only as a management procedure.

an o

68. For significant risks, to the extent that Auditors have not already done so, they
should evaluate the design of the entity’s related controls, including relevant
control activities, and determine whether these have been implemented. This is
done during the compilation of system descriptions during detailed planning.

Communicating with those charged with Governance

69. Effective two-way communication between Auditors, management and the
accounting officer is an essential part of audit. Communication assists the
Auditor and those charged with governance as follows:

a. In understanding matters related to the audit in context, and in developing a
constructive working relationship. This relationship is developed while
maintaining the independence and objectivity of the Auditor

b. To obtain and to provide information relevant to the audit. For example,
those charged with governance may assist the Auditor in understanding the
entity and its envirenment, in identifying appropriate sources of audit
evidence, and in providing information about specific transactions or events

¢. To provide timely observations to and assist in fulfilling the responsibility of
those charged with governance in overseeing the financial reporting process,
thereby reducing the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements.

Whom to Communicate

70. Firstly, Auditors need to identify the appropriate person(s} within the entity's
governance structure with whom to communicate. In this instance, governance
responsibilities may exist at several organizational levels as well as in several
functions (i.e. vertically or horizontally). As a result, there may be instances
where there are several distinct groups which are identified as those charged
with governance such as the Permanent Secretary, Chief Executive/General
Manager of agency etc..
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72,

73.

74.

In situations where matters are communicated to subgroups of those charged
with governance (such as an audit committee or an individual) Auditors may
need to convey the information in full or in summary, to the governing body as
a whole. Auditors need to be particularly sensitive to meet the needs and
expectations of the legislature or appropriate regulators about matters
communicated to other governance levels, particularly where the matters may
be of broad public interest.

What to Communicate: Auditors (Team leader) should communicate to those
charged with governance, matters identified during the normal course of the
audit.

Significant findings: Communication includes significant findings noted during
the audit and other matters, which are in the Auditor’s professional judgment
critical to the oversight of the financial reporting process. Auditors may have
access to information relevant to those charged with governance from auditing
other entities in government, such as material errors in transactions with the
audited entity which also affect other entities, or designs of relevant controls
which have provided efficiency gains in other entities. Communicating this type
of information to those charged with governance may add value to the audit
when circumstances permit. However, legislation, regulation, or ethical
requirements may prohibit communicating this type of information.

Other issues to disclose could be significant difficulties which could be
encountered during the audit and may include such matters as delays in
management providing required information or the unavailability of expected
information and restrictions imposed on by management.

Communication of internal control weaknesses to management and to those
charged with governance

75.

76.

Auditors should identify internal control deficiencies during the audit. n
principle, all misstatements are caused by inadequately designed or not
properly functioning internal controls. Internal controls are deficient if their
design or operation does not prevent or detect material misstatements on a
timely basis. Auditors may also have additional responsibilities to report such
control weaknesses to those charged with governance and to other parties such
as the legislature.

when one or more internal control deficiencies have been noted during the
audit, the Auditor concerned should evaluate whether the deficiencies alone
(or when combined together with other weaknesses) is/are significant to
warrant communication to those charged with governance. Control weaknesses
in many instances will be related to non-compliances to legislative
requirements. For all control weaknesses, Auditors should identify the relevant
regulation which was not observed by the auditee.
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How and when to Communicate

77.

78.

The purpose, form and persons involved in the communication are determined
by the Communication policy of Kaduna State Auditor General.

Communication should take place on a timely basis. This is especially important
when the audit takes place throughout the year or when an interim audit is
performed.

Documentation

79.

80.

Auditors should document the following:

a. The discussion among the engagement team regarding the susceptibility of
the entity’s financial statements to material misstatement due to error or
fraud, and the significant decisions reached

b. Key elements of the understanding obtained regarding each of the aspects
of the entity and its environment, including each of the internal control
compaonents, to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements; the sources of information from which the understanding was
obtained, and the risk assessment procedures

€. The identified and assessed risks of material misstatement at the financial
statement and assertion levels

d. The risks identified and related controls evaluated as a result of the .
requirements.

Auditors should document the overall audit strategy and the detailed audit plan,
as well as significant changes to those documents made during the audit and the
reasons for such changes. Also, audit documentation may be subject to third
party access. As a result, Auditors should be familiar with relevant legislation
and determine the implications on their audit documentaticn.
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SECTION 11

DETAILED PLANNING

1. This section is divided into the following subjects and paragraphs:

Subject Paragraphs
1A, Identification of the Audit Process, Key Risks and Controls 2-126
B, Audit Sampling 27-75

HIA. Identification of Audit Process, Key Risks and Controis

2.

The detailed audit plan should include the docurmentation of the nature, timing
and extent of audit procedures to be performed including the documentation of
each of the following audited components:

a.

b.

Procedures necessary to obtain the relevant audit assurance covering all
refevant assertions and requirements (for example reporting non-compliance
with certain laws or regulations retating to budget or procurement)

The extent of testing based on the assessed inherent and control risks.

Systems Description

3.

The responsibility of an Auditor at this stage is to understand the operations of
the organization for each audited component. This is critical to the remainder
of the audit and determines amongst others, the types of audit tests e.g. test
of controls as well as the nature of such procedures. On completion, the
system descriptions should inform anyone reading it as to the risks and
controls, as well as an assessment of those risks and controls. The risks and
controls relate to the point of Gransaction within its Uife cycle. For example,
the risks relating to the procurement of an asset are specific and different to
those surrounding the usage of the same asset.

In addition, the system description is the first step to detailed plannming and
should be completed for all components. It starts with the dontifccation of key
activities in Lo travsac.e e cyckes after this, risks and snanagement
controls that shouid = qis. ot Lhe risks aro docunentad.

Legislation and Internal Foiicies o0 iha Luditee

5.

The first requirement before conipleting the Sysiom desanpuion working paper
would involve the Auditor identifying the legisiative reguirements applicabie to
the relevant component. The common requirements relating Lo any audit




component (such as plant/equipment and motor vehicle) are determined as
follows:

Legislation or policy (e.g. Financial Regulations) relating to the audited
component and

. Internal policy or procedures of the audited entity.

Normally, legislation is a high level instruction whilst the internal policy is
more detailed and would include operational aspects. Legislative requirements
are normally straight forward and easy to obtain. Internal documents of the
entity may take different forms such as policies and procedures.

Transaction life cycle, Risks and Controls

7.

For each documented activity in the transaction life cycle such as payroll,
revenue, purchases etc.., key risks should be identified. Here the question is
asked: What can go wrong? For example, where the activity is identified as
‘Receiving goods’ the risk associated with this may be ‘Loss of goods through
theft’. Completing this aspect is still theoretical and requires an understanding
of possible risks the audited entity may face. Since this working paper is
completed for each component, it is important to keep in mind that key risks
should be identified.

Risks 1dentified in the Inherent risk on financial statements level working paper
that links to the audited component shoutd be included in the system
description of the component. For each identified risk, key controls are
identified. Management controls include controls that are aimed at preventing
the misstatements or errors from happening, or detect them once they already
happened. Preventative controls would include a routine procedure to check
the condition and quantity of goods received on arrival to the information on
the delivery documents. Detective controls would include the independent
checks and monitoring of significant transactions (through for example
exception reports) by management.

As a rule, the preventative controls are the best controls in terms of cost
effectiveness. The cost of detective controls includes corrections that need to
be made after an error has occurred. The key controls will include both
preventative and detective controls that exist in the audited entity. Any
legislative requirements prescribing controls to be in place should be kept in
mind,

Identification of Assertions

10.

Assertion that the relevant control addresses should be identified here.
Assertions are statements that the Auditor normally uses to focus on his/her
audit. Audit components have different risks that are material to the audit.
Consequently, when looking at a specific component, the Auditor should be
able to identify whether one assertion is more important than the other. For
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11.

12.

13.

example, testing the existence of assets is more important than testing
completeness. In turn, completeness of revenue collected is normally more
important than evaluating whether a transaction has occurred for the recorded
revenue. This may vary on each audit considering the specific risks that may be
relevant.

The Auditor uses assertions in assessing risks by considering the different types
of potential misstatements that may occur, and thereby designing audit
procedures that are responsive to the assessed risks.

Assertions about classes of transactions and events for the period under audit;
such could involve:

a. Occurrence - transactions and events that have been recorded have
occurred and pertain to the entity

b. Completeness - all transactions and events that should have been recorded
have been recorded

¢. Accuracy - amounts and other data relating to recorded transactions and
events have been recorded appropriately

d. Cut-off - transactions and events have been recorded in the correct
accounting period

e. Classification - transactions and events have been recorded in the correct
accounts

f. Value for money - transaction or event relating to expenditure represents
the economical acquisition as well efficient and effective use of resources

g. Compliance - Transactions and events have taken place in compliance with
all relevant laws and regutations and the annual budget of the entity.

Assertions about account balances at the end of the period are as follows:

a. Existence - assets, liabilities and equity interests exist

b. Rights and obligations - the entity holds or controls the rights to assets,
and liabilities are the obligations of the entity

c. Completeness - all assets, liabilities and equity interests that should have
been recorded have indeed been recorded

d. Valuation and allocation - assets, liabilities, and equity interests are
included in the financial statements at appropriate amounts and any
resulting valuation or allocation adjustments are appropriately recorded

e. Value for money - transaction or event relating to assets, inventory and
tiabilities represents the economical acquisition as well as efficient and
effective use of resources.
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Decisions made on the System Description

14.

15.

16.

i7.

18.

Is the risk significant? Once the Auditor has identified and documented the risk,
he/she will then go on to assess whether the risk is significant. The criteria for
significance are:

a. Risk of fraud or misappropriation {e.g. if it was found that assets can be lost
due to employee theft and there were problems experienced in the past)

. Motivation to misstate results (large incentives for meeting performance
targets will motivate non-recording of expenditure to stay within budget)

C. Non-routine or unusual transactions with significant human error factor

d. Complex transactions and calculations which are effected manually

e. Significant estimations with a high degree of subjectivity as it would be in
the case of a doubtful debt calculation;

f. Audit adjustments or differences in prior year’s audit relating to a specific
aspect of the relevant component (e.g. asset management).

The decision based on most of the above categories relies on the professional
judgement of the Auditor. However, due to fraud risk, the following areas
should be identified as significant risk areas:

a. QOccurrence of expenditure;

b. Completeness of other revenue collected;

c. Existence of assets. »

in the case the risk falls into any of the above categories, it is identified to be
a significant risk, It will then be required that all controis related to the
significant nsk be assessed and tested.

Have controls been implemented? The assessment whether controls have
been implemented is done by performing a walkthrough(s). A transaction is
selected and traced through the transaction life cycle activities. Supporting
documents are then obtained and inspected as proof that all controls have
been performed and consequently implemented. The purpose of this exercise is

to identify whether the controls documented are actually in place and
functioning,

The walkthrough should include all identified controls. Where the item
selected is not covered by all the controls, another transaction should be
setected. For example, it may be prescribed that an IT asset {laptop) should be
received by the IT section and not through regular processes. In order to walk
through the processes for receiving assets, the Auditor should select an IT asset
in addition lo the regular asset. For the activities where the processes are

similar for all groups of assets, it is sufficient to only use one asset for the
walkthrough.
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19.

20.

d.

When to raise an audit query (exception)? Audit queries should be raised by
the team leader in any of the following instances:

Legislation is not translated into operational procedures (e.g. requirements
are not operational through standard procedures)

Processes are in place but not formalized and documented. Undocumented,
ad-hoc processes - even if followed diligently by employees - do not facilitate
accountability or sustainability

Any non-compliance with the legislation or internal policy of the audited
entity

Lack of implemented management controls for the identified risks.

Once a documentation of the transaction lifecycle with assessment of risks and
controls is made, the Auditor is in a position to evaluate the controls and design
audit tests. It is important that he/she is aware of the standards required to
compiete the documentation.

Audit Procedures in Response to risks of Material Misstatement

1.

22.

An Auditor should design and perform further audit procedures whose nature,
timing and extent are in response to the assessed risks of material
misstatement at the assertion level. Auditors should document the nature,
timing and extent of planned audit procedures using the relevant working
papers). The purpose is to praovide a clear linkage between the nature, timing
and extent of these audit procedures and the related risk assessment. In
designing further audit procedures, the auditor should consider the following:

. The significance of the risk
. The likelihood that a material misstatement will occur
. The characteristics of the ciass of transactions, account balance, or disclosure

involved

. The nature of the specific controls used by the entity and in particular whether

they are manual or automated

. Whether the Auditor expects to obtain audit evidence to determine if the

entity's controls are effective in preventing, or detecting and correcting,
material misstatements. The nature of the audit procedures is of utmost
importance in responding to the assessed risks.

Auditors’ assessment of the identified risks at the level of assertion provides a
basis for considering the appropriate audit approach and for designing and
performing further audit procedures. The higher his assessment of risk, the
more convincing audit evidence(s) needs to be obtained.
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Audit of Inventory

23.

24.

25.

26.

When inventory is a material balance in the financial statements, Auditors

should attend a physical counting; unless it becomes impracticable then the

following should be applied:

a. Evaluate management’s instructions and procedures for recording and
controlling the results of the entity’s physical inventory counting

b. Observe the performance of management’s count procedures;

c. Inspect the inventory and perform test counts

d. Performing audit procedures over the entity’s final inventory records to
determine whether they accurately reflect actual inventory count results.

Additional procedures should be performed when the physical counting is
conducted at a date other than the date of the financial statements to obtain
audit evidence about whether changes in inventory between the count date
and the date of the financial statements are properly recorded.

Where the Auditor is unable to attend physical counting, he/she should make
or observe some physical counts on an alternative date and perform audit
procedures on intervening transactions or perform alternative audit procedures
regarding the existence and condition of the inventory. if it is not possible to
do so, the Auditor shall modify the opinion in his/her report. The Auditor’s
response may be influenced by the fact whether the limitation was imposed by
management rather than by for example legislation or regulation.

When inventory under the custody and control of a third party is material to
the financial statements, the Auditor shall obtain audit evidence regarding the
existence and condition of that inventory by performing one or both of the
following:

. Request confirmation from the third party as to the quantities and condition

of inventory held on behalf of the entity

. Perform inspection or other audit procedures appropriate in the

circumstances.

IB. Audit Sampling

27.

28.

An Auditor should identify the items or transactions on which to perform audit
procedures, appropriate for the purpose. This should be done in order to gather
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to meet the objectives of the audit
procedures including when the objective is to evaluate the compliance with
laws and regulations. The objective is to provide a reasonable basis for the
Auditor to draw conclusions about the population from which the sample is
selected.

The means available to the Auditor for selecting items for testing are:
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29.

da.

1.
1.

iil.

b.

C.

Selecting all items (100% examination). This may be appropriate when, for
example:

The population constitutes a smalt number of large value items

There is a significant risk and other means do not provide sufficient
appropriate audit evidence or

The repetitive nature of a calculation or other process performed
automatically by an information system makes a 100% examination cost
effective.

Selecting specific items such as high value or abnormal items and

Audit sampling.

Auditors will hardly be able to test 100% of the items identified for testing.
“audit sampling” (sampling) involves the application of audit procedures to less
than 100% of items within a population of audit relevance in such a way that all
sampling units have an equal chance to be selected. It is in effect a process at
the end of which items to be tested are identified. This will enable the Auditor
to obtain and evaluate audit evidence about some characteristic of the items
selected in order to form or assist in forming a conclusion concerning the
population from which the sample is drawn. sampling can use either a
statistical or a non-statistical approach with the main aim of reducing the audit
risk to an acceptably low level.

Statistical Versus non - statistical Sampling Approaches

30.

31.

The decision whether to use a statistical or non-statistical sampling approach 1s
a matter for judgment of the Auditor regarding the most efficient manner to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in the particular circumstances.

wWhen applying statistical sampling, the sampte size can be determined using
either probability theory or professional judgment. The methodolegy
prescribed in this manual utilizes the principles of non-statistical sampling,

Sampling Process

32.

The sampling process includes 6 steps which are discussed in detail below:

Step 1: tdentifying the population to be tested

o v

Step 2: Identification of high value and abnormal items
Step 3: Determining the sample size
Step 4: Selecting items for testing

Step 3: Performing the audit procedures

- @& a n

Step 6: Evaluation of sample results
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Step 1. ldentifying the Population to be Tested

33.

34.

35.

36.

The population to be tested should be transactions underlying an account
balance. It is the entire set of data on which the Auditor must cbtain assurance
for the audit opinion. If the audit procedure is not applicable to the selected
item, he/she should perform the procedure con a replacement item. For
example, when testing the payroll costs, individual payments would constitute
the population. It is vital that an appropriate and complete population is
identified for each procedure. Another example is when auditing service
bonuses; the Auditor should exclude the employees without service bonuses
from the sample. The population would then only constitute employees with
service bonuses.

Transactions constituting the population should cover the entire financial year.
if sampling is done for an interim audit that includes only part of the financial
year additional sampling will have to be done during the final audit.

Sometimes it is found that the Auditor may sample from the same population to
perform different kinds of audit tests. In other words, he/she may decide not
to draw separate audit samples for each test but use the same samples already
drawn from the relevant population to perform all applicable audit tests. For
instance, a sample of payments drawn to test controls may be used to test
compliance with authorities, as well as other substantive tests. This may be
done as long as the sample sizes remain appropriate in relation to the risk and
materiality.

Auditors may need to sample non-financial information as a resuit of additional
public sector audit objectives. For example, if the financial statements of a
government hospital use number of patients treated to calculate key
performance measures (such as cost per patient), the Auditor may obtain
sample to test the accuracy and completeness of the number of patients
reported. To draw a sample for such non-financial information, the Auditor
should use the judgmental sampling approach detailed below.

Step 2. Identification of High Value and Abnormal Items

37.

38.

39.

Stratification: It is the process of dividing a population into lower units with
similar characteristics, specifically for substantive testing. During such process,
for example, the high value transactions will be separated from the population
and included in the sample to be tested. When auditing valuation of accounts
receivable, it can be stratified by aging whereby long outstanding debtors are
separated from the population and tested.

Concerning sampling for tests of control, items are selected regardless of their
value, with a view to testing the effective functioning of the controls.
Stratification may not be used in such cases.

When performing substantive tests, the Auditor uses sampling to test the
amounts in the financial statements. For this purpose, the sample frequently
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consists of items of a higher value. Stratification is a useful aid in that it allows
testing of a high proportion in value of the population with relatively few
items.

40.  Sampling units are the individual items comprising the population. They may be
defined as a document, an entry, a line item, a balance or a transaction. The
decision will be based on the practicality of selecting the sampling units.

41. Detailed tests are to be performed for either overstatement or understatement.
The nature of the account being tested generally determines whether one would
test for overstatement or understatement. This is also commonly known as the
direction of testing. Assertions that normally require the balance to be tested
for overstatement include occurrence, accuracy, and compliance with laws,
rules and regulations as well as valuations. Assertions that normally require
testing for understatement include completeness, cut off, value-for-money and
disclosure.

42. When testing for overstatement, selections should be made directly from the
population being audited. This is because the poputation will already include the
‘overstated amounts, for instance expenses in the ledger.

43, In the case of understatement tests, items are selected for examination from
an independent population. For instance, when testing revenue for
understatement or transactions that were not recorded, receipts issued and
invoices appcaring on relevant statement (e.g. debtor’s statement) will be
selected.

Step 3: Determining the Sample Size

44.  The Auditor should select items for the sample with the expectation that all
sampling units in the population have a chance of selection. The sample size
can be determined by the application of a statistically-based formula or
through the exercise of professional judgment objectively applied to the
circumstances. This manual will only deal with judsmental sampling. The
following is relevant:

Type of control Moderate control | High control retiance
QL reliance.

Detailed controls: Controls performed | 30 selections 50 selections
randomly - mostly more than once a day
e.g. authorization of payment vouchers

Daily controls: Performed daily e.g.| 10 selections 20 selections
banking, counting cash etc..

Monthly controls: Contrels performed | Z selections 15 selections
monthly, e.g. bank reconciliations '
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Tests of Controls

45. For tests of controls, the following table can be used to determine the appropriate

sample size: Factors affecting the number of selections for testing controls are as
below:

46. Factors affecting the number of selections for testing controls are as below:

a. The lower the level of reliance placed on the controls tested, the lower the
number of selections required

b. Where a risk factor has been identified for a specific transaction type, the
number of selections will increase

47.  Control testing will only be performed when the Auditor is confident that
controls for the audit component are adequate. It is clear that the lower the
tevel of reliance placed on the controls tested, the lower the number of
selections required for control testing. Low reliance on controls will require
more assurance to be obtained through substantive procedures.

1

48.  Substantive Procedures: When an Auditor 1s required to obtain substantive
assurance on the account balance, there is a process to be followed. Firstly,
he/she should look at the characteristics of the population and decide whether
to use judgmental or systematic sampling to determine the sample size.

Judgmental Sampling
49.  Judgmental sampling would be applied when:

-
a. Account balance tested has relatively few transactions (up to 150-200
transactions); for example, when sampling from 70 asset acquisition
transactions for the year.

b. No financial amount can be clearly identified, for example, when testing
cut-off for expenditure, appointments, resignations, etc..

50.  The number of transactions to be tested is given, depending on whether the
transactions in the population are largely routine, (e.g. daily or monthly

generated). The following sample sizes are applicable when judgmental
sampling is applied:

Indication of the number of transactions to be
tested
No reliance on Moderate High reliance on
controls reliance on controls
controls
Routine transactions 50 40 30
Daily transactions 20 15 10
' ]
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Monthly 5 3 2
reconciliations

Systematic Sampling

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

Systematic sampling is normally applicable for large numbers of transactions in
the population with similar characteristics. In this case, it is most practical for
the Auditor to obtain the list of transactions in electronic format - spreadsheet,
which will make sample selection {and also stratification) easier. This sampling
method would be applied to expenditure and revenue transactions.

When systematic sampling is chosen, the process defined here should be
documented in the Sampling worksheet. It is as follows:

a. Identify and document total account balances (this includes the completeness
and integrity of the population)

b. Stratify the population by identifying material and unusual items (such as
credit balances in debtor accounts)

c. Remove the identified material and unusual items (the Auditor should
consider materiality as a guide

d. Calcutate and document the remainder of the account balance.

For the remainder of the account balance, the following actions can be applied:

a. No further tests to be performed (enough assurance is already obtained as
per the percentage coverage or number of transactions identified)

b. Applying analytical procedures such as comparison of year on vyear
expenditure, month on month, or budgeted to actual expenditure

c. Calculate the sample size to be tested (see further guidance below) and

d. Test more significant items (further stratification of the next layer of high
value transactions).

The calculation of the sample sizes requires information on the inherent and
control risk assessment at account balance and transaction levels.

When the calculated sample size is less than 10 transactions for an account
balance, it is advised that a minimum of 10 transactions are selected for
testing. This is not applicable when the population is less than 10.

Whenever information is being presented on sample sizes, a summary should be
provided on the account balance and if possible to include the total value of
the population and the number of items. The sample selected should then (if
appropriate) relate back to the population total. The working paper provided
assists the Auditor in presenting the information.
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The sample selection and size will be dependent on the type of account

examples on identifying the population and

considerations to determine the sample sizes for typical account balances.

Pointers on assurance obtained

57.
balance. The table below provides
Account Population
balances
(Lead
_schedule)
Voted Funds / | Amounts received from
Revenue Government.
received from
Government
Interest Interest received
received amounrts for the year.

Total amounts received and recorded can be agreed
with amounts voted/appropriated.

Amounts received to be agreed with bank statements
Substantive analytical procedure: Reascnability check
through recalculating  interest an outstanding
balances.

Other income

Supporting documents
including
contracts/agreements

and analytical
not complete)

Substantive analytical procedures,
reviews may provide good (but
assurance,

 Fixed assets

o Recorded monthly
salary (Accuracy,
measurement).

o Line item on fixed
asset / inventory
register

(Existence); and |

or receipts to test | Substantive analytical procedures may include the
completeness; recalculation of income which should have been
received and comparing with what was recorded and
| banked.
Expenditure Two sample units: Contracts/agreements if significant,
other than Recorded Recorded transactions are compared to valid
personne( transactions in the supporting  documentation {occurrence).  Usually
costs ledger systematic sampling if followed to sample from items
{occurrence), recorded in the ledger.
Personnel o Employees Most of the required assurance can be obtained
costs {occurrence); and through analytical procedures. E.g. number of staff

multiplied by the salary band midpoint per month

should be compared with amount in financial

statements (refer to the evaluation of analytical

procedures).

Analytical procedures should be supported by

independent testing for existence of staff.

Systematic sampling may be applied to the payments

In the general ledger.

Certain elements of personnel expenditure may

require additional assurance due to their specific risk.,

Judgmental sampling may be applied {when

applicable) for the audit of the following:

o Overtime - Occurrence, accuracy;

o Service Bonuses Occurrence, accuracy, existence;

o Leave - Qccurrence, accuracy;

o Allowances - Geccurrence, accuracy; and

0 Appointments/TerminationslPromotions
Occurrence. existence, accuracy.

Systematic sampling for line items in asset register. |

Focus should be on additions and disposals

(udgmental sampling may be applicable} during the |
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Account Population Pointers on assurance obtained
balances
(Lead
schedule)

o Physical assets | year especially if no reporting items on assets were
(Completeness). raised in the previous year’s audit.

'In the absence of a | Physical inspection of assets back to the register is
register, what are the | still essential.

primary risks? These
could be safeguarding | Re-performance of depreciation calculation to achieve
and inappropriate | assurance.

utilisation of assets.
Sample unit of specific
risky items such as
laptops  should  be
identified from
invoices and checked
| for key risks.

Step 4: Selecting Items for Testing

58. The next step is to identify the items of the population to be tested. Because the
purpose of sampting is to draw conctusions about the entire population, the
Auditor should endeavor to select a representative sample by choosing sample
items which have characteristics typical of the population and the sample needs
to be the selected samples to avoid bias. The following four methods may be
used:

59.  Random Number Sampling: Random numbers may be generated by a computer
(CAATs) or may be drawn from a random number table. The use of random
numbers gives every sampling unit in the population the same probability of
being selected.

60. Interval sampling: Interval sampling is to select sampling units randomly at
unifoerm intervals throughout the population. The sizes of the population and
the sample determine the uniform interval. The number of items in the
popuiation is divided by the required sample size to determine the interval. For
example, a population of 10, 000 items divided by a required sample of 100
items would give a sampling interval of 100. Systematic sampling also gives
every sampling unit the same probability of being selected.

61. Haphazard (judgmental) sampling: In haphazard sampling, the Auditor selects
sampling units with no particular reason for including or excluding others.
Auditors are however advised not to distort the sample by selecting only
unusual items; items having one physical characteristic or omitting items such
as the first or the last. Normally some form of Judgmentatl sampling is applied
when relatively large error rates are anticipated, or when the total population
is not known.
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62.

a.

b.

Block sampling: A block sample consists of a group of contiguous sampling
units. Auditors should question critically and evaluate carefully the use of block
sampling. There are two potential weaknesses in block sampling:

The improbability of each sampling unit having equal opportunity for selection

Attaining reasonable assurance that the sample is representative of the
population

Step 5: Performing the Audit Procedures

63.

64.

Where a selected item is not appropriate for the application of the audit
procedure, the audit procedure should be performed on a replacement item.

Sometimes however, Auditors may be unable to apply the designed audit
procedures to a selected item because, for instance, documentation relating to
that item has been lost. If suitable alternative audit procedures cannot be
performed on that item, the Auditor ordinarily considers that item to be either
a deviation from the prescribed control, in the case of tests of controls, or a
misstatement, in the case of substantive tests.

Step 6: Evaluation of Sample Results

65.

66.

67

68.

Auditors should evaluate the sample results, the nature and cause of any
deviations or misstatements identified, and their possible effect on the
particular audit objective and other areas of the audit. At the end, he/she
should evaluate whether the use of audit sampling has provided a reasonable
basis for conclusions about the population that has been tested.

When analyzing the deviations and misstatements identified, Auditors should
look out for common features, for example, errors on one type of transaction,
location, product line or period of time. In such circumstances, they may
decide to identify all items in the population that possess the common feature,
and extend audit procedures to those items. In addition, such deviations or
misstatements may be intentional, and may indicate the possibility of fraud
when auditing significant fraud risk areas such as completeness of revenue,
occurrence of expenditure and existence of assets.

Auditors should also consider instances where for example, management
cannot provide adequate explanations for deviations and misstatements. In
some environments such as a Court of accounts, auditors may be obliged to
investigate further the underlying reasons for the lack of information and
determine who is responsible. Additional responsibilities may also include
reporting on the effectiveness of internal controls and non-compliance with
authorities. '

in the case of tests of controls, an unexpectedly high sample error rate may
lead to an increase in the assessed risk of material misstatement, unless
further audit evidence substantiating the initial assessment is obtained.
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69.

In extreme circumstances when the Auditor considers a misstatement or
deviation discovered in a sample to be an anomaly, he/she should obtain a high
degree of certainty that such misstatement or deviation is not representative
of the population. The Auditor should also obtain this degree of certainty by
performing additional audit procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence that the misstatement or deviation does not affect the remainder of
the population.

Projecting Misstatements

70.

71.

72.

73.

In the case of substantive testing, unexpectedly high rate of misstatements in a
sample may cause the Auditor to believe that an account balance may be
materially misstated. This is the case for example when the total accumulated
errors and misstatements on the account balance projected to the totai
account balance exceed the tolerable misstatement.

Total account balance audited (A)

Total value of transactions tested (B)

Total value of actual errors and misstatements (C)
Projected errors / misstatements for the
population D=(C/BxA)

Tolerable errors / misstatements (E)
Projected - tolerable errors / misstatements (F)

Minimum recommended additional sample items to
be selected (G):

The steps which should be followed by the Auditor are explained in the working
paper.

Step 6.1: The final control reliance should be set at 'No reliance’. Controt
reliance should be re-stated where any (medium or high) reliance has been
previously stated. Recalculate sample sizes where applicable and document the
results of the additional audit tests. If F above is now stated positive, you can
stop here. If F is still stated as a negative amount, proceed to step 2.

Step 6.2: Extend sample sizes further to identify actual misstatements and
errors in the population. Letter G above indicates the minimum number
recommended additional sample items for further tests. Note that this number
is merely a guideline for the minimum recommended number of items to be
tested based on the projected rate of misstatements regarding the items
intially tested. It is important that decisions should be made by considering
the specific circumstances of the audit. Where extending sample sizes is not
practical or preferred for whatever reason, the impact of the projected
misstatement exceeding the tolerable misstatement should be considered in
the light of the audit report.
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74.

75.

Step 6.3: Confirm whether after testing the additional sample items the
projected misstatement is now below the tolerable misstatement (F>0). If this
is not the case it means that there was a higher rate of errors / misstatements
identified for the additional items than initially projected. The initial
projection was based on the assumption that errors and misstatements should
occur at the same rate for the entire populatien. However, additional tests

may yield higher errors in which case there may be a need to do further tests.
This may be due to the fact that the original sample items included significant
ftems which were found to be misstated. Where the projected error /
misstatement figure still significantly exceeds the tolerable error 7/
misstatement there may be a need to select transactions in addition to those
stated in G above. Some minor (less than 5%) variations however, may be
accepted by our auditors.

In certain cases, this may mean that Auditors choose to audit all the
transactions for an account balance.
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PART B

EXECUTION OF AN AUDIT ENGAGEMENT
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SECTION 1V

EXECUTING AN AUDIT

1. Part B of the Financial Audit Manual contains Sections IV, V and VI which entails
the audit procedures for executing an audit.

2. As a general guide, the flow pertaining to the execution of an audit is shown
below:

Flow Diagram for Executing an Audit

Activity Purpose Documentation

- Audit Perform Audit Procedures | Evidence Tracking Shect

Fieldwork Identified panagement Representation
Letter; Audit Query

Concluding & T Evaluate audi‘trevidence; Review WorT(sheet;
Reporting communicate to the auditee; Audit Summary
Memorandum Compile audit opinion Management Letter
—y . b4

Documentation/
Quality Contro!

Quality control and evidencing ‘ Quality Control
throughout the audit Questionnaire

3. This section contains the following subjects:

Subject Paragraphs
VA Obtaining Audit Evidence 4 - 66
IVB  Management Representation 67 - 71

IVA. Obtaining Audit Evidence

4, The purpose of this sub-section is to establish the standards and to provide
direction on what constitutes audit evidence in an audit of financial
statements. It also contains notes on the quantity and quality of audit evidence
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to be obtained, and the audit procedures that should be applied to obtain audit
evidence.

9. An Auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence in order to draw
reasonable conclusions on which to base his/her audit opinion.

Concept of Audit Evidence

6. “Audit evidence™ is all the information used by the Auditor in arriving at the
conctusions on which the audit opinion is based. It includes the information
contained in the accounting records underlying the financial statements and
also other information. Audit evidence is usually external; it could be
documentation obtained from the auditee or other parties independent of the
auditee. Evidence is information which may corroborate assertions or
contradict them.

7. Audit evidence for the current audit may also include audit evidence obtained
from other sources such as previous audits or performance audits.

Sufficient, Appropriate Audit Evidence

8. Audit evidence is necessary to support an audit opinion or report. Most of the
work carried out by the Auditor consists of obtaining and evaluating audit
evidence. Reasonable assurance is obtained when he/she designs and performs
appropriate audit procedures for the purpose of obtaining sufficient
appropriate audit evidence.

9. Sufficiency is the measure of the quantity of audit evidence or how much audit
evidence is needed to provide an opinion. The extent of audit evidence needed
is affected by the risk of misstatement {the greater the risk, the more audit
evidence is likely to be required) and also by the quality of such audit evidence
(the higher the guality, the less may be required}.

10.  Appropriateness is the measure of the quality of audit evidence or evidence
which is relevant and reliable to form an audit opinion on the financial
statements. This is particularly important when the Auditor uses evidence from
prior year's audit or a performance audit. Accordingly, the sufficiency and
appropriateness of audit evidence are interrelated. However, merely obtaining
more audit evidence may not compensate for its poor quaiity. The following
are applicable to the different types of evidence:

a. Audit evidence from independent sources outside the entity is more reliable
than that generated internally; this refers to evidence such as bank
confirmations, etc..

¢. Audit evidence gathered internally is more reliable when the related controls
are effective; for example, information included in the plant register is more
reliable when it was found that controls are functioning effectively for assets
management

56




1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

C. Audit evidence obtained directly by the Auditor (e.g. observation of the
application of controls) is more reliable than that obtained indirectly {e.g. by
enquiry regarding the application of controls)

d. Audit evidence in the form of documents and written representations is more
reliable than oral representations; for example, evidence such as invoices for
payments are more reliable as opposed to statements made by personnel of the
audited entity during meetings or discussions. Oral evidence needs to be
supported by other documented evidence. For instance, when during a
discussion, lack of a monitoring mechanism is discovered, this should be a
minute and get confirmed e.g. through a third party validation

€. Audit evidence provided by original documents is more reliable than audit
-evidence provided by photocopies.

When the information is produced by the auditee, the Auditor should evaluate
whether the information is sufficiently reliable including;

Obtaining audit evidence about the accuracy and completeness of the
information

Evaluating whether the information is sufficiently precise and detailed

In designing and performing audit procedures, consideration should be given to:

- The relevance and reliability of the information to be used as audit evidence.

Reliability of evidence may influence the type of audit procedures performed.
Also, the passage of time may adversely affect the ability of performing
certain procedures or the reliance of the effectiveness of controls

- The means of selecting items for testing that are effective in meeting the

purpose of the audit procedure

In the case an Auditor finds out that audit evidence obtained from one source
is inconsistent with that obtained from another; or the reliability of
information is doubtful, he/she shall determine what modifications or
additions to audit procedures are necessary to resolve the matter. The effect
of this matter, if any, on other aspects of the audit should also be considered.

Auditors should consider the relationship between the cost of obtaining audit
evidence and the usefulness of the information obtained. However, the matter
of difficulty or expense involved should not in itself be a valid basis for
omitting an audit procedure for which there is no alternative.

The judgment of an Auditor as to what constitutes sufficient appropriate audit
evidence is influenced by such factors as the following:

a. Significance of the risk - the likelihood of a potential misstatement
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16.

17.

18.

b. Effectiveness of management’s responses and controls to address the risks
c. Experience gained during previous audits with respect to similar potential

misstatements

d. Results of audit procedures performed, including whether such audit
procedures identified specific instances of fraud or error

e. Source and reliability of the available information
Persuasiveness of the audit evidence and

g. Understanding of the entity and its environment, including its standard of
internal control.

Sufficient, appropriate evidence to meet any audit objectives which are
broader than expressing an opinion on the financial statements shoutd also be
obtained and evaluated. For instance, where the audited entity is responsible
for giving grants or other financial assistance to other parties, it is often
required that the auditee should evaluate whether other parties satisfying the
criteria and meeting the terms for receiving grant. Evidence might then be
required on the entity's exercise of its responsibilities to satisfy itself about the
transactions of other parties.

Where the Auditor has not obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to a
material financial statements assertion, he/she will attempt to obtain further
audit evidence. If he/she is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence, he should express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion.

Auditors should take into account, data retention requirements for pubtic
sector entities when obtaining evidence as stipulated by relevant legislation.

Tests of Controls

19.

Tests of controls are audit procedures designed to evaluate the operating
effectiveness of controls in preventing, or detecting and correcting material
misstatements at the assertion level, The Auditor should perform tests of
controls to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the controls are
operating effectively at relevant times during the period under audit. Tests of
controls are performed when:

There is an expectation of the operating effectiveness of controls or when
substantive procedures alone do not provide sufficient appropriate audit
evidence at the assertion level. This would be the case when significant risks
have been identified for the assertion

. When the Auditor expects that controls are operating effectively, he/she

should perform tests of controls. This means that the controls are suitably
designed for a specific assertion and have been confirmed to be operationat by
serforming a watkthrough.

The Auditor shoutd perform more tests of controls in order to be able to place
areater retiance on the effectiveness of a control,




21, In designing and performing tests of controls, the Auditor should keep in mind
that inquiry alone is not sufficient to obtain audit evidence about the operating
effectiveness of the controls. Therefore, he needs to identify:

a. How the controls were applied at relevant times during the period under
audit

b. The consistency with which they were applied

c. By whom or by what means they were applied.

22. Auditors are to bear in mind that the tested controls may depend upon other
controls (indirect controls) and, if so, whether it is necessary t0 obtain audit
evidence supporting the effective operation of those indirect controls.

23. Tests of controls should be performed to evaluate the operating effectiveness of
controls throughout the period under audit. if controls are tested during an
interim period, the Auditor will also obtain evidence regarding the functioning of
the controls after the interim pericd.

24. When an Auditor decides to use audit evidence for tests of controls from previous
year’s audit, he/she should establish that no significant changes happened to
those controls subsequent to the previous audit. This is done through a walk-
through.

25. Even if evidence is used from prior year’s work, the Auditor should still
document the conclusions reached about relying on such controls that were
tested in a previous audit. In the case there have not been such changes to the
controls, he/she will still test the controls at least once in every third audit.
Tests of controls this way should be spread over a 3-year period so that some
controls are tested during each audit. The Auditor need to test controls for
significant risks, for example, over sensitive payments, or of controls designed to
prevent or detect fraud within the entity. Tests of controls over significant risks
should be performed during each audit. In terms of fraud, significant risk areas
include occurrence of expenditure, completeness of income and existence of
assets.

26. When using audit evidence about the operating effectiveness of controls
obtained in a previous audit, an Auditor may wuse evidence obtained in
performance audits or other audit activities relevant to the entity. While relying
on evidence obtained in previous performance audits, Auditors should evaluate
whether the asserticns used and tests performed are adequate for the purpose of
the financial statements audit. When the auditee is part of a larger government
control environment, controls may exist outside the entity. The Auditor needs to
determine how to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about those
controls.

Substantive Procedures

27.  Substantive procedures are performed in order to detect material
misstatements at the assertion level. Substantive procedures COMpPrise:
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28.

29,

30.

31.

32.

a. Testing the details of classes of transactions, account balances, and
disclosures and

b. Substantive analytical procedures.

The Auditor should plan and perform substantive procedures to be responsive
to the related assessment of the risk of material misstatement. Not minding
the assessed risk of material misstatement, or whether controls have been
tested or not, the Auditor should perform substantive procedures for each
material class of transactions, account balance and disclosure, This
requirement reflects the fact that the Auditor’s assessment of risk is
judgmental and may not be sufficiently precise to identify: all risks of material
misstatement. Furthermore, there are inherent limitations to internal control
including management overriding objectives.

Auditors should consider whether external confirmation procedures are to be
performed as substantive audit procedures. This would typicatly be done to
confirm bank balances, loans, debtors and creditors. Since external
confirmations are very reliable sources of evidence, Auditors should consider
obtaining confirmation(s) as much as possible.

The substantive procedures performed by an Auditor will include the following
procedures related to the financial statements closing process:

a. Agreeing the financial statements to the underlying accounting records

b. Examining material journal entries and other adjustments made during the
caurse of preparing the financial statements.

For significant risks, Auditors should design and perform substantive procedures
that are specifically responsive to that risk,

When substantive procedures are performed at an interim date, the Auditor
shoutd perform further substantive procedures. This may he combined with
tests of controls to cover the remaining period that provide a reasonable basis
for extending the audit conclusions from the interim date to the end of the
period.

Re-assessing Preliminary Control Reliance

33.

34.

Tests of controls or substantive procedures {during interim or final audits) may
indicate that the preliminary control reliance is not appropriate. This is the
case when a lot of unexpected errors and misstatements are discovered, or
when the controls tested are not appropriate as originally expected. This is
important as it influences the extent of substantive testing.

Alsc, when testing controls, more than 2 deviations would indicate that a

control is not functioning as intended. This may however differ depending on
circumstances,
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Audit Procedures for Obtaining Audit Evidence

The Auditor should obtain audit evidence to draw reasonable conclusions on

35.
which to base his/her audit opinion.
36.  An Auditor should perform risk assessment procedures to provide a satisfactory

basis for the assessment of risks at the financial statements and assertion
levels. Risk assessment procedures by themselves do not provide sufficient
appropriate audit evidence on which to base the audit optnion, but are
supplemented by further audit procedures in the form of tests of controls,

when necessary, and substantive procedures, refer to the table below:

financial, throughout the
centity  or  outside the
entity.,

mformation . of
knowledgeable  persons,
both financial and non-

| Audit procedure | Detail _Considerations ]

Inspection of | Inspection  consists  of nspection of records and documents

records and | examining  records  or provides audit evidence of varying degrees

documents documents, whether | of reliability, depending on their nature
internal or external, in | and source and, in the case of internal

paper, electronic form, or | records  and documents, on the

other media. effectiveness of the controls over their

production. An example of inspection used

as a test of controls is inspection of

records or documents for evidence of

. _ authorization, ]

Inspection of | Inspection of  tangible | Inspection of tangible assets may provide

tangible assets assets consists of the | reliable audit evidence with respect to
physical cxamination of | their existence, but not necessarily about
assets, the entity's rights and obligations

| Inspection of individual inventory items
ordinarily accompanies the obscrvation of
| inventory counting.

Observation - Observation consists  of . Obscrvation provides audit evidence about
looking at a process or | the performance of a process or
procedure - being | procedure, but is limited to the point in

| performed by others. time at which the observation takes place
' pand by the fact that the act of being
obscrved may affect how the process or
——— ] procedure is performed. _
nquiry Inquiry consists of secking | Inquiries may range from formal written

inquiries to informal oral inquiries. Verbal

statements  are usually reconfirmed in
writing through management
representations,

Inquiries  should be performed in

conjunction with other audit procedures.
Alone it does not provide sufficient audit

| evidence to detect misstatement._

"Confirmation

- Confirmation, which is a

-information

specific type of inquiry, is
the process of obtaining a
representation of
aor of an
existing condition directly |
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to be obtained for each audit.
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Audit procedure

Detail

Considerations

from a third party.

Recalculation

Recalculation consists of
checking the
mathematical accuracy of
documents or records.

Recalculation is a reliable method to
obtain evidence relating to the accuracy or
measurement assertion.

Recatculation can be performed manually,
or through the wuse of information
technology. For example, an electronic
file can be obtained from the entity and
by using CAATs the accuracy of the
summarization of the file can be checked.

Re-performance

Re-performance is the
auditor’s independent
execution of procedures
or controls that were

| originally performed as

part of the entity’s
internal  control, either
manually or through the
use of CAATs.

Evidence from re-performance procedures
provides reliable audit evidence. In many
cases it can be a time consuming exercise
in which instance costs should be weighed
against benefits derived. Cost effective
checks may be performed through the use
of CAATs.

among both financial and
non-financial data and the
investigation of identified
fluctuations and
relationships  that are
inconsistent  with other
relevant information or
deviate significantly from
predicted amounts.

Analytical Analytical procedures | The use of analytical procedures is
procedures consist of evaluations of | discussed in detail below.

financial information

made by a study of

plausible relationships

Analytical Procedures

37.  Analytical procedures are one of many financial audit processes which help an
auditor understand the client's business and changes in the business, and to
identify potential risk areas to plan other audit procedures. Analytical
procedures are used to evaluate financial information through analysis of
plausible relationships among both financial and non-financial data. Analytical
procedures also inctude any invesiigation relating to identified fiuctuations or
relationships that are incorsistent with other relevant information or that
differ from expected values by a significant amount.

38.  Auditors will apply analytical procedures as follows:

a. As risk assessment procedures to obtain an understanding of the entity
b. As a form of substantive testing
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39.

40.

41.

€. To assist the Auditor and obtain results when forming an overall conclusion
on the financial statements. This is mainly to determine whether the
financial statements are consistent with the Auditor’s understanding of the
entity

Analytical procedures however do not normally provide evidence about certain
additional objectives, such as compliance with authorities. Such should be
considered together with other audit tests and with the results of other audits
such as performance audits.

Even though there are limitations, analytical procedures can still provide
valuable and cost effective audit assurance. Examples of these are:

a. Comparison between budgeted and actual figures will give evidence about
overspending or under-performance of an entity

b. Month on month comparison for example on salaries and wages figures.
¢. Comparison between prior year and current year expenditure figures.

d. Comparing expected results to actual results - for example comparing
actual revenue collected in schools with the expected amount (number of
students multiplied by the annual fees per student). In such cases the
Auditor would obtain the benefits of the evidence where the actual
amount is near to the expected amount. Large variances between actual
and expected amounts would indicate that further audit procedures need
to be performed.

e. Comparison of information between similar entities, programs or projects.

The following steps should be followed when performing a substantive
analytical procedure:

Determine the suitability of the particular substantive analytical procedure.
Substantive analytical procedures are generally more applicable to large
volumes of transactions that tend to be predictable over time

ldentify the information requirements and determine whether the information
is reliable; reliability should be considered by looking at the source,
comparability, nature, relevance and the controls over the preparation, review
and maintenance of information. In some Instances, an Auditor may need to
understand the design and test controls over non-financial information used in
analytical procedures

Develop an expectation (if applicable).
Identify a threshold or a tolerable limit.

Perfarm the comparison.

[dentify variances where they exceed the pre-determined threshold ie o 108
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or arc inconsistent with the expectation




g. Obtain explanations for material differences from the management of the
audited entity through enquiries. If management cannot offer explanations the
Auditor may need to investigate further the underlying reasons for the lack of
information and determine who is responsible

h. Performing additional audit procedures as necessary in the circumstances.

External Confirmations

42. The Auditor should determine whether the use of external cenfirmations such
as bank statements is necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
at the assertion level. In doing this, he/she should consider the assessed risk of
material misstatement at the assertion level and how the audit evidence from
other planned audit procedures will reduce the risk of material misstatement
at the assertion level to an acceptably low level.

43.  External confirmation may also be used to fulfill an audit mandate or arising
from legislation, regulation, ministenal directives, government policy
requirements, or resolutions of the legislature. For example, external
confirmations can be used to obtain evidence about:

a. The presence or absence in agreements or arrangements with third parties
of legislated or other terms and conditions such as guarantecs of
performance or funding

b. The commitment of expenditures that have not yet been authorized by the
legistature

c. The continued eligibitity of individuals in receipt of pensions, income
assistance, annuities or other ongoing payments

d. The presence of “side deals” with suppliers for the return of goods for
credit in order to use funding that would have otherwise lapsed in a
subsequent fiscal peried.

44. 1t is generally recognized that audit evidence in the form of external
confirmations received directly by the Auditor from confirming parties may be
more retiable or persuasive than evidence generated internally by the entity.
However, an Auditor should keep in mind the objectivity and independence of
the third party especially within government and in the light of the relationship

: hetween the audited entity and the third party.

External Confirmation Procedures

4%  The Auditor should design and perform confirmation procedures to obtain
relevant and reliable audit evidence. The most common confirmations that are
sent out by Auditors are bank and debtors confirmations as well as period
balances

46. The Auditor should maintain control over external confirmation requests,
ncluding:
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Determining what information needs to be confirmed.
b. Selecting the confirming party.

c. Designing the confirmation requests, addressing the requests and including
the address of the Auditor for return information.

d. Sending the requests, including follow-up requests when applicable, to the
confirming party.

Management’s Refusal to Send a Confirmation Request

47. In the case management refuses to allow the Auditor to send a confirmation
request, the Auditor concerned should:

a. Inquire as to management’s reasons for the refusal, and seek audit
evidence as to their validity and reasonableness of the reasons.

b. Evaluate the implications of the refusal on the Auditor’s assessment of the
relevant risks of material misstatement and on the nature, timing and
extent of other audit procedures.

c. Perform alternative audit procedures designed to obtain relevant and
reliable audit evidence.

48.  In the case the Auditor concludes that management’s refusal to allow him/her
to send a confirmation request is unreasonable, or he/she is unable to obtain
relevant and reliable audit evidence from alternative audit procedures, the
Auditor should communicate with those charged with governance and any other
relevant party {such as legisiature or oversight body) and determine the
implications for the audit and the audit opinion.

Results of the External Confirmation Procedures

49. In the case the reliability of the response to a confirmation request 15 doubtful,
the Auditor should abtain further audit evidence to resolve those doubts. When
unreliable response is the case, the Auditor should evaluate the implications on
the assessment risks, including the risk of fraud, and on the related nature,

timing and cxtent of other audit procedures.

50. Where there is no response to a confirmation, the Auditor should perior--
alternative audit procedures to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence

the case alternative audit procedures do not provide the andit evinoiwe: i,
Auditor requires, he should determine the nmplications of such for the s
and his/her opinion.

91, In the case the confirmation indicates aifferencos in e eroematin o i
records, Lhe Auditor shall investigate these eXceptions to determine whothe: or
not they arc indicative of misstatements.




52.

53.

54.

Positive confirmations request that the confirming party respond directly to
the Auditar indicating whether the confirming party agrees or disagrees with
the information in the request, or providing the requested information. Positive
confirmations request the confirming party to reply to the Auditor in all cases,
either agreeing or disagreeing with the stated information. This generally
should provide more reliable audit evidence.

Negative confirmations request that the confirming party respond directly to
the Auditor only if the confirming party disagrees with the information
nrovided in the request.

Negative confirmations provide less persuasive audit evidence than positive
confirmaticns. Accordingly, the concerned Auditor uses negative confirmations
as the sole substantive audit procedure if the following are present:

a. The Auditor has assessed the risk of material misstatement as low and has
obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the operating
effectiveness of controls relevant to the assertion

b. The population of items subject to negative cenfirmation procedures
comprises a large number of small, homogeneous, account balances,
transactions or canditions

c. Avery low exception rate 15 expected
d. The Auditor is not aware of circumstances or conditions that would cause
recipients of negative confirmation requests to disregard such requests.

Auditors should evaluate whether the results of the external confirmation
procedures provide relevant and reliable audit evidence, or whether further
audit evidence is necessary.

Adequacy of Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Statements

56.

The Auditor should perform audit procedures to evaluate whether the overall
presentation of the financial statements, including the related disclosures, are
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Also, the
Auditor should consider whether the disclosed financial information (including
the notes to the financial statementsj:

a. Made appropriate reference to the applicable financial reporting framework

b. is described and classified appropriately and is in conformity with the
applicable financial reporting framework

c. Includes adequate disclosure of material matters including accounting
policies consistent with the applicable financial reporting framework

d. Include the comparative information required by the applicable financial
reporting framework and such information is appropriately classified.

The Auditor should evaluate whether:
a. The comparative information agrees with the amounts and other disclosures
presented in the prior period or, when appropriate, have been restated
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b. The accounting palicies reflected in the comparative information are
consistent with those applied in the current period or, if there have been
changes in accounting policies, whether those changes have been properly
accounted for and adequately presented and disclosed

c. The form, arrangement, and content of the financial statements and their
appended notes, including, for example, the terminology used, the amount
of detail given, the classification of items in the statements, and the bases
of amounts set forth are reliable.

d. Underlying accounting records agree

Outstanding Audit Evidence

58.

59.

60.

61.

In some situations, it is possible that the Auditor does not receive the
requested audit evidence timely or within a ‘reasonable’ time. What is
‘reasonable’ may be influenced by the circumstances of each audit. The
question is, what to do when there is long outstanding evidence delaying the
audit to be performed and finalized. What can be done?

Record the evidence requested: Evidence requested should be recorded on the
Evidence tracking sheet (Refer to 2A - Evidence Tracking Sheet working paper).
The following information is included for all requested evidence:

a. Unique identification of the evidence requested (for example payment
advice number)

Date requested and the person responsible for supplying the infarmation;
Any subsequent follow-ups

Date evidence was received

Person to whom the evidence was handed back to (with signature).

D o0 T

Communicate to management: Firstly, the Audit Team Leader should present
to management the list of evidence required to perform the audit. Secondly,
management should be regularly informed of any long outstanding evidence.
This can be done by issuing an audit query to management on long outstanding
evidence. it can form part of the audit queries / management letter sent. This
way, management is given a chance to address the inefficient processes to
supply evidence. Long outstanding evidence should be regularly included in the
communications sent to management. When issuing a query with long
outstanding evidence requirements, management should also be informed of the
consequences of not submitting the evidence timely.

Receiving evidence at a later stage: Evidence received late may substantially
influence the audit in terms of time lost, resources standing idle, or unutilized,
all of which may make the finalization of the audit difficult. In any given
circumstance, Auditors need to consider whether to accept the evidence for

audit or to report on the scope of limitation. This decision is influenced by the
following factors:

a. The time taken to receive the information
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62.

63.

64.

Appropriateness of reasons supplied by management for the delay

Reporting timelines: if the reporting should take place within a certain
timeframe for instance through legislation, this may affect the way Auditors
handle evidence received late in the audit process

b. Stage of the audit: Evidence received during the fieldwork stage of the audit
witl be more likely to be accepted and audited.

¢. Discussions with management of the audit: Any decisions on evidence received

late should be discussed with the officer responsible for signing the audit
report. This includes any decisions made that alter the initial dates agreed
during pre-engagement or strategic planning. These alterations should also be
communicated to the auditee.

In the case management supplies evidence at a later stage, when the audit
already has proceeded into the reporting phase, the Auditor needs to consider the
additional work that it will require to perform the procedures and how the
timetines of the audit may be affected. Decision to report or to test the supplied
information should be taken by the person responsible for the audit.

The following aspects should be included in the communication

a. Description of the problem, finding or internat control weakness(es);
b. Risk or potential effect of the problem

c. Recommendation and

d. A space provided for management to comment on the finding.

Recommendations should atways be in terms of management controls which
should be designed and/or implemented to prevent or detect misstatements.
All deficiencies in internal controls that are of sufficient importance to merit
management’s attention should be reported in the audit query or management
letter.

In addition to these requirements, the communication should include adequate
information to enable those charged with governance and management to
understand the context of the communicaticn. In particular, the Auditor should
explain that:

a. The purpase of the audil s {or Rim/her to express an opinion on ihe

financial statements,

b. The audit included cosdoration of intermsl control relevant to the
preparation of the financiz! statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the iircumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion an the effectiveness of intzrmal control.

c. The matters being reported are limiied to those deficiencies that the Auditor

has identified during the audit and that he/she has concluded are of sufficient
importance to merit being reported to those charged with governance.
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66.

Several audit queries and management letters may be issued during the course
of an audit. A good practice is to issue a management letter at the end of
dctailed planning. A second management {etter could be issued after an audit
visit Is completed and a final management letter can be issued at the
conclusion of the audit. The management letter should provide all findings
included in the audit report. Therefore, the audit report can be seen as a filter
for the management letter.

IV(B) Management Representations

67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

Auditors are to obtain written representations or statements from management
as audit evidence using the standard letter template. This template includes
all the relevant aspects for which management should acknowledge
responsibility, for example, the presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. Management
representations are necessary to obtain, but they do not provide sufficient
audit evidence on their own. It should be supported by audit evidence obtained
through performing other audit procedures. Auditors should identify the
personis} from whom the representations should be requested, generally from
the applicable legislation. Normally, the ‘Accounting Officer’ or ‘Permanent
Secretary’ is responsible for the representations.  The fact that written
representations should be provided together with details on who is responsible
for them should be communicated and agreed with in the engagement letter,

The written representations should be obtained as close to the Auditor’s
reporting date as practicable. Also, written representations should cover the
entire financial statements and the period(s) under audit. It usually takes the
form of a representation letter addressed to the Auditor {Team Lead)
concerned (Refer to 2B - Management representation letter)

The Auditor should request management to provide written representations
regarding its responsibilities relating to amongst others:

a. Fair presentation of financial statements in line with the financial reporting
framework including ali relevant transactions,

b. Design and implementation of internal control to prevent and detect errors.

¢. The provision of all relevant information and documentation.

In the case a representation by management is inconsistent with or
contradicted by other audit evidence, the Auditor concerned should investigate
the circumstances and, when necessary, reconsider the reliabilily of other
representations made by management. In such cases, he/she should perform
other audit procedures to obtain necessary assurance.

Where management does not provide a representation that the Auditor
constders necessary, he/she should discuss this with management, re-evaluate
management’s integrity and consider reporting and whether this constitutes a
scope limitation and he/she should express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer
of opinion.




SECTION V

AUDIT CONCLUSIONS AND REPORTING

1. This section contains the following subjects:

Subject Paragraphs
VA. Management Letter 2-9
VB. Audit Report on Financial Statements 10 - 61
VC. Audit of Special Purpose Audit Engagements 62-73

V(A). Management Letter

2. The process for an audit is to ensure that the information contained within the
audit report is appropriately considered and communicated to the audited
entity before it is made public. The ideal mechanism for this process is through
the use of the management letter. At this stage of the audit, the transaction
testing and related working papers should have been com pleted.

3. The audit queries are the basis for the Management Letter (refer to WP 2F). All
matters arising from the management letter must have been generated through
audit queries. The Auditor should issue various management letters during the
course of the audit. However, the management letter issued with the financial
statements is the crucial management letter. Earlier ones can be issued by the
Director (or the Deputy Director he/she is so delegated), however, the
management letter issued with the financial statements will be issued by the
Director. For a Director/Deputy Director to issue the management letter
he/she will conduct a sample of ongoing reviews of management letters issued
by the Team Lead during the course of the audit.

4. Prior to the issuance of the audit report, a final management letter should be
issued to ensure that alt findings arising during the course of the audit are
included in one management letter and this will be signed by the Director. This
will ensure that the quality and consistency of the information supporting the
management letter and ultimately the audit report is of a high standard.

D. For each audit finding, th.-& aro several categorics of inforimation that are
required. These include:

Area of expenditure / rcvenud
Classification of the finding
Description of the finding
Implication

Recommendation
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f. Management response
8. Auditor’'s comment.

6. Whilst some of these categories are straightforward, some require further

explanation and are discussed in more detail below:

Classification of Findings

7. The Auditor is expected to classify the audit findings into the severity of where
and how it will be reported. The categories are as follows:

a. Included in management letter only
Included in the audit report under emphasis of matter / other matters;

=

C. Included in the audit report as a qualification issue.

8. The difference between the items has an element of professional judgment.

However, for the findings included under gualification issues, the Auditor can

use the materiatity calculation to guide them.

9. The distinction between management letter and emphasis of matter is more
complex. To guide the Auditor, the fotlowing table can be used:

Characteristics of management
letter only findings

Characteristics of Emphasis of Matter
findings

isolated finding

Common Findings

Insignificant or not material

Significant

Untikely to recur

Recurring or likely to recur (and may
have been previously reported)

Matter resolved prior to issuance of
audit report

Matter unresolved at the time of
issuing audit report

Mistake / omission

Fraud / misappropriation of funds /
corruption

| Isolated legal non-compliance with
no financial effect

Any legal non-compliance in particular
with any relevant act dealing with
procurement

VB. Auditors’ Reports on Financial Statements

10.

financial reporting framework set out b

the Auditor are to:

& Form an opinion on the financial statements based on an evaluation of the

Financial statements of Kaduna State are normally prepared in line with a
y relevant legislation. The objectives of

conclusions drawn from the audit evidence obtained and

b. Express such opinion clearly
of the opinion.

through a written report that explains the basis




11.

To form an opinion, the Auditor should perform relevant procedures to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of matenal
misstatements and that all requirements of the applicable financial reporting
framework have been correctly applied. The Auditor should follow the
approach prescribed in this manual and conclude on the required aspects.

Consideration of ldentified Misstatements

Evaluating the effect of misstatement

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

In forming an opinion on the financial statements, the Auditor needs to
conclude whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement.

A misstatement is a difference between the amounts, classification,
presentation, or disclosure of a reported financial statements item and the
amount, classification, presentation, or disclosure that is required for the item
to be in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework or
legislation. Misstatements can arise from error or fraud. Auditors need to
consider whether financial statements give a true and fair view and giving
consideration to laws and regulations as required.

In doing that, the Auditor should assess the effect of identified misstatements
on the audit and the effect of aggregated uncorrected misstatements in
forming an opinion. In addition, the public sector misstatements include
instances of non-compliance with legislation which also needs to be assessed.

when an Auditor has additional reporting responsibilities relating to non-
compliance with authorities and control deficiencies, they should separately
evaluate each of these objectives.

Auditors should keep in mind that, in certain instances, there is also a
possibility of misstatements of retatively small amounts that, cumulatively,
could have a material effect on the financial statements. For example, an
error in a month end procedure could be an indication of a potential material
misstatement if that error is repeated each month. In such cases, the sample
drawn to test the population should be extended to ensure that the account
balance audited is not materially misstated.

Audit objectives may include compliance with laws and regulations and
effectiveness of internal control depending on the audit mandate. The
following definitions apply to types of misstatements identified:

a. Control deficiency (control weakness), a condition in which the design or
operation of a control does not allow management or employees to timely
prevent or detect material misstatements. Such instances should be noted

h. Control deviation, the entity’s failure to follow or implement a significant
control procedure for a transaction. Control deviations will generally be
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C. noted as well. Instance of non-compliance with authorities, the failure to

adhere to law or regulation, including budgetary authority, for a transaction.
Non-compliance is usually noted through the identification of control
deficiency and deviation.

Communicating to Management and the Correction of Misstatements

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

All audit findings should be communicated to the appropriate level of
Mmanageément on a timely basis. (Refer to 2C Audit query and 2F Management
letter working papers) The Auditor shoutd request management to adjust the
financial statements. Even when management does adjust the misstatement
identified, the underlying internal control weakness or non-compliance with
authorities may still be included in the audit report. Auditors should also
communicate non-compliance with legislation and internal control weaknesses
to management, those charged with governance and any additional parties as
applicable.

If, at the Auditor’s request, management has examined a class of transactions,
account balance or disclosure and corrected misstatements that were
detected, he/she shall perform additional audit procedures to determine
whether misstatements remain. This requirement does not apply to instances
of non-compliance with authorities or control deviations.

In the case management refuses to adjust the financial statements containing
material misstatements, the Auditor should consider reasons for the refusal and
evaluate whether the matter will cayuse the audit report to have a
modification.

Auditors should obtain written representation that management considers the
effects of uncorrected misstatements on the financial statements to be
immaterial and on compliance with authority and effectiveness of internal
control. When an Auditor finds instances of non-compliance with authorities or
control deficiencies, representation may be modified.

When required by audit rmandate, an Auditor should separately evaluate
financial statements misstatements, instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations and control deviations.

Where the Auditor concludes that, or is unable to conclude whether, the
financial statements as a whole are materially misstated, he/she should
consider the effect thereof on the opinion in his/her report. When an Auditor
has additional reporting responsibilities, each reporting responsibility may be
evaluated separately. For example, he/she is required to report instances of
non-compliance with laws and regulations, his/her evaluation whether the
entity has complied with laws and regulations may be separate from the
relevant evaluation whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement. However, misstatements and instances of non-
compliance with taws and regulations can also be interrelated, potentially
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24,

increasing the risks of material misstatements and vice versa, For example,
misstatements may represent instances of non-compliance with authorities.

For control deviations, the Auditer should determine whether such represents
control deficiencies. in this evaluation, Auditors should evaluate compensating
controls to determine whether the control objective has been met.

Communication with those Charged with Governance and other Parties

25.

26.

27.

28.

Auditors should communicate with those charged with governance:

_ Uncorrected misstatements and the effect that such, individually or in

aggregate, may have on the opinion in Auditor’s report, unless prohibited by
law or regulation

. The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to pricr periods influencing

the current financial statements.

Instances of non-compliance with authorities and control deficiencies.

. Any matters that may lead to modification of audit opinion, any emphasis of

matter and other matter to be included in the audit report and the proposed
wording of these paragraphs.

Auditors may be expected to communicate all misstatements, even those that
have been corrected by the entity, and all control deficiencies (including those
which are recurring), and instances of non-compliance with authorities. This
may be the case since the auditee may constitute a limited part of the wider
public sector control structure. Therefore, control deficiencies may have
implications from a broader perspective. Auditors’ determination of who to
communicate with about instances of non-compliance with authorities and
control deficiencies is based on professional judgment and effected by factors
such as.

a. The general and recommended practice

b. The nature and number of occurrences

c. Whether similar occurrences are likely to exist in the entity or in other
entities for which those charged with governance have responsibility.

when communicating with those charged with governance, Auditors use ways
of reporting retevant in their jurisdiction. Also, Auditors may be called upon to
testify before the legistature on the results of the financial statements audit.
Auditors may also communicate misstatements, instances of non-compliance
with authorities and control deficiencies to additional parties such as
government officials.

In addition, when a reporting deadline given by legistation is not met by
Auditors, this fact should be reported to those charged with governance or
legislature as applicable.
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Documentation and Evidencing

9.

o W

Auditors should document:

All misstatements and whether they have been corrected

Identified control deviations and whether they represent control deficiencies
Control deficiencies that do not arise from control deviations

Identified instances of non-compliances with authorities

Conclusions as to whether uncorrected misstatement, non- compliances with {aws and
regulations and control deficiencies are material and the basis for those conclusions,

Types of Audit Opinions
Unqualified Opinion

30.

31.

32.

33.

34,

35.

An unqualified opinion should be expressed, when the Auditors concludes that the
financial statements give a true and fair view or are presented fairly in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

When expressing an unqualified opinion, the opinion paragraph of the Auditor’s report
should state the Auditor’s opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair
view or present fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework {unless the he/she is required by law or regulation to

use different wording for the opinion, in which case the prescribed wording should be
used).

An unqualified opinion should be expressed when the Auditor concludes that the
financial statements give a true and fair view fair, in ail material respects, in
accordance with the appticable financial reporting framework.

Auditors should draw users’ attention to a matter or matters presented or disclosed in
or outside the financial statements that are important for users’ understanding of the
financial statements or his/her report. These matters will be included in an emphasis
of matter or an ‘other matter’ paragraph.

Emphasis of Matter paragraph refers to a matter appropriately presented or disclosed
in the financial statements that, in the Auditor’s judgment, is of such importance that
it 1s fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements.

Examples of circumstances where the Auditor may consider it necessary to include an
Emphasis of Matter paragraph are:

a. An uncertainty relating to the future outcome of exceptional litigation or
regulatory action

b. Early application (where permitted) of a new accounting standard (for example, a
new International Financial Reporting Standard) that has a pervasive effect on the
financial statements in advance of its effective date

C. A major catastrophe that has had, or continues to have, a significant effect on the
entity’s financial position
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d. Bringing attention to the following aspects are properly disclosed in the financial
statements:

ii.
1il.

Non-compliance with legislation (when no separate opinion is required)
Legislative actions on programs or the budget

Contradictive laws, regulations or directives with a significant effect on
the entity.

v, Fraud, abuse or losses
V. Significant transactions
vi, Significant internal control weaknesses

vii. Questionable business practices

viii, Transactions entered into without due regard for economy
iX. Prior period restatements
X. Lack of fiscal sustainability
x1. Environmental Issues

xii. Corporate social responsibility issues

xili, Propriety issues (proper behavier by public officials)

36. Other Matter paragraph includes findings relating to matters relevant to the users of

the report listed above (under the Emphasis of Matters paragraphs) but not presented
or disclosed in the financial statements. Other matter paragraphs normally inciude
control weaknesses, non-compliance with laws and regulations which do not constitute
a qualification.

Modified Audit Opinions

37. The Auditor should appropriately modify the opinion in his/her report when he/she:

a, Concludes that, based on the audit evidence obtained, the financial statements as a
whole are not free from material misstatement or

b. Is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence.

c. Determines that the auditee did nat comply with responsibilities prescribed by the
financial reporting framework to:

i.  Achieve fair presentation of financial information

ii. Fulfill all reguirements of the financial reporting framework.

iii. Any additional audit requirements, such as non-compliance with legislation or
internal control weakness which has a material or pervasive effect on the
financial statements as it is not adequately disclosed or accounted for.

38, Pervasive is a term used to describe the effects on the financial statements of
misstatements or possible effects if any, that are undetected due to an inability to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. Pervasive effects on the financial
statements are those that, in the Auditor’s judgment:

a. Are net confined to specific etements, accounts or items of the financial statements
b. Represent or could represent a substantial proportion of the financial statements or

c. Fundamental to users' understanding of the financial statements.
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40.

41.

Pervasiveness of the finding will determine the kind of modified audit opinion which
will De 1ssued. The Auditor should select the most appropriate modified opinion from
the 3 opticns described betow:

a. A qualified opinion should be expressed when an Auditor having obtained sufficient
appropriate audit evidence concludes that there are material misstatements in the
financial statements or if he/she cannot obtain adequate evidence on aspects of
the audit. Qualified opinion is issued when the misstatement or limitation on scope
is not as material and pervasive as to require an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of
opinion. It is expressed as being ‘except for’ the effects of the matter to which the
qualification relates.

b. An adverse opinion should be expressed when the effect of a disagreement is so
material and pervasive to the financial statements that the Auditor concludes that a
qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the misleading or incomplete
nature of the financial statements.

C. A disclaimer of opinion should be expressed when the possible effect of a
limitation on scope is so material and pervasive that the Auditor has not been able
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and accordingly is unable to express
an opinion on the financial statements. A disclaimer opinion may alse be issued
considering the potential cumulative effect of uncertainties even when all audit
evidence is received.

The decision on which type of modified opinion is appropriate depends upon:

a. The nature of the audit finding {quantitative materiality)
b. The extent of misstatement of the financial statements {quantitative materiality}
¢. The pervasiveness or the possibie effects of the matter on the financial statements.

Whenever the Auditor expresses an opinion that is other than unqualified, a clear
description of all the substantive reasons should be included in the report and, untess
impracticable, a quantification of the possible effect({s) on the financial statements.

Limitation on Scope Imposed by Management

42.

If management imposes a limitation of scope on the audit which will affect the
audit opinion, the Auditor should:
a. Request management to remove the limitation.

b. If limitation persists, the Auditor will communicate this to those charged
with governance and determine whether alternative procedures can be
performed to obtain necessary evidence.

¢. If no alternative procedures are possible, the Auditor should issue a
disclaimer of opinion.

d. In certain instances, reporting to tegislature may also be required.
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Contents and Format of the Audit Report

43.

44,

Reporting in Accordance with ISAs: Auditor‘s report should only state that the
audit has been conducted in accordance with the International Standards on
Auditing, and that all standards of I1SA have been fully complied with. Under
the ‘auditor’s responsibility’ paragraph included in the audit report, the
Auditor should state the standards applied during the audit. There are three
options:

a. In accordance with the ISAs; which means full compliance with atl relevant
ISAs and if relevant, with the additional guidance set out in the INTOSAI
Practice Notes to the ISAs

b. In accordance with the INTOSAI Fundamental Auditing Principles, but not
full compliance with the ISAs which are presently included as part of the
INTOSAI Financial Audit Guidelines
(1SSAls 1000-2999)

when applying all the provisions included in this manual, the audit report can
refer to compliance with ISAs (first option above).

Minimum Requirements for Audit Reports

43.

According to the ISAs, Auditor report shall include, at a minimum, each of the
following elements:

A title clearly indicating that it is the report of a State Auditor.

An addressee, as required by the circumstances of the engagement. |f laws
and regulations do not identify the addressee the Auditor can address the
report to those charged with governance. As concerns the distribution of final
audit report issued by the Auditor-General on the financial statements of
Government, it forms part of the Audited Financial Statements of Government
and is normaily not restricted. Auditors shouid refrain from statements that
the report is intended solely for specific users.

An introductory paragraph that includes the following:
a) Identify the entity audited
b) State that the financial statements have been audited

c) Identify the title of each statement that comprises the finanoal
statements including additional reports where applicable (such as
comparison of actual and budgeted amounts, reports on performance
information etc..). The complete set of financial statements also
include any notes to the financial statements

d) Refer to the summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information

e) Specify the date or period covered by each financial statement
comprising the financial statements.
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Vi,

A description of responsibilities for the Preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements titled ‘Management’s Responsibility’ for the Financial
Statements’ (in this case responsibility lies with the Accountant General - AG of
Kaduna State). Responsibilities of the Accountant General should inciude:

a) Preparation of the audited Financial Statements in line with the
financial reporting framework

D} Instituting necessary internal controls to enable the preparation of
financial statement free of misstatements

C) Achieving fair presentation where applicable.

A description of the responsibility of Auditor General titled “Auditor’s
responsibility” that includes the responsibility to:

a) Express an opinion on the financial statements and base on the audit

b) Perform the audit in line with the International Standards on Auditing,
Include specific reference to the requirement to comply with ethicat
requirements (IFAC and INTOSA! Code of Ethics) and the explanation of
reasonable assurance that is provided by the Auditor that the financial
statements are free of material misstatement

¢} The Auditor’s report should describe an audit by stating that;

i. It involves performing procedures Lo obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

i1. The procedures selected depend on the Auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the Auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. In circumstances when the Auditor also has a
responsibitity to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal
control in conjunction with the audit of the financial statements. he/she
shatl omit the phrase that the Auditors’ consideration of internat contr::|
i> not for the purpose of eXpressing an opinion on the efieciivenes: o
internal control and

i1l An audit also includes cvaluating the appropriatencss of tho ares o
policies used and the reasonableness of ACCoOUNLING estimaies mards
management, as well as the overall presentation of the financisd
statements.

1. Any other reporting responsibilities of the Auditor imay e Aanplic able.

The Auditor should state that, he/she belicve that the audit ovidence ohtaniod
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for his/hor (mindintiza OEINERETS
[ Adverse where appropriate) opinion. Consequentty, whor o a0

spinion is 1ssued, it needs to bo stated that evidence couid e b
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Vil. A paragraph on the ‘Basis for Qualified / Adverse / Disclaimer Opinion’
includes a description of the matter giving rise to the modification and a
quantification of the amount of misstatement when practicable should also he
included in the paragraph. All the matters which would alone warrant a

VIli.  qualification should be inctuded under this heading. For example, if a
disclaimer of opinion is issued based on the lack of audit evidence the Auditor
would describe the scope limitation and also include paragraphs under the
same heading with explanations for other material misstatements found during
the audit

iX.  An opinion paragraph titled ‘Opinion’ containing:

a) The title of this paragraph should clearly state the kind of modified opinion
issued when applicable i.e. Qualified Opinion, Adverse Qpinmon, Disclaimer of
Opinion

by Reference to the applicable financial reporting framework used to prepare the
financial statements

¢} An expression of opinion on the financial statements

d} For unqualified audit opinion the paragraph will quote

i The financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with [name the applicable financial reporting framework
e.g. ISAs] etc..

ii.  The financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with
fname the applicable financial reporting framework e.g. ISAs] o

fif. Financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with [name the applicable financial reporting framework]j

d) For qualified audit opinion the paragraph will quote: ‘except for the effects of
the matter(s) described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph’

e) For adverse opinion state that: The financial statements do not present fairly -
or the financial statements have not been prepared - in all material respects,
in line with applicable financial framework

f) For disclaimer of opinion state that because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Opinion paragraph the Auditor has not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide basis for an audit
opinion

g) Other reporting responsibilities the Auditor may have should be included here.
For example, the Auditor may be required to report on the legal or regulatory
requirements, or on performance information disclosed

46. Other Sub Headings of an Audit Report includes:
l ‘Emphasis of matters’ paragraphs with clear indication that the audit opinion is not

qualified as a result of this paragraph

1. ‘Other matters’ paragraphs - standards, laws or generally accepted practice in a
jurisdiction may require or permit the Auditor to elaborate on matters that provide
further explanation of his/the report thercon. Such matters may be addressed in a
separate paragraph following the Auditor’s opinion.
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. ‘Other reporting responsibilities’ - Matters reported relating to reporting
responsibilities other than reporting on the financial statements,

Iv. Finally, the following should be inserted;

a) The signature of the Auditor concerned
b) Date of the report and
€) Address of Auditor General of Kaduna State,

Understandability of Reports

47. The audit report should be easy to read and understand. Clarity and understandability
may be enhanced by:

a. Use of non-technical language. All technical terms, jargons, unfamiliar abbreviations
and acronyms should be clearly defined when used

b. Logical organization of material
C. Accuracy and precision in stating facts and in drawing conclusions
d. Effective use of titles and captions and topic sentences
e. Use of visual aids (such as pictures, charts, graphs, and maps} to clarify and
summarize complex material.
48. The audit report should not be longer than necessary in order to convey and support

the message. Neediess repetitions should be avoided.
Comparative Information Disclosed in the Financial Statements

49, There are two different broad approaches to reporting auditors’ responsibilities in
respect of comparative information: corresponding figures and comparative financial
statements. The approach to be adopted is often specified by law or regulation but
may also be specified in the terms of engagement. Comparative information is the
amounts and disclosures included in the financial statements in respect of one or more
prior periods.

50, Corresponding figures refer to comparative information where amounts and other
disclosures for the prior period are included as an integral part of the current period

financial statements. The essential audit reporting differences between the
approaches are:

a. For corresponding figures, the Auditor’s opinion on the financial statemenis
refers to the current period only whereas

b. For comparative financial statements, Auditor’s opinion refers to cach period faor
which financial statements are presented,

51. The Auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and roport abour
whether the comparative information included in the financial statements has been
presented, in a2l materig! respects, in accordance with the requiremnents o
comparalive information in the applicable financial reporting framewaork,

52. In the case the Auditor identifics a possible material misstatemeant in the COm ATy
information during the current audit, he/fshe should perform additional aodit

81




procedures to determine whether a material misstatement exists. if he/she had
audited the prior period’s financial statements, the requirements of events after
balance sheet date should be followed. Where the prior period financial statements
are corrected, the Auditor shall determine that the comparative information agrees
with the amended financial statements.

Reporting on Corresponding Figures

53.

54.

55.

56.

57,

When corresponding figures are presented, the Auditor’s opinion should not
specifically refer to the corresponding figures, since the audit opinion is on the current
period financial statements as a whole, including those figures.
L]
Whenever the Auditor’s report on the prior period, as previously issued, included a
qualified opinion, disclaimer of opinicn, or adverse opinion and the matter which gave
rise to the modification is resolved and properly dealt with in the financial
statements, the current report should not refer to the previous medification. it may,
however be appropriate to include an ‘Other Matter’ paragraph.

However, where the matter is unresolved, it needs to be considered in light of the
current year’s financial statements. Where it is material to the current period, the
Auditer should modify the current years report accordingly. The Basis for Modification
paragraph in the Auditor’s report should either:

a. Refer to both the current period's figures and the corresponding figures in the
description of the matter giving rise to the modification when the effects or
possibte effects of the matter on the current period’s figures are material or

b. In other cases, explain that the audit opinion has been maodified because of the
effects or possible effects of the unresolved matter on the comparability of the
current period’s figures and the corresponding figures.

The Auditor may identify a material misstatement affecting the previocus year’s
financial statements where an unmodified audit opinion was issued. In such
circumstances, the Auditor should consider whether the corresponding figures have
been restated or not. Where the corresponding figures have not been properly
restated and/or appropriate disclosures have not been made, the Auditor should
request management to revise the corresponding figures or if management refuses to
do so, appropriately modify the report.

In the case, in very rare circumstances the prior period financial statements were not
audited, the Auditor should state in an Other Matter paragraph in his/her report that
the corresponding figures are unaudited. He/she should then obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances do not contain misstatements
that materially affect the current pericd'’s financial statements.

Reporting on Comparative Financial Statements

58.

When the comparatives are presented as comparative financial statements, the
Auditor’s opinion should refer to each period for which financial statements are
presented and on which an-audit opinion is expressed.

When reperting on the prior period’s financial statements in connection with the
current year's audit and where the apinion on such prior period financial statements is
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different from the opinion previously expressed, the. Auditer should disclose the
substantive reasons for the different opinion in an emphasis of matter paragraph.

60. In the case the financial statements of the prior period were audited by another -
auditor in addition to expressing an opinion on the current period’s- financial
statements, the Auditor shall state in an Other Matter paragraph that the prior period
was audited by.another auditor, the type of report issued by the ‘predecessor auditor
and if the report was modified, the reasons therefore and. the date of that repoft. -

61. When the prior period financial statements are not audited, the incoming auditor
should state in the report issued by the Auditor that the corresponding figures:or -
comparative financizal statements are unaudited as applicable. - F -

vC. Special Purpose Audit Engagements

62. Special purpose financial statements are financial statements prepared in accordance
with a financial reporting framework designed to meet the financial information needs
of specific users. :

63. The financiat reporting framework of Kaduna State is prescribed by law or regulation
and it is not up to management to determine the framework. Where law or regulation -
prescribes the financial reporting framework to be used by management in preparing
and presenting the special purpose financial statements, such a framework is
presumed to be acceptable in the absence of indications to the contrary.

64.  In addition to preparing general purpose financial statements, the auditee may-
prepare financial statements for other parties (such as governing bodies, the
legislature or other parties that perform an oversight function) that can demand
financial statements tailored to meet their specific information needs. In some
environments such financiat statements may be the onty financial statements prepared
by the public sector entity. In which case, they are considered to be special purpose
financial statements. Auditors therefore should carefully examine whether the
financial reporting framework is designed to meet the financial information needs of a
wide range of users (“general purpose framework™) or the financial information needs
of specific users. :

65. Examples of special purpose audit engagements are:

a. Cash receipts and disbursements basis of accounting for cash flow information that
an entity may be requested to prepare

b. The financial reporting provisions of a contract, such as a-bond indenture, a loan
agreement, or a project grant.

66. Auditors can be mandated to audit the complete set of financial statements prepared
in accordance with a comprehensive basis of accounting other than International
Accounting Standards {}PSAS) or national standards. The. Auditor should plan and
perform the audit appropriately and form an opinion on the financial statements in line
with the iSA requirements. : Cor R

Audit Considerations on Speciak Purpose Audit Engagements

67. The Auditor should determine the acceptability of the financial reporting framework
applied in the preparation of the financial statements considering: -
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68.

The purpose for which the financial statements are prepared
The intended users

C. The steps taken by management to determine that the applicable financial reporting
framework is acceptable in the circumstances.

In planning and performing the audit, the Auditor should identify any special
considerations as required. These considerations may include the understanding of the
selection and application (interpretation) of accounting policies. An interpretation is
significant when adoption of another reasonable interpretation would have produced a
material difference in the infermation presented in the financial statements.

Reporting on Speciai Purpose Financial Statements

69.

70.

71.

72.

An Auditor should form an opinion and report on the special purpose financial
statements in line with the tayout inciuded in the ISAs including at least the required
minimum required elements.

The Auditor may have additional reporting responsibility to that of. reporting whether
the special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework. In this case, his/her report describes the
requirements of any relevant legislation or the aydit mandate in a separate section of
his/her report. The wording included in the legislated mandate may be used
accordingly. Where tegislation governing the audit mandate does not conflict with
I5As, the Auditor shoutd adopt the layout and wording used in ISAs so that users can
more readily recognize their (i.e. Auditor’s} report as a report on an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs.

In the unlikely event of management having a choice of financial reporting
frameworks, the statement of ‘Management’s responsibility for the special purpose
financial statements’ should be expanded to include the responsibility for determining
that the applicable financial reporting framework is acceptable in the circumstances
of the engagement.

The Auditor should evaluate whether the financial statements adequately refer to or
describe the applicable financia! reporting framework. The form and content of the
Auditor’s report on special purpose financial statements should include:

a. A description of the purpose for which the financial statements are prepared and if

necessary the intended users, or refer to a note in the special purpose financial
statements that contains that information,

b. In the case management has a choice of financial reporting frameworks in the

preparation of such finanoia statements, the explanation of management’s
responsibility for the finaicial statements shall also make reference to its
responsibility far deterrmining that the applicable financial reporting framework is

acceptable in the circumstance.. When managerent has a choice of financial
reporting frameworks, the Auditer may include this f25p0N§iHILY in the statement of
management’s responsibitity i order to determine whether to expand the statement
of management's responsibility for the special purpose financial statements to refer
to the source that determines the financial reporting framework applied.
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The Auditor shall include an Emphasis of Matter paragraph alerting users of his/her
report that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with a special purpose
framework and that, as a result, the financial statements and related auditor's report
may not be suitable for another purpose. The Auditor may also consider including a

statement in his/her report that it is intended solely for the anticipated users and

should not be distributed to or used by parties other than the intended users, unless
the particular report is a public document.




SECTION Vi

AUDIT DOCUMENTATION AND QUALITY CONTROL

1. This section comprises the subjects listed below:

Subject Paragraphs
VI A, Audit Documentation 2-36
Vi B, Quality Control 37 - 47

VI A, Audit Documentation

2.

This section explains the nature, types, and purpose of audit documentation. It also
provides the Auditor with the form, contents and extent of the audit documentation
and the how the finat audit file should be organized. The Auditor should prepare, on a
timely basis, audit documentation that provides sufficient and appropriate record of
the basis for his/her report and evidence which confirms that the audit was performed
in accordance with 1SAs and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

In addition, Auditors should prepare documentation that enables an experienced
superior, having no previous connection with the audit, to understand the significant
matters arising during the audit, the conclusions reached thereon, and significant
professional judgments made in reaching those conclusions.  Significant matters in
this context may not only be material misstatements in the financial statements, but
also matters relating to lack of compliance, violations of contract provisions or grant
agreements or any other matters the Auditor is required to report on.

Audit documentation refers to all relevant working papers and audit evidence that has
been obtained throughout the audit. Auditors should familiarize themselves with any
additional requirements relating to audit documentation that are designed to ensurc
compliance with applicable rules of evidence.

Nature of Audit Documentaticn

3.

Audit documentation may be recorded manually, electronically or on other media.
Electronic working papers, for example, may be generated through using audit
software or by preparing working papers on a spreadshecet.

In addition, audit deocumaontation includes working papers compiled by Auditors
containing audit programs. Lrniys0s, Bsues memoranda, sumimaries of significant
matters, letters of confirmation and ropresentation, checklists, and correspondence
(including e-mail) concerning —asificaal matters, 'In addition, audit documentation
may include abstracis o copzs ! tho entity’s records, for example, significant and
specific contracts and coreemnenis,

Types of Audit Documentation

7.

Audit documentation cither relates solely ta the current year or they may be of a
more permanent nature. The audit file for the current year should include ail the
working papers and supporting evidence retating to the cunrent year's audit
objectives. There might be working papers and st.pporting evidence that is applicable
for more than one financial year. In such cases 1t may be appiopriate to retain ther in
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the current audit file, placing a copy in the previous year’s current file each time a
schedule is carried forward. An example of this could be the system descriptions that
may not change from one year to another.

The permanent fite should contain information of continuing nature about the entity’s
operations, accounting systems and other features (for example loan/funding
agreements) that are important to the conduct of the audit. The contents of the
permanent file should be reviewed at every audit and schedules updated to show the
latest position. Schedules considered to be outdated should be weeded from the
permanent file and filed in the current file of the year they relate to.

Purpose of Audit Documentation

9.

Audit documentation provides record of an audit assignment and also:

AssIsts auditors to plan and perform the audit

Aids the discharging of supervision and revicw responsibilities

Enables the audit team to be accountable for its work.

Retains a record of matters of continuing significance to future audits,

Enables the conduct of quality control reviews

Enables the conduct of external quality assurance reviews in accordance with
applicable legal, regulatory or other requirements.

Extent of Audit Documentation

10.

Audit documentation shoutd be arranged in order to enable any experienced superior to
understand the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed to comply
with ISAs and applicable lega! and regulatory requirements. Also, the results of the
audit procedures and the audit evidence obtained ncluding the significant conclusions
rcached. Others are:

a. Discussions of significant matters with management and others on a timely basis

b. How information that is contradictory or inconsistent with the Auditor’s conclusions
has been addressed in forming the final conclusion.

Contents of Audit Documentation (working papers) and Audit Evidence

11.

With regards to the form and content of working papers, the Auditor should prepare
working papers that are sufficiently complete and detailed to provide an overall

understanding of the audit. Working papers should contain at least the follawing
information:

Name of institution, year-end, person preparing and reviewing the working papers, and
respective dates for preparation and review

Explanations for tick marks used should be provided

The work performed for example description of the audit procedure or review executed
The source of the sample of information that was used to perform the audit procedure
{for example the source may be the ledger)

List of transactions that were selected to be audited or the extent of the review
performed
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Sufficient information to enable re-performance of the procedure, €.dg. document
numbers, dates, names, reference numbers, etc.
The value or amount of the sample selected and coverage obtained
Results of the procedures perfarmed
Conclusion on the work performed based on, and warranted by, the work performed
and supporting audit evidence
Explanations, motivations of basis used when using professional judgment and
conclusions reached
Indication that all schedules, prepared by the auditee, have been cast and cross-cast
Indication of the purpose of photecopied or scanned documents

. References to other working papers ar documents.

Compilation of the Final Audit File

12.

13.

14,

15.

16.

The Auditor should assemble the audit documentation in an audit file and complete the
administrative process of assembling the final audit file on a timely basis after the date
of his/her report. The audit file will contain all audit documentation relating to the
specific audit.

The complete assembly of the final audit file after the date of the Auditor’s report is an
administrative process that does not involve the performance of new audit procedures
or the drawing of new conclusions. Changes may however be made to the audit
documentation during the final assembly process if such are administrative in nature.
Examples of such changes include:

Deleting or discarding superseded documentation

a

b. Sorting, collating and cross-referencing working papers

c. Signing off on completion checklists relating to the file assembly process
d

Documenting audit evidence that the Auditor has obtained, discussed and agreed
with the relevant members of the engagement team before the date of his/her
report.

It is commonly accepted that 60 days after the date of the Auditor’s report, the final
audit file should be compieted.

when the Auditor finds it necessary to modify existing audit documentation or add new
ones after the assembly of the final audit file has been completed, he/she should,
regardless of the nature of the modifications or additions, document:

a. When and by whom they were made, and {where applicable) reviewed

b. The specific reasons for making them.

As a general rule, the Auditor should exclude from audit documentation, superseded
drafts of working papers and financial statements, notes that reflect incomplete or
preliminary thinking, previous copies of documents corrected for typographical or other
errors, and duplicates of documents.




Retention and Confidentiality of Audit Files

17.

Audit files should be retained with nothing deleted or discarded from them for the
pericd of retention required based on the policy of the Office of Auditor General of
Kaduna State as a policy, but not less than 5 years from the date of the audit report.

Cross-referencing

18. All working papers and documentation placed in the supporting files should have
individual reference numbers. The following documentation can be regarded as audit
evidence:

a. Copies of original source documents (payment advices, invoices, tender documents
and vouchers of the audited entity} and

b. Schedules/working papers completed by the Auditors such as a summary listing of
selected transactions to test included in the work done by him/her stating and
explaining the conclusions that were drawn.,

19. In certain instances, there will be no original source document available to support a
finding. For example. this is the case when the lack of an adequate policy or process is
reported. As a rule of thumb, the source documents should be cross-referenced to the
summaries and working papers where the audil work has been documented and
concindrd onwnd o e gy

contonts ~F ol Filos

20 PO auds 0 be compleled & set o pre-definea audit files have 1o be compuers.
Trese fles are computsory and should include the T,

) _ Referance __ 'T'it!e_= o - _ . ' ___B_ﬁ'éf description _ N
CSection A Strategic planning Contains completion of working papers :
] - relating to strategic plan. |

| Section ™| ndividual account | For each audit account arca, the working
| area testing papers rclevant to complete the audit :
o q——— . _.__ itestingrequired. |
lr Section € Financial statements | Contains  audit  work  on financial 1

: stalements and related checklists (for
examme  working paper on  Disciosure |

o o _ ) checklist). _ J
| Section Management letter | Contains  management  letlar(s) with
| evidence for reported items and minutes |
o L of exit meeting, |
| Section E Audit report All versions of the audit report with |

| - management amendments and evidence
S ____ | for the reporting items. ]
21. The audit team can include sections in one file or split sections into separate files

depending on the amount of documentation. Below is the detail to support the
completion of each section.
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Section A: Strategic Planning

22,

23.

This section includes information that is similar to what is found on permanent files.
The nature of this type of information can often be unchanged between financial
years. Therefore, the Auditor can use and update the information held on the previcus
year’s file.

All audit programs should be included in this section and signed by the relevant
reviewer. The strategic audit plan should be reviewed and signed by the Director
before the audit team commences the audit.

Section B: Individual Account Area Testing

24,

This section will contain the audit work completed to provide the necessary assurance
for the Auditor that an opinion can be expressed on the audit area. The working
papers will be referenced in the following order:

Details | B
1 "Any matters arising from previous years including:

» Matters unresolved,

s Errors identified; and

+ Audit repert and management letter issues.

2 Value of account area balance - from the Lead schedule working paper °
(Refer to working paper - Lead schedule)

| Section

3 Sampling worksheet for each account area |
4 Audit programs ) | ]
5 Audit testing and evidence (Working papers: Substantive procedures

performance, Tests of control, Substantive analytical procedures, etc..) |
6 Further action{s) taken from audit findings by the Auditor (including the
resolution / outcome of findings)
7 Lead schedule and summary of findings (Refer to working paper - Lead
schedule) ]
8 Audit summary memorandum (Refer to working paper - Audit Summary
Memorandum)
9 Review notes of first and second stage reviewers (Refer to working

paper - First stage reviewer worksheet)

—

. Details on Section 5: Audit Testing and Evidence

25.

The Auditor should reference in this section from the audit programs. For examptle, all
work done on audit test number 3 from the audit program will be evidence at
enclosure 5.3. The Auditor will at the enclosure 5.0 have a summary schedule that will
show the reference of the audit program tests to the evidence.

A specimeh of the enclosure 5.0 is as follows:

" “Audit test number from audit program | Reference | Auditor’s Initial |
1 5.1

2 B B ] 5.2 B -
3 5.3 B |

4 04 - L -
5 B 5.5 ]
& . 5.6 I
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26.

7.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32,

| have performed alt the audit tests from the approved audit program.
Signature of the Auditor
Review

Under each subsequent section. the working papers should be as follows:

a. 5.1 Substantive audit procedures performance working paper - detailing audit test
performed and the overall results of the test and

b. 5.1 also contain references to source documentation where findines have arisen
(where documents tested are satisfactory, they should not be copied onto the
audit file). In addition, references to section 6 where the resolution or outcome
from the findings is evidenced.

Underneath 5.1 for any findings where the audit testing has resulted in a not
satisfactory conclusion, the Auditor must copy the relevant source documentation and
include it under a section 5.1.1, etc.. This source documentation should include the
written audit work on the working paper and be signed by Auditor concerned. The
source document should then be referenced to the Substantive audit procedures
performance working paper and the refercnce from the working paper should be made
to the copied source document.

For example: An Auditor recalculates an invoice for supporting a travel allowance. He
finds that the calculation was incorrectly added to the extent of N2, 000. He/she then
puts the correct amount on the supporting document and initials their workings. This
document is then copied, referenced as enclosure 5.1.1 and put onto file. This process
is duplicated for all audit tests.

When the Auditor performs the audit procedures, standard tick marks should be
included in the working paper or on the source documentation (as applicable) to
demonstrate the audit tests performed and the results of these tests. These tick marks
have to be inserted on each source document audited. Examples of audit tick marks:

/ Correct, no exceptions found.
X Incorrect, exception has been raised.

The documents tested that are satisfactory should not be copied onto the audit file.
The Auditor's tick marks allow the reviewer, if he/she desire, to re-perform the
Auditor's work if necessary. This is why the Auditor should use the tick marks on the
supporting documentation.

Enclosure 6 Further action to be taken: This only applies to audit testing where
findings have arisen. Therefore, if audit tests 1 and 2 resulted in no findings, but audit
test 3 had findings, the first reference in this section will be 6.3.1.

Where an audit finding has arisen, the Auditor should complete the template below for
each audit finding and provide supporting evidence for any input into the template.
Only the final audit query (template included at end of section) should be kept as
supporting evidence on file. (Refer to working paper 2C - Audit Query)




Reviewing Working Papers

33.

34,

35.

36.

There are two types of reviewers - the first and second stage reviewers. The first
stage reviewer 1s responsible for going through all audit working papers and initialing
them for completeness and compliance to the quality standards as stipulated by the

Auditor General of Kaduna State. The first stage reviewer then documents any review
comments on the reviewer’s sheet and also indicates on the working papers with a red
pen that there is a review comment.

The second stage reviewer is responsible for ensuring that the first stage reviewer has
completed the work adequately. These review sheets should be used throughout the
audit files. The Auditor should also complete the Audit summary memorandum (Refer
to working paper ZE - Audit Summary Memorandumj.

For section C, the financial statements should be supported by the relevant supporting
statement and references should be made to the lead schedule from the individual
account areas. A checklist for the financial statements is included in section - Events
subsequent to the financial statement being prepared (and before they are published)
should be considered. In addition, this section should include a management
representation letter,

For section O, the management leiter, the underlying audit queries should bo chenged
for all revisions made to management letters. Therefore, the final managoosony tetter
can e referenced to the audit guanies {revised) anad should be tho anly movagomart
fetter on file, (Refer to worky g saner 2F - Exairiple of imanageinens Lotterd,

e

(G

iV (B). Quality Control

37.

38.

39.

Quality control entails the roview of wark performed by a lower or other Auditor by
his/her superior or colleague during the audit. The Auditor should implement auatity
controt procedurcs for each audit to provide reasonable assurance that:

a. Tne audit complies with professicona: standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements

b. The audit renart issued is tppropriate in the circumstances,

Quatity control procedures should be performed by the engagemoent tecam for every
individual audit engagement. Thesc procedures are performed by members of the audit
team. on different levels including the person with dclegated responsibilily for the
audit (the superior Auditor). The guality control procecdures are designed to ensure that
each team member takes part in the responsibility for the overall quality of the audit
assigrmeaent,

The Tcam Leador has the primary task as regards quality control for each audit
component while the Director takes responsibility for the averall quality on each audit
assignment. The Director should throughout the audit monitor compliance of the audit
team with ethical requirements. If any non-compliance comes to light, appropriate
action should be taken by him/her (the Director).
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Carrying out Quality Contro! Procedures

40,

41.

42,

The Overall quality control questionnaire contains a series of procedures which were
developed to monitor the compliance with the auditing standards throughout the
audit. These procedures should be carried out by the audit team members at the
different levels.

The purpose of the quality control procedure is to ensure that the principles of the
Financial Audit Manual have been followed during the audit and that sufficient,
appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to support the audit opinion, including
the documentation and justification of significant professional judgments,

Quality control offers benefits in the following ways:

It enables the identification and sharing of good practices with members of staff

b. It discovers weaknesses in the audit process and helps to identify training and

development strategy training requirements within the Office of the Auditor
General of Kaduna State

c. It promotes consistency of audits and conseguently reporting, enabling
benchmarking between reports.

Quality Control throughout the Audit

43.

44.

The review process can be divided into the following levels:

First level lowest level of review: Team Leader will review the work of Team Members
under him/her.

Second level - at this level, review is done by the Deputy Director befare it is used to
prepare the preliminary report for review by the Director

Third level - The reviewed report is confirmed by the Director before it is used to
prepare the final report for the Auditor-General

All levels of review should consider the following fundamental issues during the review

process of an audit file:

a. Ali required working papers and procedures have been adequately completed, signed by

preparer and reviewer, dated and cross-referenced. When a working paper of
procedural steps is omitted, adequate reasons are to be given

The audited financial statements (and other relevant audited information) have been
identified and clearly linked to the audit

Knowledge of the entity obtained is adequate to inform Auditor’s decision relating to
the audit approach

Conclusions were adequately drawn and supported by appropriate and sufficient audit
evidence

Significant deviations from the overall audit plan and any changes in the scope of the
audit have been documented

Adeguate level of audit coverage has been obtained for material areas
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45.

L.

All significant professional judgments made have been documented and are supported
by appropriate audit cvidence

The audit was conducted in accordance with the relevant audit approach, guidelines
and other directives

All significant audit matters have been resolved or have been appropriately reported
to management in the management letter as well as in the audit report

The work performed and results obtained have been adequately documented

Based on the underlying audit work and findings, the correct audit opinion has been
expressed

Reported findings are supported by adequate and sufficient audit evidence.

The working papers should be reviewed as far as possible immediatety after each segment
of the work has been completed (Refer to 2G - Quality control questionnaire working
paper). Timely review provides better control over the quality of work and the time
consumed in its performance. Normally, the reviewer will be on a higher level than the
preparer.

Independent Quality Review System

46,

47.

Besides the quality control described above, there shall also be an independent review
of randomly selected audits by:

A central unit of quality assurance team

A sporadic peer review system of a sample of completed audits for each period.

These procedures shall form part of the overall guality policies and processes of the
Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna State.
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ANNEXTURE

WORKING PAPERS
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WP 1A CODE OF ETHICS DECLARATION

Auditee: Reviewed by: | Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1

Prepared by: Level 2

Rank: Level 3

Date:

{This declaration should be completed by all audit team members including management
responsible for the audit]

CODE OF ETHICS DECLARATION

Audited entity: finsert the name of the audited entity]

Financial year audited: finsert the date of the financial year-end}

For the purposes of the audit of [insert the name of the audited entity], | confirm that:

1.

2.

Myself, or my any members of my immediate family do not have a financial interest' in
the finsert the name of the audited entity].

| do not have any business relationships with the audited entity or any of its directors,
officers and employees.

| am not, and have not been in the last two financial years, an officer, employee or
director of the audited entity.

| do not have any immediate or close family member(s)® that currently hold(s) a
financial reporting and oversight role® at the audited entity or held such a position
during the financial year under audit.

| do not have any other relationship with any director officer and employee of the
entity under audit that may impair my independence.

| understand the requirements in the INTOSAI Code of Ethics as far as:

| should exercise due care and perform the audit in a professional manner and to the
best of my abilities.

I shoutd perform the audit with honesty, integrity, impartiality and political neutrality.
The confidentiality of information obtained during the audit process and that | should
not disclose such information to third parties.

Circumstances which may impair my compliance with the above statements for the
audit:

[List circumstances where applicable]

DECLARATION

I, the undersigned fully understand the requirements and responsibilities contained in the
Code of Ethics. Where applicable, | have documented the circumstances which may impair my
compliance.

-------

Name of team member Rank Signature of team member

' Induding the ownership of shares, loans or guaraniees 1o or from the enlity, its directors or officers.

7 Including any dependents of the team member, parents, step-parents, children, step-children and siblings

* A financial reporting oversight rale refers to those persons exercising influence over the accounting records or financial
stalements. This woukd include a member of the beard of directors or similar governing body, chief executive officer, president,
chief financial afficer, chief operating officer, general counsel, chief acccunting officer, controller, director of internal audit, and
director of financial reporting, treasurer, or any equivalent position.
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CONCLUSION FOR THE AUDIT

[This conclusion should be signed once-off for the audit by the person responsible for the
audit]

Threats identified by team members Actions taken to address the threats

After consideration of the above declarations by the audit team and interviews with team
members, | conclude that the all the requirements contained in the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants are understood and met for the audit engagement. Any threats to
the audit teams’ independence have been eliminated or reduced to an acceptable level.

Signature of person responsible for the report Date
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WP 1B AUDIT ENGAGEMENT LETTER

Auditee: Reviewed by: | Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1

Prepared by: Level 2

Rank: Level 3

Date: Date:

On Letterhead of Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna State
Audit of the [insert name of audited entity] performed by our Auditor General
Addressee [Applicable title of the accounting officer]

Date

Dear Sir / Madam

The financial statements of finsert the name of the audited entity] for the year ended finsert
relevant date] are subject to audit by the Auditar General in terms of [Refer to the relevant
section of the act],

The purpose of this letter is to outline:

The terms of the audit engagement and the nature, and limitations, of the annual audit
The respective responsibilities of our auditor and the management of the [insert name of
audited entity] in the annual audit.

The terms of the audit engagement are set out below. This letter will remain effective
until a new aadit engagement letter is issued.

Objective(s) of the Audit
The objective(s) of the annual audit are:

To express an independent opinion on the financial statements prepared in accordance
with [the applicable financial reporting framework] and legislation. These financial
statements compnse the balance sheet as at [insert relevant date}, the income
statement, statement of changes inequity and cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting poticies and other explanatory
information.

{insert any additional audit objectives e.g. the evaluation of compliance with authorities
or internal controls, where applicable].

This letter sets forth our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement,
and the nature and scope of the services we will provide. Our audit will be conducted
with the objective of our expressing an opinion on the financial statements as well as the
compliance with relevant laws and regulations applicable to financial matters [also refer
to any other reporting responsibilities if any].

Responsibilities of the Auditor
Our audit will be conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing.

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit ta abtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
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from material misstatements. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the judgment of the Auditors, including the assessment of the risks of
matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used, the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We do not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the
financial statements or compliance with all applicable legistation.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent limitations of
internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements may not
be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordanceé with
the International Standards on Auditing,

In-making our risk assessments, we consider internal control retevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. However, we
will report or communicate to you in writing concerning any significant deficiencies in
internal control relevant to the audit of the financial statements that we have
identified during the audit.

While the Auditor is not directed to reporting the following, we will report these items if
we become aware of them during the course of the audit:

* Non-effective performance of operations - relates to management’s responsibitity to

 undertake activities in an effective and efficient manner.

* Instances of non-compliance with authorities - relates to management’s responsibility to
undertake activities, use resources, and fulfill accountability requirements, in accordance
with authority granted by the legislature and all other relevant directions.

» Waste - relates to management's responsibility to obtain and apply resources in an
economical manner, without any public money being wasted.

* Instances of abuse - relates to management's resporsibility to meet the expectations of
the legislature and the public as they relate to appropriate standards of behavior.

Responsibilities of management
The audit will be conducted on the basis that management has responsibility:
a. To prepare financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting
framework] and in the manner required by the Constitution of the Federai Republic of
Nigeria, 1999 (as amended)

b. To establish and maintain internal controts necessary in order to:
1. Enable the preparation of financial statements that arc free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and
ii. Provide reasonable assurance that adopted policies and prescribed procedures
are adhered to and errors and irregularities, including fraud and illegal acts are
prevented or detected.
C. To provide us with access to-




i.  All information which is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
such as records, documentation and other matters;

ii. Any additional information that we may request from management for the
purpose of the audit; and

d. Unrestrictad access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it necessary
to obtain audit evidence.

As part of the audft process, we will request from management and, where appropriate, those
charged with governance, written confirmation concerning representations made to us in
conrection with the audit.

The following are the key deliverables and target dates that should be met by both parties:

-

100

Activity Responsibility Target
date
Opening meeting between our Auditor | [Management of the audit | [insert
General's Offite"and the management of | team and the audited | target
the audited entity to discuss the Overall | entity at relevant levels] dates]
Audit-Strategy.
1. | Meeting between the Auditor General’s | [Group [Supervisor/Team
Office and the management of the!|lead and the audited
 audited entity to discuss the Qverall Audit | entity at relevant fevels]
Strategy.- '
2. | Request information from audited entity. | Team Lead
3. | Submitinformation requested for audit. | Management of the audited
' entity
4. 7 Issue’ ~interim _ management . letter to | Team Lead
audited entity.
5. | Submit written response to interim | Accounting Officer
managefment *~etter to . the Auditor | -
General.
6. | Meeting between Auditor General’s Office | Group ~ Supervisor  and
and the management of  the audited | management of audited
entity to dis¢ss the management letter | entity
findings=-
7. T$Ubmit  fmancial statements and | Management of the audited
supporting file (Trial balance, lead | entity
Lschedites and ledger) to auditors.
|'8. | IsRie management representation letter. | Accounting Officer
9. Lissué'fibal management letter. Audit Chief
10. £&ubmit written response to management | Accounting Officer
_ pdetter to the Auditor General.
11. | Meeting between Audit Team and | [Audit Chief/Group
I management of the audited entity to | Supervisor/Team Lead and
discuss the management letter findings. the audited entity]
12. | issue approved audit opinion to audited | Audit Chief
entity.




Agreement to Terms

This letter will remain effective until it is replaced. We shall be grateful if you could confirm
your agreement to the terms of this letter by signing and returning the enclosed copy, or let
us know if the terms of our €ngagement are not in accordance with your understanding.

We look forward to full cooperation from your staff during our audit.
Yours faithfully

AUDITOR-GENERAL OF KADUNA [ACCOUNTING OFFICER]
STATE




WP 1€
ANALYTICAL REVIEW

[This working paper is to be completed on excel spreadsheet]

Auditee: Reviewed by: Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1
Prepared by: Level 2
Rank: Level 3
Date:
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WP 1D REVIEW OF INTERNAL AUDIT

Auditee: Reviewed Name Post Date
by:
Period end: Level 1
Prepared Level 2
by:
Post: Level 3
Date:
Assessment questions Result Record of | Wp. Reference
Yes/No | work done

Overall evaluation

1.

Does the audited entity have an internat
audit function?

2.

Does the Internal Audit Unit (lA) contain an
adequate proportion of competent, properly
trained and experienced auditors?

Is there adequate allocation of staff and
other resources that correspond with the |A
needs? .

Does internal audit report directly to the
accounting officer or external oversight
mechanisms  (audit committee) where
applicable?

Is the A function separated from the
operations of the audited entity?

Is there a written provision from the
accounting officer providing IA unrestricted
access to all records, assets etc.. of the
audited entity?

Does the IA carry out its functions in
compliance with Financial Instructions?

Is there a formal document ({charter)
including the scope, responsibilities, purpose
of I1A?

Does the scope of IA include evaluating and
reporting on internal controls?

10.

Does the scope of I[A include the

consideration of the following for each

audited area:

« Compliance with applicable laws and
regulations including the annual budget;

» Reliability of reported information; and

» Efficiency, economy and effectiveness of
operations.

-11.

Does |A prepare annual plans for their
audits?
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12.

Does |A submit progress reports on a regular
basis to the Accounting Officer, Auditor
General (State) and audit committee (if
relevant) to show progress against the plan?

13,

Has A performed and finalised all the
planned audits for the financial year?

14.

Is there a documented audit approach
followed for the |A assignments?

15.

Does |A have a documented audit approach
that is in line with applicable standards for
|A?

Evalu

ation of specific audits performed

16.

Has |A performed any audits relevant to the
scope of this audit?

17,

If yes, have relevant audit programs and
sample items for the audit been identified?

18.

Are there files containing adequate and
detailed documentation (including working
papers) for the audit and evidence for
findings in the audit report?

19.

Are reasons for performing each test, the
result and the conclusions documented?

20.

Are conclusions supported with adequate
and sufficient audit evidence?

21.

Is there evidence that the work performed
has been reviewed?

Conclusion on overall functicning of internal audit:

Conclusion on specific work performed by internal audit

Audits performed by internal audit

Is this relevant
to the audit?
(Yes / No}

Can reliance he
placed on the
audit of this area
by internal
audit?

(Yes / No}

ftist all audits covering the period
under audit]
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WP 1E FRAUD CHECKLIST

Auditee: Reviewed by: Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1
Prepared by: Level 2
Rank: Level 3 .
Date: -
[ # ‘Nature and extent of audit progdures Record of Risks | Wp Ref
: work done | identifi
ed
1. |Identify and document the risk management
processes for identifying and responding to the risks :
of fraud in the entity, or indicate “No” where not
in place
2. [Review  documentation  of  management’s

assessments {such as risk assessments,
' special/forensic reports, etc..) and determine
whether management is aware of any fraud,
suspected fraud or fraud investigation currently
being conducted.

4, Review management's risk assessment and identify
whether any areas of the financial statements
which were identified as high risk areas as a result
of fraud.

Obtain reasons from management and evaluate
whether high risk is appropriate for the purposes of
. the audit,

3 Evaluate the evidence that management is
assessing the internal controls and that adequate
actions have been taken to address material
weaknesses identified during the year. o

6. By enguiry with relevant officials / other parties
document any concerns about the nature, extent
and frequency of management’s assessment of the
internal cantrol systems in place to prevent and
detect fraud.

[Is there evidence of management assessing the
internal controls on a regular basis?

Are actions taken to address any weaknesses
Identified in the internal controls?]

7. By discussion with other non-management
~personnel, determine whether unusual pressure is
| being exerted by management with the intention of
overriding any internal controls that may exist.

[For example management personnel often take
payment advices from the finance section to
authorise payments without validity checks by the
payment clerk]

107




Nature and extent of audit procedures

Record of
work done

Risks
identified

Ref

Scrutinise  the general ledger to identify
transactions that are unusual (e.e. outside normal
operations, the account balances appear for the
first time) or complex (e.g. the transaction(s) that
involve multiple or related entities, etc..). Where
such transactions have been identified.

8.1

Inquire from management about the rationale for
undertaking these unusual transactions and
inspect related documentation.

8.2

Evaluate reasonableness of the explanations
provided for undertaking these unusual or
complex transactions.

8.3

Consider whether the transactions point to a risk
area and document this where necessary.

8.4

Enquire from those charged with governance
whether they are aware of these transactions and
the rationale behind undertaking them.

Inspect contracts of major customers / group of

customer and where possible confirm these terms
directly with major customers/group.

10.

Enquire from the auditee's finance / procurement
personnel whether there has been any major
expenditure incurred or revenue received near to
the financial year end and their knowledge of any
unusual terms or conditions associated with these
transactions.

11.

Identify the following accounts or transactions from
the financial statements as a separate audited
component:

Journal entries (especially when large number of
entries passed around year-end)

Significant  accounting  estimates  requiring
management bias

11.3

Bad debts written off

11.4

Subsistence and travelling

11.5

Payments for overtime worked

12

i

Inspect previous audit documentation, documents
of the auditee, interview previous auditors (where
applicable) and consider whether any of the
following indicators may be applicable or has been
identified:
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12.1 Past irregularities or manipulations by
management.

12.2 |Evidence of theft or misuse of assets by
management {e.g. for private purposes). - i

12.3 | Management living beyond their means.

12.4 | Instances where management denied access to
- records, facilities, certain employees, customers,
vendors, or third parties outside the entity from
: whom audit evidence might be sought.

12.5

Complaints by management about the conduct of
the audit, any intimidation of engagement team
members, particularly in connection with our
auditor’s critical assessment of audit evidence or in
the resolution of potential disagreements with
management,

12.6 | Unusual delays by the entity in providing requested
infermation.

12.7 | An unwillingness to add or revise or correct
financial statements.

. 12.8 - An unwillingness to address identified deficiencies
in internal control on a timely basis (audit finding
are repeated / remained ocutstanding).

12.9 | Unwillingness by management to permit our auditor
to meet privately with those charged with
governance. _

12.10 | Frequent changes in accounting estimates that do
not appear to result from changed circumstances.

12.11 | Tolerance of management towards violations of the
code of conduct.

{Set out any additional audit procedures relating
| to identifying of fraud risks here]

* Existence of a fraud hotline?

Existence of a whistle blowing procedure?

| The following risk factors have been identified:

[All risks identified will be taken to the of Risk of material misstatement on financial
statement level working pap
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WP 1F OVERALL AUDIT STRATEGY

Auditee: | | Reviewed by: Name Rank Date
Period end: 1T Level 1 '
Prepared by: Level 2
Rank: 1 Level 3
Date: "

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The objective of the Overall Audit Strategy is to ensure that an effective and efficient
audit is performed, including timely identification of the need and role of specialists.
The Overall Audit Strategy is compiled based on cumulative audit knowledge and
experience, as well as important matters which have come to the attention of our
auditors.
This document is considered to be valuable, as it ensures that all expectations are met
and that the strategy takes full cognisance of significant management concerns.

1.2 During the planning phase of our audit, the following important matters will be
addressed:
» Terms of reference
+ Audit risk
«  Materiality
» Information systems environment
« Control environment
» Reliance on internal control
» The accounting policics and iaws and regulations
+ |dentification of components which should be audited.
¢ ldentification of risk per component
» |dentification of audit anproach
« Project managemenf

2. TERMS OF REFERENCE

2.1 Primary reporting responsibility
The annual financial statements for the year ended {insert the applicable date] and
the notes to thereto will be audited in terms of finsert applicable legislative
reference]. The preparation of financial statements in line with the [insert the
applicable reporting framework] of the [name of audited entity] and the maintenance
of the effective internal control measure are the responsibility of the finsert relevant
title e.g. Accounting Officer / Council].
The Office of our Auditor-General ¢f Kaduna State is responsible for the audit and
report on the financial statemenis in accordance with the audit approach of our
Auditor-General that complies with the International Standards of Auditing (ISAs).

2.2 Extent of report

In terms of the ISAs the Office of our Auditor-General of Kaduna State is required to
report and express an opimon on the annual financial statements of the fname of
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audited entity]. All matters raised in the previous year’s financial statements must be
followed-up and reported on.

A regularity audit carried out and will consist mainly of the foilowing:

* The extent to which the financial statements fairly present the [name of audited
entity] ‘s activities for the year,

» The accuracy, quality and completeness of the accounting records kept

» That authorised expenditure is substantiated by sufficient and acceptable
documentation.

» Sufficient and applicable internal control procedures are in place and maintained.

» Compliance with regulations, policies, acts and other directives.

» Compliance with the budget control procedures.

2.3 Compliance Audit

[include detail only if a compliance audit is planned]

Compliance audit includes an examination on a test basis, of evidence supporting
compliance in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that are
applicable to the [name of audited entity].

2.4 Report to management

2.5

2.6

Weekly or monthly feedback will be given to management on the progress of the audit
and weaknesses identified during the audit. The scheduled meetings are as follows:
{indicate planned dates if applicable]

a:

b:

c:

d:

Management letter will be issued on weaknesses noted duri ng the course of the audit.
After the interim audit, a management letter will be issued and be discussed with
management on {Indicate planned dates if applicable]. A final management letter will
be issued on {indicate ptanned dates if applicable].

The draft report will be discussed on the findicate planned dates if applicable].

Audited entity’s expectations

The management of the fname of audited entity] will be informed of any internal
control weaknesses noted during the conduct of the audit, the effect thereof and any
deviations from the prescribed accounting procedures. All queries will be discussed
with the [include title of the designated officer e.g. Treasurer/CFO] at the scheduled
meetings. Audit queries should be followed-up by management to ensure prompt
feedback to the audit team including necessary actions to be taken.

Specialised audits

Performance auditing [indicate if a performance audit will be done at the entity]
IT Audit findicate if an IT audit will be done at the entity]
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3. KNOWLEDGE OF THE ENTITY

3.1 General Background

Physical address of audited entity
General telephone:

Fax numbers:

Banking details:

Bank name:

Type of account:
Bank account number:

Attorney details:
Name: Address:

3.2 Mandate and purpose of the entity

3.3 Appropriate legistation
[List key acts and regulations, government policies and requirements of the
audited entity that will affect the gudit]

Laws and Regulations:
| Other applicable instructions, circulars etc..:

Accounting framework:

3.4 Management structure
[List the details of the accounting officer/council, key financial personnel,
head of internal audit etc..] o
. Name Rank Telephone Fax number | e-mail address
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number

3.5 Organisational structure
[include details | organogram of the organizational structure]

| -

3.6 Size of entity

[ Total staff composition:

Total expenditure budget:

Total income budget:

Sites, regional offices:

3.7 Operations of the audited entity

Nature of the entity’s operations:

Major suppliers of products and services (outsource to third parties):
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Allocation of activities to units and regional offices:

3.8

3.9

Related parties

Related entities Nature of relationship Nature of | Significant
significant risk areas
transactions identified

[for example entitiesi [for example
under the control of the | transfer
same Commissioner] payments]

Reporting environment

Annual report presented by the audited entity to be published together with

the financial statements:

Monthly reports as required by act (if applicable):

3.10 Prior year’s audit reports

Risks identified from the management letter(s) of previous year(s):

Risks identified from the audit report(s) of previous year{(s):

3.11 Control environment
[Overall conclusion from the internal control checklist - include details of risks

identified]
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3.12 IT Control Environment
[Include the overall conclusion on IT internal control checklist including details
of risks identified]

3.13 Overall evaluation of Internal Audit
[Conclusion on internal Audit]

3.14 Overall conclusion on performance of Audit Committees
[Conclusion on the Audit Committees where applicable]

3.16  Conclusion on sustainability or services delivered

A

4. PLANNED AUDIT APPRCACH

4.1 Nature and extent of audit

Based on the assessment of the risk of material misstatement on a financial
statements tevel to be [insert results of risk assessment: high, medium or
[ow]. The assessment of such risks will have an impact on the sample sizes
drawn during detailed testing.

As far as possible the risks identified on the financial statement level will be
transferred to the audit individual components. These risks will impact the
assessment of risk for the audited component and the planned audit approach
for the component.
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-

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Timing of audit

[Include whether an interim and / or final audit will be performed and the
timing of them]

Audit components

The following components were identified:
{List components identified e.g.:

Revenue

Expenditure

Transfer payments

Personnel expenditure

Assets]

Materiality

Any error and misstatement which by itself is aggregated with similar errors
and misstatements exceeds [insert amount of materiality] will be considered
material for the purposes of this audit. This figure was calculated based on
[insert what item was the materiality calculated on].

Due to other audit findings relating to non-compliance of legislation, fraud or
control deficiencies will be evaluated by considering the nature of the finding.

Planned regional visits

[If applicable, indicate the planned regional visits and how the relevant
locations were selected. ]

Use of specialist and/or experts

{If applicable, list the external experts that will be involved during the audit,
stating the extent and necessity of their involvement, e.g. tax experts etc..]

[Indicate whether the IS auditors will be used and the extent of involvement
required]

Involvement of other auditors

[if applicable, list other guditors that will be involved e.g. work done by
regional offices of our SAl, auditors of subsidiaries or divisions]
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5.2

5. ADMINISTRATION
5.1 Meetings and communication with management of the audited entity
Formal communication is established between the Kaduna State Auditor General and the

management of the audited entity, in order to accomplish a sound co-operation between
these parties. The following persons are invited to participate in the meetings:

Name Position Contact details

Audited entity:

e.9. Accounting officer
Chief Financial Officer etc..

Audit Office:

Audit director

Asst. /Dep. Director Audit
[List all other persons as needed]

Target dates

{The table below should contain the relevant dates for the communications with the
management of the audited entity and dates for the key deliverables on both sides. Dates
included here should be the same as communicated in the Audit engagement letter. Include
alt commitments made. See inserted examples]

No. Activity _ Responsibility Target
date

1. | Commence with audit planning Dep. Director Audit

2. | Meeting between the Auditor General’s | Management of the audit

Office and management of the audited team and the audited
entity to discuss the Overall Audit Strategy entity at relevant levels
3. | Request information from audited entity Dep. Director Audit
4. | Commence with interim audit Dep. Director Audit
3. | Submit infermation requested for audit Management of the
audited entity
6. Issue interim management letter to audited Dep. Director Audit
entity
7. | Submit  written response to interim Accounting Officer
management letter to Auditor General’s
Office
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No. Activity Responsibility Target
date

8. | Meeting between the Auditor General’s| Management of the audit
Office and management of the audited tearmn and the audited
entity to discuss the management letter | entity at relevant levels
findings

9. | Send requests for third party confirmations Dep. Director Audit

10. | Commence with final audit Dep. Director Audit

11. | Submit financial statements and supporting Managgment of the
file (incl. Trial balance, lead schedules) to audited entity
auditors.

12, | Issue management representation letter Accounting Officer

13. | Issue final management letter Manager

14. | Submit written response to management Accounting Officer
letter to Auditor General’s Office

15. | Meeting between the Auditor Generai’s | Management of the audit
Office and management of the audited team and the audited
entity to discuss the management letter | entity at relevant (evels
findings

16. | Issue approved audit report to audited entity Manager
AUDIT TEAM

Name Rank Telephone e-mail address

number
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WP 1G. ENGAGEMENT TEAM DISCUSSION DOCUMENT

Auditee: Reviewed by: Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1
Prepared by: Level 2
Rank: Level 3
Date:
Date of discussion: finsert date]
List of team members participating in the discussion:
Name Rank
Discussion Aspect Resolutian /

notes

Characteristics of the engagement (i.e. Legislative/ Reporting Framework;
Locations).

Reporting objectives (i.e. Deadlines; Key Dates: Final Reporting; Discussions
with Management).

Important factors that will determine the focus of the engagement team's
efforts (i.e. materiality; the control environment assessment particutar risk
areas and other developments),

Implications to modify the overall audit strategy.

Nature, timing and extent of the direction and supervision of engagement team
members and review thereof including the level of IT utilisation by audit staff.

FRAUD
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Discussion Aspect

Resolution /
notes

How and why entity may be susceptible for fraud including the identification of:

Areas or audited components of the financial statements may be susceptible
to fraud.

How management could perpetrate and conceal fraudulent financial
reporting.

How assets of the entity could be misappropriated.

The circumstances that might be indicative of earnings management and the
practices that if encountered, might indicate the possibility of fraud.

[ ]

A consideration of the known factors which:

Create an incentive or pressure for management or others to commit fraud
Provide the opportunity for fraud to be perpetrated. and

Indicate a culture or environment that enables management or others to
rationalize committing fraud.

A consideration of management’s involvement in overseeing employees with
access to cash or other assets susceptible to misappropriation.

A consideration of any unusual changes in behavior or lifestyle of management
or employees which have come to the attention of the engagement team.

Audit considerations such as:

Maintaining a proper state of mind throughout the audit regarding the
potential for material misstatement due to fraud.

How an element of unpredictability will be incorporated into performing
audit procedures

Which types of audit procedures are more effective than others to detect
fraud?

Allegations of fraud that have come to the auditor’s attention.

The risk of management override of controls.
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WP 2B MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER

Auditee: Reviewed | Name Rank Date
by:
Period end: Level 1
Prepared Level 2
by:
Rank: Level 3
Date:
TO: AUDITOR-GENERAL DATE

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial
statements of finsert name of audited entity] for the year ended [insert the date of financial
vear end] for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether or not the financial
statements present fairty, in all material respects, the financial position of finsert name of
audited entity] as at [insert the date of financial year end] and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with {insert applicabte financial
reporting requirement e.g. IPSAS].

We acknowledge the auditors’ responsibility for the accuracy of the accounting records and
the fair presentation of the financial statements and we confirm, to the best of the auditor’s
knowledge and belief, the following representations given to you in connection with your
duties as auditors of finsert name of audited entity] for the year ended {insert the date of
financiat year end].

Accounting poticies

The accounting poticies used by the [insert name of audited entity] are as stated in the
financial statements and are consistent with those of the previous year.

Accounting records and transactions

1. We as management are responsible for the design and implementation of internal
controls to prevent and detect error, misstatements and fraud.

2. We have made available to you all books of account and supporting documentation and
all minutes of meetings and no such information has been withheld.

3. To our knowledge the financiat statements are free of material misstatements inctuding
omissions. There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in
the accounting records underlying the financial statements.

4, We have no plans that may alter materially the carrying value or classification of assets
and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.
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Except as disclosed in the financial statements, the results of operations for the year
were not materially affected by transactions of an extraordinary or abnormat nature or of
a sort not usually undertaken by the finsert name of audited entity], or items relating to
a prior year.

All transfer payments have been properly and completed accounted for and has been
recorded in the proper period.

The Appropriation account reflects a complete record of all expenditure relating to the
financial transactions of the budgetary vote under our control as well as all allocated
funds (budgeted, adjustments and special authorisations by the minister},

The budget has been prepared in accordance with the relevant regulations and
instructions and is in line with set ¢riteria and objectives.

Personnel expenditure represents payments in respect of services which have been
rendered to the finsert name of audited entity] by employees on the payroll of the
[insert name of audited entity].

Assets

1.

2.

We have no plans or intentions that will result in any excess or obsolete inventory.

The [insert name of audited entity] has satisfactory title to all assets, and there are no
liens or encumbrances on the finsert name of audited entityPs assets in favour of third
parties.

All assets were maintained and were stored in good condition during the financial year.

The current assets in the financial statements are expected, in our opinion, to produce at
least the amounts at which they are stated. Adequate provision, in our opinion, has been
made against all amounts owing to the [insert name of audited entity] which are known
and may be expected to become irrecoverable,

Liabilities

1.

The [insert name of audited entity] has complied with all aspects of contractual
agreements that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of
non-compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of regularity
authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of
hon-compliance.

We have recorded or disclosed, as appropriate, all liabilities, both actual and contingent,
and have disclosed in Note ......... to the financial statements all guarantees that we have
given to third parties. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation,
proceedings, hearings, claims or negotiawions which may result in significant loss to the
{insert name of audited entity].

There have been no cvents subsequent to period enc that requires adjustment of or
disclosure in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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4, We are not aware of any capital expenditure projects entered inte without a legal

contract. There were no purchase commitments in excess of normal requirements or at
prices in excess of prevailing market prices.

QOther matters

1.

There have been no irregularities involving management or employees that have a
significant role in the accounting and internal control systems or that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

All known, actual or possible, non-compliance with laws and regulations, the effects of
which should be considered when preparing financial statements, have been disclosed to
the Auditor

All the recorded expenditure transactions have been appropriately authorised during the
year under review, except as disclosed to our auditors.

According to our knowledge there has been no fraud or suspected fraud affecting the
financial statements and the operations of the entity.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements, no transactions involving management and
others requiring disclosure in the financial statements have been entered into. We
confirm the completeness of the information provided regarding the identification of
related parties. The identity of, and balances and transactions with, related parties have
been properly recorded and, when appropriate, adequately disclosed in the financial
statements.

The required tender procedures have been followed and no commissions have been
received by any employee of the [insert name of audited entity].

Signature of Accounting
Officer



WP 2C AUDIT QUERY

Auditee: Reviewed Name Rank Date
by:
Period end: Level 1
Prepared Level 2
by:
Rank: Level 3
Date:

To: {insert the name of Accounting Officer or delegated authority]

Issued on: [Date of issue]

Audit Query Number: [given from audit query register]

Title of Query: fe.g. Missing Payment Voucher]

Amount of misstatement/error: N

Detail of Transaction: [e.g. payee, voucher number, cheque number]

Description of finding:

Recommended action to be taken by Accounting Officer:
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.cure of Auditor General
Response date:

Response by Accounting Officer:

| Management’s response to the query is documented here.

Auditor’s comments:
| " The Auditor considers __r-h?ﬁageaént’s Espd@- and decides on -}‘Zr-the?_dcﬁon_to be_|
taken (if necessary !




WP 2D REVIEW WORKSHEET

ﬁ 'Aaditee: q T 'Reviewed i Name Rank Datej
: by:

" Period end: L Level 1

: . i n
| Prepared Level 2 '
by: }

I | _

: Rank: j Level 3

1 i

. Date: T

— L N e

| WP Reference | Description of | Response and | Clearing of issue |
| review finding signature of (initials by

. | .
| ‘ Auditor ! reviewer)
| |
|

L __il e e S —
e ir L -
' |
_ _1 — . S .
| -
. _ _ S S N
B I
— — — _ J— p— — — - — - J—
| ,
4 | f
- _ _ _ T _ — _ .
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WP 2E  AUDIT SUMMARY MEMORANDUM

[ This working paper is to be completed for all audited components]

e

P TAuditee: [ I Reviewed | Name | Rank ! Date |
i by: .; }
| N L
j Period end: Level 1 !
I . _ ST S .ﬁﬁ;_ o
Prepared Level 2 ; !
!
by: I E
T e ———— R
Rank: Level 3 # ﬁ
|
- ] . S
Date: ! 'i
| | 3
Audited component: _
Financial statement balance:
1. Control weaknesses identified
[List control weaknesses identified]
2. Nature and extent of testing performed
Assertions {— Control reliance L " Substantive testing
Preliminary Have Final Extent of | Nature | Popula % coverage
reliance on controls control | substanti of tion for
controls been reliance ve substanti | tested | population
tested? testing ve tests / number
(Yes / No} of items
U R R R B tested |
{List all [High/ {High/ [High/ {substant _
assertions | Medium/No] Medium/ | Medium/ | ive | 1
relosant Noj | Noj analytica |
for the i i, tests i
Component _ ' of derail]
] . | |
— - — N — — -4 - — - — . 4 - !
| | .
| | | |
|
SR PR A A A R O .
[ L J _ L. o _‘
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Final audit assurance (substantive procedures)

fConclude whether sufficient audit work was performed Lty considering the
following:

* Nature, timing and extent of audit procedures performed;

» Coverage of all relevant assertions. ]

Consideration of compliance with laws and regulations

Compliance with the following laws and regulations has been given consideration:
[list relevant laws and regulations]

Where other issues were identified during the audit of this component, were
these followed up and where applicable brought to the attention of specialist
components (e.g. Performance, Computer and Forensic Auditing)

Departures from audit programme and/or plan

Errors / Misstatements

ACCOUNT 1 s | OVERSTATED | UNDERSTATED
BALANCE L . Ny (N)
#, DR | (CR DR | (R

|

|
e _ , L ]

rl

.f

|
|
| L |




3.

Conclusign

Description | - - Conclusion

Risk of material misstatement was correctly identified for
the audited component. ‘ ‘

- Audit work performed for the audit component is sufficient
and appropriate in order to express an opinion. | |

Sample tested has provided a reasonable basis for
| conclusions about the population that has been tested.

All matters raised have been appropriately followed up, |
| communicated to management.

Errors and misstatements have been transferred to the
Audit differences working paper.




WP 2F MANAGEMENT LETTER

T-Ruaitee_:ﬁir o i R_éviewe_cl |1i _Name H- Rank | Date 7
:i I.- by: 1 N s
4 e _ . i e
| Period end; | Level 1 !

f' Prepared | L Level 2 | - T

! by: '

- . L i T _.
F Rank: Level 3

Audit of a department performed by cur auditor General
Addressee [Appticable title of the accounting officer]
Cate

Dear Sir(s)

The financial statements of ........ccccevvenn.. . [Insert the name of the audited.entity] are
subject to audit by our Auditor-General f[or equivalent] in terms of
e [REfEF tO the relevant act].

MANAGEMENT LETTER: [insert the type of audit e.g. Regularity] AUDIT
PERFORMED FOR THE [insert date] FINANCIAL YEAR

INTRODUCTION
The audit of the .. [Insert the name of the audited entity] for the year
ended ............ {insert datef wwas compiered and the purpose of this letter is to bring

to your attention the findings that v-ro ovealed during the audit.
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SCOPE AND DETERMINATION OF RESPONSIBILITY

The audit was conducted in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing.
These standards require that the audit is planned and performed so as to obtain
reasonable assurance that, in all material respects, fair presentation 15 achieved in
the annual financial statements. An audit inctudes:

a. Examination on a test basis of evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements

b. Assessment of the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management

c. Evaluation of the overall financial statement presentation,

The audit will also include an examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting
compliance in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations which came
to our attention and are applicable to financial matters.

The matters mentioned in this letter are therefore those that were identified through
tests considered necessary for the purpose of the audit and it is possible that there
might be other matters and/or weaknesses that were not identified.

The financial statements, maintenance of effective control measures and compliance
with laws and regulations are the responsibility of the Accounting Officer. Our
responsibility is to express our opinion on these financial statements.

The audit findings which were identified during the course of the audit, are included
below.

MANAGEMENT COMMENTS

It would be appreciated if your comments on these findings could be submitted within
..{insert dates] davs after the date of this reporl for incorporation.

APPRECIATION

We would like to express our appreciation for the courtesy extended and assistance

rendered by the staff of the ... . [insert the name of the audited entity]
during the audit.

Yours faithfully

Auditor General {(State)




MANAGEMENT LETTER OF ..o . [Insert the name of the audited entity] FOR
THE YEAR ENDED ..........[Insert refevant date]

AUDIT FINDING

[ The findings included here should be identified in the working papers where the
audit procedures are performed and concluded

e.g. System description, test of control, substantive procedure performance
etc..]

RISK

[Either in terms of monetary misstatement, services not being delivered or
assets not safeguarded]

RECOMMENDATION

[Recornmendations should include reference to preventative and detective controls].

MANAGEMENT COMMENT




WP 2G QUALITY CONTROL QUESTIONNAIRE

Auditee: Reviewed Name Rank Date
by:
Period end: lLevel 1
Prepared Level 2
by:
Rank: Level 3
Date;
ISARef [ Yes | No | N/ Comments |
A
PRE-ENGAGEMENT ACTIVITIES
1 TlIs a copy of the engagement letter on ' 1SA 210 |
file for the audit? |
ISA 230.8 |
2. [Have the contents of the engagement | ISA210. | |
letter been agreed to and signed by the 9-10
Accounting Officer of the entity? -
iSA 230.8 | '
3. | Are audit staff available that have the ‘Eﬂ\ 30_0'.?-7' T ‘ )
_ degree of technical training and: 8 - |
]_ proficiency required to perform the
audit?
4. . Do all audit team membersl(_withmgpecﬁll 1SA 200.14 A h
5!emphasis on management) comply with k
| . the office’s requirements in terms of 154 230.8 ! | '
- independence? (Refer to Code of ethics f : |
l | working paper) | | | i
[ 5. |Do the members of the audit| 1543005 | | |~ [T T T —‘
‘ - engagement team fully understand their
| | responsibilities? 'h,
| " STRATEGIC PLANNING T T
-
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| 6. [ Have prior year's issues been identified |

as risk areas?

| 7. 'THWamé'_ihteﬁalma_ddtt_depeﬁti:fm"a_nd 1SA 10.'8_-f
their work adequately evaluated and | 10 |
concluded on?
8. | If it was intended to rely on the work i ISA |
performed by Internal audit, was the | 610.11-12 ‘
work evaluated and tested to confirm its
adequacy? 145
9. [Was a meeting held with the | ISA 240.15
engagement team to discuss the
susceptibility of the financial statements
to material misstatement? 1
10. | Were fraud risk factors considered and 'TSE 240.16 '_‘
! identified?
l 11, | Were preliminary analytical procedures | ISA
' performed and were conclusions on risks | 315.6(b)
l adequately drawn?
12. | Was the potential for non-compliance to | ISA 250.4 T
' laws and regulations properly evaluated?
li? Was an  appropriate  conclusion | 1SA 230.8 |
| documented regarding the risk of
material misstatement on a financial
statement level? ’ ‘ !
T4, | Was overall audit srategy dociment | BA 3009711 —
ISA 220 ‘
« prepared
+ approved and
+ discussed with the auditee’s
_ | __management? S
115, " Were the contents of the Overall audit | ISA 315.14
\ ‘strategy and planning working papers | ISA 240.27
i communicated to all tecam members? |

r‘

I ISARef | Yes | No |

|

-—

A

N/AT

r |
i

el

Comments

" DETAILED PLANNING (Complete for each audited component)




| ISARef | Yes [ No | N/ Comments
? A
16, i Were exceptions raised for control ISA
| weaknesses found? 330.16-17
| 17. | Were planning working papers reviewed | ISA 220.15 | - )
and approved prior to commencement of :
the audit testing?
18 | Was the internal control procedure in| ISA 330.17
Mlace for the whole financial vyear
audited?
| 19. Were the samptes selected for testing | ISA 530.6- _
reasonable and representative of the 8
population?
20. | Does it appear that the tests of controls | 15A 330.16 _
results  were  properly assessed and
" evaluated?
| 21. Was the level of control reliance | IS5A 330.17 o
I | appropriately re-stated where nccessary
! | after tests of controls? i
— . — i ]
' 22. | Were substantive procedures developed  1SA 330.18 !
i anc performed to adequately address all  I1SA 500.16 ; g
.relevant  audited  component;  and } |
| significant risk areas? : | ' ?
- - —— N H ! — —— I
23. T Were substantive procedures devoloped |~ 154 330 ) b
te adequately address all relevant | ) :
assertions’ 154500

"FIELDWORK (Complete for each audited component)

i

ot 3 proyadnre L

fee e



27.

26, |

ISARef [ Yes | No

Was the working paper completed to
indicate the source of the
documentation, direction of testing,
population size, and sample size tested

| and sample method used?

15A 230

N/

Comments |

Were ail relevant tests of controls
performed and concluded before
commencing with substantive testing?

28.

29.

Was the use of substantive analytical

performance and extent substantive

audit procedures?

procedures considered to reduce the:

ISA 520.5

154 330

Were all third-party confirmations
received back and differences followed
up and concluded on?

ISA 505

30.

Was sufficient evidence gathered to
substantiate  conclusions made on
substantive procedures?

154 500.6

Was the entire audit working papers and
audit procedures properly completed and
concluded on?

I5A 230

Were all relevant audit
queries/exceptions appropriately raised?

15A 530.15
154 230

33.

| 34.

Are exceptions supported by and cross
referenced to audit evidence?

Are well-supported conclusions stated
for each component?

35. . Is there a clear

| 36.

ISA
330.28-29

and traceable link

hetween the audited financial

| statements and the audit procedures

performed?

1SA 230

Were conclusions drawn on all queries,
exceptions and review points either
satisfactorily resolved or the level of
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ISA Ref |

Yes

No

N/

Comments

influence the audit report determined?

37.  Was materiality considered during the
evaluation of the results of procedures
i performed and were proper conclusions
reached in this regard?

ISA
320.10-13

18. | Were the financial statements checked
to determine whether they were
consistent with those of the previous
financial year and consistent with the
supporting schedules?

ISA 500.15

the completeness and accuracy of
" documents, other than the financial
statements, containing audited financial
information?

39. | Were procedures performed to ensure !

iSA 500

ISA 330

40. TWas a property tailored management
representation letter obtained which was
signed on a date close to (but prior to)
the signing of the audit report?

ISA 580

ISA 230

41, | Where a representation letter was
refused, was a possible limitation of
scope considered?

ISA 580

42. | Have analytical review procedures
| identified a need for further audit
procedures and have such further
procedures been performed?

1SA 520

AUDIT REPORTING

Overall conclusion

Management letter

. discussion with the Accounting Officer?

. 43. [ Was there a management letter for:

" ISA 230

44. Does the management letter set out:
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ISA Ref

Yes

No |

N/

Comments

| (a) Clear statement of the problem,
including  possible  consequences !
{weaknesses in internat control); i

ISA 230

| (b) Practical and cost-effective
recommendations in terms of non-
existing or non-functioning internal
controls;

ISA 220

(c} Comments from the auditee;

{(d) Conclusion by the Auditor whether
the matter is resolved, unresolved
and whether it will be included in the
audit report

[SA 230

[ 45,

Where issues in the draft management
letter  were  resolved, was this
adequately evidenced on file?

46.

ISA 230

Was the management letter signed by
the person assigned by the Auditor
General to perform the audit?

47.

48,

LA

YR

15A 220

Was there adequate communication with
the auditee throughout the audit and
with the compilation of the fina!
P management iefinrs

ISA 230

SA 260

management of the auditee and wers |
these minutes included in the audit file®

Audit repori

. N - - LI -
. . P T B 5. it
Phie PRATIGRT0 iy e i

UL Teport?

Dicd reported findginas hoes n AT

CSUPPTLInG Sooumeniating

sAprT L e agre cprad e, — el
COWTRING M et el s el

S N L S (L NV T B B ST T

S UL

Toviowng mfornanan,

inp Adbiecnve o osope of the A

(b} Expression of opinton o0 the {iae il f

_statements; and

144

Were minutes taken at meetings with the

ISA 230

Were ali significant matters identified i0 62 707




ISA Ref

NS

Comments

141

| (o) identitication  of  the  financial  iSA 7G0 |
| statements and the financal year to
. whichitrefers? [ ] _
52. Was the correct audit opinion expressed 1S4 700
based on the supporting working papers?
ISA 500 |
ISA 230
53. | Is the format and content of the audit| ISA 700 o
report in accordance with the applicable
standards’
54, | Are reporting findings understandable, | 1SA 700
factual and adequately summarized?
55. | Were individual conclusions for the | ISA 230
separate components reviewed,
summarized and consolidated into a final
audit report?
56. | Have target dates for reporting been | ISA 220
achieved or otherwise valid reasons
I supplied? i
[ 57. | Is the emphasis of matter points adding | ISA 706 i
value to the reader of the financial
- statements? ’
| J i
58. | Generally, do the audit workih"é pﬁég; lllll i5A 230 | o i
the audit procedures carried out, and
the results of the audit procedures
support and confirm the audit opinion
furnished?

59. | Do the warking papers: o o |
- {a) Include indexing/signatures and 1SA 220 ! B o
dating by preparer and reviewer! - L o
! {b) indicate the meanings of audit 1SA 220 | ,
| ‘ _tickmarks? _ - —— L 1
: {c) Indicate the source of informaticn? ISA 500 !

l - _ - _ - .
_ i (d) Indicate the procedure executed? ISA 220 ’ ; J
L. ! ) _



by the audited entity, have been cast
& cross cast? -
(g) Conclude on the work performed?

ISARef | Yes | No | N/ Comments
A
(e) Indicate the purpose of photocopied ;154 230
_or scanned in documents?
(f) Indicate that all schedules, prepared ISA 230

ENGAGEMENT QUALITY CONTROL REVIEW

60.

Where the audit has been selected for a |
engagement quality control review
identify whether the following was
perfgrmed:

(a) Was a suitably qualified reviewer
appointed!?

(b) Has the engagement quality control
review been performed?

(c) Were any differences in opinion
adequately resolved?

. (d) Was a discussion held on significant

findings with the engagement quality
control reviewer?

{e) Have all the findings been considered

and resolved with the audit team?
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VOLUME 1i



-

Section |

Introduction and Annual Plan of Scheduled Audits

Introduction to the Manual

1.

This volume contains procedures pertaining to the routine work of the OSAG,
Kaduna State. It is to be read and applied with the main Regutarity (Financiat)
Audit Manual as contained in the relevant volumes.

The sections and the essence as contained in this volume are briefly given as
below:

k.

{.

Section I It contains the introduction and the basics of annual audit plan

Section Il: This is concerned with the basic methods to be applied in the
scheduled audit of each component

Section lll: This section is concerned with the procedures for audit of revenue
of Kaduna State and cash book of Government

Section IV: It contains the audit of Payments which also include the cash book
and bank reconciliation

Section V: The section deals with Transcripts and Annual Expenditure
subheads

Section VI: It treats the procedures pertaining to Stores Audit

Section VII: This section treats the Augdit of Plant, Equipment, Tools and
Government Vehicles

Section V!I: It contains procedures for the Audit of Annual Financial
Statements of Government

Section IX: It contains procedures for the Audit of State corporations
Section X: This contains the procedures for the Audit of Payroll
Section XI: It contains the procedures for the Audit of Schools

Section XIl: It contains the audit of pensions and gratuities.

Objectives of Scheduled Audit and Guides to Annual Audit Plan

3. The scheduled audit guide provides the direction for the work of auditing of
State finances which ultimately entails expressing an opinion as to whether
or not the financial statements audited are prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with an identified/applicable financial reporting
framework and/or statutory requirements. In addition to this, it also
includes other audit objectives such as:
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4.

5.

= Reporting instances of non-comptiance with authorities including
budgets and accountability, and/or

* Reporting on the effectiveness of internal control.

The annual audit plan of a succeeding year-is developed in the last month of each
year. 1t is intended to be applied by each audit team for the effective coverage of
all State audits at the MDAs. The plan (example or template provided as Appéndix
1A balow) inetiembes frequency of work on each w makes up the work
of the W ¥aduna State

.1~-.

Thedyay-obhiBlimys-of the anmal G‘Udlt plan gemw jﬂaﬂ )
a. _.To emure that aﬂmcts of the Yol are cmed effectwely

‘l’

To prowde a guide c;oncernmg the staff resources required by
each group

C. To determine the time frame within which each component of the
audit is to be completed (e.g. a component that is covered
monthly must be completed within two weeks)

d. To ensure that the right attention is given to each component

e. To determine the allocation of staff to respective audit duties

To enhance the effectiveness of the entire audit function

Responsibility

6.

Responsibility for the preparation of the Audit Plan rests with the Unit
Heads. The plans are initially developed in draft and discussed with the
Auditor General. When the Auditor General is satisfied with the audit plan,
it 15 consolidated, harmonized and distributed to the respective Unit Heads
for imptementation. The finalized and distributed Audit Ptan shall be the
reference audit agenda throughout the relevant year. in the case changes
are required in the annual audit plan, such amendment is prepared and
approved following the method described above.

Planning Factors

7.

In the planning of staff resources to cover the annual audit plan, the expected
period that staff would be on leave should be taking into account. Equally
important is external training and other factors that are expected in the normal
work situation,
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Appendix 1A

Mode! of Annual Audit Plan

146

S/N Description of Activity . Periodicity | Responsible Institutions |
1 | Revenue Collection, Revenue Cash | Quarterly | MDAs, EBIR
Book, Revenue Collectors Cash
- Book, Final Revenue Account
2 | Payment Vouchers, Payments Cash | Quarterly | MDAs
Book
3 | Bank Reconciliation Quarterly | MDAs
4 | Transcripts and the Annual MDAs S
| Expenditures by Sub Heads
5 | Stores . Bi annually | MDAs
{six times |
a year)
6 | Plant, Equipment and Tools Annually | MDAs
7 | Government Vehicles “Annually [ MDAs
'8 | monthly Transcripts Monthly | MDAs
9 | Statement of Assets and Liabilities | Annually | OSAG,KDS o
10 Investments Annually | OSAG,KDS
t1 | Consolidated Revenue Fund Annually | OSAG,KDS
12 | Statement of Total Recurrent Annually | OSAG,KDS
Revenue
13 | Statement of Recurrent Annually | OSAG,KDS
Expenditure by Heads
14  Statement of Recurrent ~ Annually | OSAG,KDS
Expenditure by Sub Heads
15 | Statement of Contingencies Fund Annually | OSAG,KDS B
16 | Development Fund Receipts a Annually | OSAG,KDS _
17 | Treasury Fund of the State Annually -
- Government OSAG,KDS
18 | Other Financial Annual Statements '
of Government
Annually OSAG,KDS




Section Il

Approach to Scheduled Audits

Objectives

1. This Volume deals with the routine and specific programs to scheduled
audits of the finances, the financial boocks and records of MDAs. Also, this
volume shall be read and applied along with Volume | (Guiding Principles)
and Volume Il (IT Systems Audit) of the Financial Audit manual. The
systems are intended to confirm absolute accountability and diligence in
the control exercised by Government officials at Ministries, Departments
and Agencies (MDAs) in their routine financial and accounting

responsibilities.

2. The broad guidelines and scope pertaining to each component are given
below, while the working papers (Audit Programs) are also provided at the
end of each Section.

Scope

3. The basic audit approach below covers the following:

. Audit organisation, allocation of duties and general control

a
b. Audit responsibility

c. Adherence to audit objectives and programs
d. Performing an audit assignment
e. Reporting

Audit Organisation, Allocation of Duties and General Control

4. Scheduled audits should commence with an appreciation of the entity, the
work load and the resources available. The human resources should be
administered suitably and efficiently to achieve the desired effectiveness.
The relevant Director assisted by the Deputy Director and the Team Leader

should design a workable staff arrangement for the realisation of the
objectives set.

5. Based on the Annual Audit Plan (Appendix 1A), the scope and related audit
programs, the Deputy Director or Team Leader shall organise the available
manpower tc cover the schedules of audits within the time allocated.

6. Audit tasks shall be coordinated by the Team Leader in a manner that promotes
the building of relevant working papers and audit evidence to support asscrtions.
Staff members are to be focused and apply:

147




-

7.

d. Professional Skepticism - recognizing that circumstances may exist that
cause material misstatements. It also enhances and broadens the concept
of due care and is fundamental for planning and performance of an audit.

e. Professional judgment by auditors leading to informed decisions and the
appropriate application of relevant knowledge and experience to the facts
and circumstances

1. Sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to reduce audit risk to an
acceptably low level and enable the Auditor to draw conclusions on which
to base tris/her opinion. :

Routinely (as appropriate}, the work output involving the achievements, and
standards required including the working papers of lower level Auditors are
to be controlted and reviewed by their superiors. This will promote the taid
down quality and also assure timely completion of assignments.

Audit Responsibility

8.

10.

Auditors have the responsibitity to perform their work in an independent
manner and shall declare their absolute independence of the auditee by
completing the Code of Ethics form at the assumption of duties whenever
they are posted and at the commencement of each audit period.

. An Auditor is expected to demonstrate exceptional ethical behaviour, Any

misconduct or improper behaviour also reflects on the integrity of the
OSAG, Kaduna State and the quality and validity of the audit work of the
institution (OSAG). The adoption and application of the relevant Code of
Ethics would therefore promote trust and confidence in the Auditor and
his/her work - the audit reports.

In addition, the Code of Ethics recognizes that the objectives of the job are
to achieve highest standard of work in terms of professional standards: to
attain the highest levels of performance. These objectives require four
basic needs to be met thus:

e. Credibility: There is a need for credibility in information and information
systems

f.  Professionalism: The obvious need for individuals who can be clearly identified
by the auditee, the employees and other interested parties as professional
persons in the organization

8. Quality of Services: There is the compelling need for assurance that all
services abtained from the OSAG are carried out to the highest standards of
performance, and
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h. Confidence: The auditee and users of the related audit reports shoutd be able
to feel confident that there exists a framework of professional ethics which
governs the provision of the audit,

Adherence to Audit Objectives and Programs

11.

12.

Auditors shall appreciate the standard objectives and the scope of each
audit as contained in the opening part of the relevant sections of Volume |
of this manual. The cbjectives shall therefore guide the performance of the
task itself and prevent the dissipation of energy. Also, each audit task has a
relevant and explicit program; these are to be applied meticulously. Where
required, a program may be extended in order to capture any issue not
listed in the standard form. In addition, the program is expected to
accumulate the relevant evidence for the drawing of audit conclusion(s).

All completed assignments shall be accompanied by the Clearance
Form/Inspection Report. On the submission of related audit reports or
findings, the relevant superior officer shall measure the performance of
each subordinate auditor, based on the quality of work, the accompanying
working papers and how far the objectives and scope of the assignment
have been covered.

Performing an Audit Assignment Effectively

13.

Auditors shall accomplish their respective assignments in a professional
manner to assure the achievement of set objectives. The critical or
vulnerable aspects of the financial process which are open to abuse should
be appreciated for the required emphasis.

14. Other basic audit methods are listed as below:

a. Plan each aspect of the task by sequencing the approach, based on
the recommended working papers {contained in the Financial Audit
Manual). Apply the relevant audit program as contained in this
manual (flow chart may be used)

b. While carrying out an audit task, mark out documents which copy
15 required to be oblained as evidence and request for these early

c. After each audit and when required, Interview those concerned in
an open manner, note issues that are of concern and where
necessary, prepare your notes which may form the basis for
further work

d. On completion of work, promptly arrange the related working
papers including any audit evidence obtained, assemble the notes
made, write and submit the related report to the appropriate
scnior member ot the team
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e. Keep the working papers in an organised file for reference
purposes and audit evidence; develop an index for the filing
system and arrange all files in a fire proof safe

15, The conclusions reached after each audit shall be supported by appropriate

evidences especially documentary confirmations, accounting breakdowns
and analysis which shall form part of the working papers. The working
papers shall be appropriately referenced, arranged and listed in a manner
that enhances easy location and use even when the initial Auditor who
performs the task is not available.

16. Audit working file would include the following:

i.  Relevant laws creating the institution

ii.  Bye-laws and regulations guiding its activities

1. Audit plan, program objectives and scope

iv.  Engagement letter (where applicable)

v. Information about the entity and its operation

vi.  Notes on the accounting systems and procedures
vil.  Audit risks and risks assessment
viii. Procedures followed, tests performed

ix. Evidence obtained from audit procedure carried out

x. Account names of third parties, flow chart and internal

questionnaire

xi.  Approved budget, expenditure warrants, AlEs
xii.  Agreements, loan covenants, and contract documents
xiii.  Balance sheet (make up of assets and liabilities)

xiv.  Bank reconciliation statements
xv. Financial statements and other accounting kalances
xvi. Date and Initials of preparer and reviewer of the working papers

Audit Reporting

17.

18.

Audit findings {exceptions} should be raised and documented in the required
format (see Volume 1) as socn as discovered. These findings are communicated to
the auditee through the following available means:

a. Formal query (this could sometimes be discussed with the auditee)
b. Management letter; and
€. Audit report.

A query is an initial method of communicating with the accounting officer to the
relevant division heads where the queries reside. This way, management is
provided the opportunity to provide feedback and additional information. It is
advised that the number of gueries should as much as possible be minimized. Team
Leader should rather assemble the queries and send them at the same time
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19.

20.

21,

Unresolved material findings which will be considered far reporting should
nonetheless always be included (and this way repeated) in the management letter.
Repeating unresolved findings will alert management to the items that will
potentially appear in the audit final repert. This will ensure that audit reports do
not contain issues that will ‘surprise” management.

The management letter is normally issued at the end of the engagement
summarising all unresolved findings previously raised in queries and any new issues
not yet raised. Management is requested to provide comments on the findings
raised in the management letter. The management letter should be issued and
signed by the Auditor General or any officer he delegates to so do. All unresolved
issues in the management letter shall then form part of the annuat report of the
Auditor General Kaduna State.

The final audit report prepared and signed by the Auditor General will be
presented to the House of Assembly through the Public Accounts Committee of the
House.
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Section |l

Revenue Audit

Objectives

1. The key objective of the revenue collection and revenue cash book audit
are:

a. To confirm that the relevant laws, rules and regulations are adhered
to in the collection, accounting and generat control regarding the
revenue of Government

b. Specifically, to verify and confirm:

i.  The timely collection of revenue

i That actual amounts due are collected and recognized

iii.  That official Kaduna State Government receipts are issued for atl
revenue collected

iv. That ali income is banked within one working day and all

payments through pay-direct system are confirmed to the bank
statements

v. That the amounts collected are accurately documented and
correctly accounted for in the relevant books/records

vi. That the required returns are rendered
vii. That relevant accounting summaries are prepared and rendered
viii.  That required reconciliations are prepared
Scope
2. The revenue audit shall cover revenues collected through:

i. Taxes

ii.  Fines and fees
iii.  Licences

iv.  Earnings and sales

v. Rent of government properties
vi. Interest repayment and dividend
vii.  Miscellaneous/sundry
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General

3. Auditors shall initially test and examine the system of internal control
within the particular institution as it concerns revenue collection and
accounting. Such shall include control over ordering, custody and issuing of
Government receipts, licences and other related security documents. Also
of significance is the confirmation regarding the preparation and rendition
of monthly returns as stipulated by relevant Government regulations.

Audit Focus and Summary of the Procedures

4. The Audit Program as regards the revenue collection and revenue cash book
are given as Appendices 3A to 3C. The basic procedures which Auditors
should direct their respective focus are summarised as below:

d.

At the outset, Auditors are to confirm that there exists valid authority
for each of the revenue being collected. The relevant legistation or bye-
taw, circulars etc., should be verified accordingly to assure validity of
practices. The applicable rates should also be verified

. The Auditor concerned should obtain a copy of the Financial Instructions,

relevant rules and regulations, in order to ultimately determine the
compliance level

Each Auditor concerned should obtain the revenue estimates of the
institution and determine the sources of and the available revenue from
it

. The Auditor shall confirm the authenticity of revenue earning documents

being used - official receipts, cash books etc. and verify that these are
printed, pre-numbered, and that they are supplied by authorised sources

. The Auditor shall ensure that appointed Revenue Collectors are trained

and are competent to discharge the duties and that adequate safeguard
exists to prevent the commission of frauds or misappropriation of funds

The Auditor shall examine the Internal Auditor’s work to determine the
extent to which it can be relied upon

The Auditor shall confirm that money has been paid to the bank before
official receipt is issued and assess the internal control generally. This
will enable him/her to identify the areas of weaknesses which can be
exploited for the commission of fraud or  misappropriation of
Government funds. Use of flow chart or a descriptive analysis of the
system can be applied here for effectiveness.
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Types of Revenue Audit

5. To ensure effective coverage, the revenue audit is divided into three parts
as below:

a. General Revenue Audit and Audit of Revenue Collectors’ Account:
This part is concerned with the verification of completeness in receipts
of Government revenue.

b. Final Revenue Audit: It deals with the completeness of entries,
verification of returns etc.

c. Audit of Treasury Revenue Earnings Books: This aspect is concerned
with control, receipt and issue of stock of revenue earning books. it
involves some key documents thus:

i. Revenue collectors’ Receipt Books (TF6A)
ii.  Treasury Receipt Book (TF6)
iii.  Licence Books
iv. Fixed Fee Tickets
v. Receipt Book Register (TF136)
vi.  Other Security Books
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Appendix 3A

General Revenue Audit and Audit of Revenue Collector’s Account

INSEItULION . e Period:......ccovee. Reviewer..............
Date......ccccoeveriannen
Task Detailed Work Comments Signature
Date
No
b Understand

the mandate of the MDA
Obtamn a copy of

relevant law/statute setting

it up and confirm conformance

accordingly

Il.  Obtain existing manual/
instructions; check compliance

accordingly

. Confirm the standard of
internal control standards;

obtain the work of the Internal
Auditors to gauge

the internal control level

IV, Obtain the revenue estimates;
determine the sources of

and the available revenue from

the institution
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Vi.

VII.

VIII.

Xl.

Confirm validity of documents

in use; verify that these

are printed, pre-numbered and
supplied by authorised sources

Ensure that appointed Revenue
Collectors are capable;

that adequate safeguard

exists to prevent the commission
of frauds or misappropriation

Verify Receipt Book Issue Note
(RBIN) and Receipt Books

to Receipt Book Register;

confirm correctness of entries

Authenticate correctness of last
Return of Used and Unused

Receipt books and obtain/verify

the audit file

Check receipt book 6A to cash book
Since latest return or since last

inspection {whichever is appticable) and also

check bank tellers to receipt books

Cast cash book since last return
or inspection to confirm accuracy

of totals/figures declared

Check paying-in totals into original
Treasury Receipts posted in the

cash book to corroborate the figures
shown; trace the two separate figures

to bank statements
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X,

List all Treasury Receipts and
trace these to Treasury Cash Book

X111,

Certify assessment to
revenue for the period

XY,

XV.

Confirm the receipts into
Revenue Register to authenticate

Entries

Confirm that all dues are being
collected promptly and that there

is a notice that the public should request
for receipts after payment; confirm
that no original receipt issued are

left in the receipt book

XVI.

XVil.

XVIN,

Ascertain that all revenue collected
are promptly transferred to bank and

then to the Sub Treasury of the
State; confirm security for unused

receipt books

In the case of fee revenue, check
that full fee and not part is received

Mark off all audited receipt

books from the Receipt

Books Register; compile receipt books

not produced for audit

Other commentaries
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Appendix 3B

Audit of Final Revenue Account

INSEItULioN. . ..o vrvirenee. PROIO .

Reviewer.......ccoo.es

Date......ooooeeeeeaeene,

Task
No

Detailed Work

Comments

Verify all Treasury Bk. 6 Receipts into
main Treasury Cash Book

For each transaction, check
receipts/receipt voucher to confirm
accuracy in both calculation and
classification

Verify individual Receipts into the
Schedules/Cards/Abstracts/Ledgers
using the subhead schedules and the
main revenue ledgers

Cast the Revenue ledgers to confirm
correctness

Vi

Obtain copies of summary of monthly
collections by the collection bank and
copies of the monthly receipts of
revenue by the controlling banks

Review the main revenue cash book
maintained for the controlling bank
and ensure that it was properly kept

Signature Date




VIl.  Check to ensure that the amount on
the credit advice slips of the
controlling banks are properly
reflected on bank statements and that
the amounts are in agreement with
the corresponding debit advice slips by
the collecting bank.

VIil. Extract the balances of the Revenue
Ledgers/Abstracts into the Transcripts

Compare actual revenue with
estimates and extract/comiment on
material variations

X Where applicable, check consotidated
Arrears of Revenue Returns and ensure
that they are

Regularly monitored by the Inland
Revenue Service.

Other commentaries

Signature/Date
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Appendix 3C

Audit of Treasury and Revenue - Earnings Books

InStitution.......ccvvinemisenmannn. Period

ooooooooooooooooooo

Reviewer..........ccceue.

Task
No

Detailed Work

Comments

Signature................

Date........

Check from the RBIN to
the receipt register, all
receipt books, tickets and
other security books issued
to the department being
audited

In carrying out the audit,
make no tick alongside the
serial number but tick the
RBIN number/date; draw a
small green line under the
serial number of the last
receipt of each batch
covered by the RBIN. The
RBIN will be endorsed TOC
{taken on charge),
initialed and dated

Call for and check unused
receipt books to confirm
complete and correct
numbering; check each
receipt bock to the receipt
book register

For partly unutilized _
receipt book, check each
into the receipt book
register
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Make a cross on the front
and back of each receipt
book completely used;
endorse the receipt book
register E/A (examined
and audited)

Vi

Compile list of receipt
books issued to sub-station
or branch for further
verification at such branch

Vil

Scrutinize the Stock
Register (also called Stock
Book Register or
Distribution Register) to
confirm any entry not
checked; call for such
omission

Vil

Upon endorsing all receipt
books, and marking them
E/A, rule a diagonal line
from the left bottom
corner to the right hand
top corner, initial and
date accordingly

Vil

Confirm that the Receipt
Book Register or Stock
Register is being checked
at least once a month by a
senior officer

Other commentaries
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Section IV

Audit of Payments

1. The audit of payments at Ministries Departments and'Agéncfés (MDAs) is
significant and should be accorded the appropriate attention by the
Auditors,

Objectives

2. The work of Auditors at MDAs aims at:

a,

b.

Safeguarding Government’s fund against misappropriations and frauds

Establishing the authority of each payment {e.g. Memo from Government
House, Warrants, etc.)

Ensuring that payment vouchers (PVs} are prepared for all payments and
that the PVs are presented for post-payment audit whenever reanred by
Internal Auditors

Certifying that all payments made by MDAs are properly authorized, and
also ensuring that the documentation attached to payment vouchers are
valid and complete; ensuring that stated payments are actually made to
the specified contractor/ service provider/supplier

Confirming that economic value has been recewed for every payment
made

Assuring the accurate recording of all transactions {cemmitments and
payments) involving the payments in the relevant Departmental Vote Book

Making sure that bank reconciliations are done in a tirhely manner for the
prompt discovery of any incorrect entries by banks and/or errors in cash
book entries by staff

3. To promote the achievement of the above stated objectives, Auditors shall
lay the desired emphasis by contmuously examining the level of internal -

control.

- Summary of Scope

4. The payment audit covers thiree bread sub components thus:

a. Post payment audit of payment vouchers: It involves:

the vouching of payment vouchers to confirm the genuineness of
transactions paid for
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vi.

the authorization of the payment based on applicable laws, rules and
regulations including Government circulars and the warrant or AIE
{memo from Government House)

the completeness of supporting documents
the accurate classification of each payment

the examination of the e-payment mode to confirm that payments made
are true and that each payment has been made to the accounts only of
bonafide recipients

the acknowledgement of the amount paid by Government by the
recipient (receipt from the payee)

b. Audit of the cash book: This involves the tracing of payment vouchers {PVs) to
entries in the cash book, and other accounting records (e.g. the ledger) to
confirm that related entries are complete and absolutely correct

¢. Audit of Bank reconciliation statement: It is the reviewing of the bank
reconciliation statements prepared by Government officials to verify its
accuracy and the follow up of any outstanding items, and to enquire the steps
taken to resolve such outstanding with the concerned bank. Ensure atl bank
entries are recorded in the cash books.

Key Control Issues

3. The key control issues applicable to payments are listed as below:

a)

b)

)

d)

B

Only expenditures included in the Appropriation Act {(annual Budget and
exemplified by the Departmental Vote Book or DVB} can be paid; the vote
book monitoring system shall be applied to ensure conformance

No payment can be made until all required steps are implemented -
complete documentation through the payment voucher system,
authorization and the mandatory checks have been ahserved '

All proposed payments along with documentary evidences shall first be pre-
audited by the internal audit of the MDA; only when the payment voucher

has been endorsed for payment by the internal aud'i_t can payment take
place

The electronic mode of payment (e-payment) and issuing of cheque (in
some cases) are the methods allowed for all dishursements

Payments are posted promptly into the cash bogk

Reconciliation of the bank accounts shall be accomplished monthly for all
bank accounts and checked by the Director of Finance & Accounts.
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Appendix 4A

Post Payment Audit of Payment Vouchers

Institution.......ccococvvminvian,

Task
No

Detailed Work

Comments

Signature..............

Date.......

Study the institution being
audited - its mandate, the
law establishing it;
appreciate its operations in
order to understand the
peculiarities and possible
cortrol issues

Review the process for
authorizing payments and
the role and place
accorded internal audit
function; obtain and study
any manual or
procedures/instructions

Call for and carry out
initial verification of the
batch of payment vouchers
(PVs) for the period
{month); confirm the serial
numbering of PVs; note any
missing voucher (serial
number, etc.)

Confirm that PVs prepared
and presented adhere to
Fimancial Instructions as
concerns: classification,
contents, documents
attached (contract papers,
invoices, delivery
notes/stores receipt
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vouchers etc.);
authenticate the
computations on PYs and
the accuracy of the
attachments

Check that each PY has
been correctly coded
according to the new Chart
of Accounts

V. Check and confirm that
photocopy of cheques/
cheque stubs and the bank
details of recipients relates
to the names on PVs;

confirm the
acknowledgement by payee

for the amount paid

Validate the authorization
of PVs, note any
irregutarity; confirm that
payments made (the PVs})
are valid and are included
in memos from Government
House/annual
budget/warrants;

VI

ViIl.  Confirm that the system of
DVEA system is adhered to
ie Vote Books are
adequately completed.

Other Commentaries

Signature/Date
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Appendix 4B

Audit of Cash Book

Institution.....covvveeeeevenenennnn, Period.....ccvrveeenns Reviewer........c.u.....
Date.........ccovermnanne. ees
Task Detailed Work Comments Signature............... . Date........
No ' ' . .

Assemnble PVs for the
period, check PY entries
into cash book, note any
missing PVs;

Verify PVs against Monthly
Schedules/Expenditure
Abstracts/Expenditure
Ledgers

Confirm cast of cash bogk
and cast of Expenditure

M. Abstracts and Ledgers

Extract expenditure totals
into Transcripts; compare
actual expenditure with
approved/authorized
expenditure,
note/comiment on any
deviation or excess

Other Commentaries

Signature/Date
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Appendix 4C

Audit of Bank Reconciliation Statement

5301 1 o T ] ORI Period:. e, Reviewer ..
Date:r e,
S/N Detailed Work Comments Signature
Date

Obtain copies of bank
reconciliation statements;
For period, checks items on
payments and

receipt side of cash

book with bank

statement.

Ascertain alt contra
items on both in cash

book and bkank statement.

Confirm that all out-
standing items on the
reconciliation of previous
period have been cleared;
obtain explanations for

any delay(s).
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Appendix 5A

Audit of Main and Supplementary Transcripts

Institution. ...,

Period.....cocoeenee. Reviewer...........c......

Date........c.c.

Task
No

Detailed Work

q

Call for the Transcripts for
a specified month and
verify the main ledger
figures; confirm the main
ledger entries against the
Transcripts according to
the classification in the
Estimates

Request for and use the

main journat book (the
Adiustment Vouchor
Schedule) to verify thoe
Supplementary
Transcripts, based on tne
classification in the
Estimates and the Below
the Line (BTL) accounts

Confirm the cast of the
Main Transcripts and the
cast of the Suppiementary
Transcripts vespectively:
verify the brought down
figures trom both
statements (Main and
Supplementary
Transcripts) using the
balance carried forward
from previous month

Comments Signature..............
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IV, Report on any differences
between the Main
Transcripts and the
Control Ledeger; check to
confirm that there are no
arithmetical or balancing
errors; confirm the
balances are correctly
transferred from previous
month to the month being
audited

V. Note and report any
difference between the
Supplementary Transcripts
and the Journal Book;
check to confirm that
there are no arithmetical
or balancing errors:
confirm the balances zre
Corrertiy rrarsterred Srom

rem—s e e g

Other Commentarics

Signature/Date
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Appendix 5B

Audit of Annual Expenditures by Subheads

INSEIEUEION .. verenereennn.. PETIO. Reviewer.................
Date......ooooov e
Task Detailed Work Comments Signature............ Date........
No

Call for the relevant vote
book and verify each
subhead's authorised vote
from the approved
Estimates; pay attention
to the description of each
subhead for any
duplication or
misclassification

~ Using the Virement

Warrant records/file,
Verify additions or
deductions of the
avthorised vote

Confirm arithmetical
accuracy of the balance
column for each sub head
after adjusting for any
addition{s} or subtraction

Confirm savings Or excess
position by deducting total
actual expenditure from
the balance of each
subhead of expenditure
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Cast the balances of all
subheads together and
verify the arithmetical
accuracy of the totals
arrived at for autherised
vote, additions,
deductions, balance
available, total actual
expenditure for the year,
savings and excess

Report on any discrepancy
between the figures in the

Subheads and those in the

columns
VI
Statement of Annual
Expenditure Under
approved Estimates
Vil

Report on any error in
arithmetic computations

QOther Commentarie:.
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Section VI

Audit of Stores

1. Stores in Government MDAs represent the equivalent of cash value; the
stores audit shall therefore be given the deserved attention through the
appropriate certification of internal control procedures concerning the
stores. The relevant Audit Programs are produced as Appendices 6A to 6D in
this section.

Objectives

2. Stores audit aims to:

a.

Scope

Ensure that all items ordered and delivered are properly receipted and
taken on ledger charge into the stores

. Ensure that all issues made from the stores are requisitioned for (using

prescribed forms), authorised and properly recorded

Ensure that stores are properly arranged, secured and controlled in
accordance with laid down regulations

3. Audit of stores shall cover all items i.e. Allocated stores, Unallocated
stores; Expendable, non-Expendable, and Consumable stores.

4. The audit of stores shall cover the following:

a.

Proper acquisition of stores item from the point of ordering and
purchase authorisation through to delivery

. Adequate arrangement for storage and security of stores

Satisfactory documentation - from the point of receiving through issuing,
Ledger entries (including inter - stores transfers) and write off of stores,
using stipulated Government formats

Proper authorisation of stores transactions involving ordering, receiving,
issuing, transfers etc.

. Maintenance of proper records of stores

The periodic stock taking and reconciliation of book figures against
physical counts, and prompt reporting and resolution of discrepancies
where such has occurred
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Task
No

Appendix 6A
Audit of Stores (Supply)

NS UL ON it e v e s sereees .

Detailed Work : Comments

Signature.............. .

Date........

Request for Purchase
orders in the period under
audit, confirm that these
have been made using
prescribed Government
stipulated method at the
level of a Local Purchase
Order (LPO) or formal
agreement and autharised
by appropriate officials so
allowed

Are copies of authorised
order document (LPO etc.)
hoing dispatched in
advance Lo ACoounts
depariment and stores for
tihe needed information?

Confirm that copies of
LPGs are being maintained
and issued in seriat
number order; verify that
cancelled LPO (all copies)
are left intact in the
booklet

Verify that all unused LPG
bocklets are firmly
safeguarded against
possible misuse by
unauthorised persons
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Confirm that there exist
an approved list of
certified and registered
suppliers, verify that
orders are made only
from the list of
registered suppliers

Vi

Verify that limits of
authority concerning
amounts in the
authorisation of orders
(LPO etc.) is being
adhered to; confirm that
there are no split in
orders to circumvent
allowed financial
authority limits

Vil

Confirm that appropriate
procurement procedures
(e.g. tender according
to Government laws)
were followed prior to
the final stage of issuing
order {LPQ etc.)

VIl Conduct regular stock count

and compare result obtained
with record per stock ledger.
Reconcile or investigate any
difference noted

Vill  Take sample (e.g. 10%) of

items supplied, make note
of the quoted prices on
suppliers’ invoices,
conduct a price survey to
confirm the
reasonabteness of prices
indicated on the suppliers’
invgices

Other Commentaries

Signature/Date



Task
No

Appendix 6B

Audit of Arrangement and Security of Stores

INSEILULION. ..o . Period

Detailed Work Comments Signature............... Date........

Confirm adequacy of

space available in the
stores, compared to the
volume of items stored

Assess the arrangements
made to prevent
burglary; confirm the
adequacy of measures
put in place to
prevent/control fire,
flood and rodents etc.

Check stock limits (max,
min, re-order levels,
reorder quantity etc.) in
place; confirm these arc
being followed; verify
the stores ordered and
monthly stores balances
applying statistics,
confirm there are no
overstocking in certain
poviod of the year

iteins in stores, find oot
why and the possibility
af such items becoming
ohsolete, unserviceable
or turning to wastes



v Check the arrangement
and adequacy of
appropriate storage
facilities {racks, shelves
etc.); confirm use of
available storage
devices and general
efficiency of storage

Other Commentaries

Signature/Date
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Task
No

Appendix 6C

Audit of Stores Documentation

Institution.......cvevveeeceenee.

Detailed Work Comments

Signature............... .

Date........

Verify the source of
stores items (direct from
supplier or transferred
from another stores};
confirm the preparation
of receipt documents -
Stores Receipt Youcher
(SRV), Verification Sheet
etc. and if transferred,
Store Issue Note from

- the transferor stores

Check to confirm details
on SRV against LPO,
Supplier’s Invoice,
Delivery Waybill etc..

Confirm that items being
supplied are inspected at
point of delivery to stores
by at least one officer
outside the stores
function and that proof
of the inspection (e.g.by
signing the relevant
document) exists

Verify that relevant
receiving documents -
SRVs are prepared
immediately on receipt of
stores
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Confirm the order of
issuing (normally First in
First Out - FIFQ basis
should be applied)

Vi

Obtain the authorised list
of signatories for
approval of Requisitions
and use it to confirm
Stores Requisition
approvals/authorisations;
check and confirm any
alterations on Stores
Requisitions and SINs

Vil

Confirm that issues are
not in excess of
quantities requisitioned
or authorised; check
signed Requisition forms
against Stores lssue
Vouchers

Vil

Verify that all
Requisitions and Stores
Issue Vouchers (SIVs) are
seriatly numbered and
firmly preserved to
prevent unauthorised
access

Vil

Confirm that all SIVs are
referenced to the
Requisitions and where
necessary to the tedger
account folios (especially
as relates to Unallocated
stores)

For all Unallocated
Stores, ascertain that
monetary values of items
are indicated on the SlVs

Crosscheck entries of 5iYs
to Ledger Bin Cards
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Where reguired, verify

Xl Sivs to Job Cards

Other Commentaries

Signature/Date



Task
No

Appendix éD

Audit of Stock Taking and Valuation

INStItULION.. i ienini s

Detailed Work Comments

Period.....cuueue,

Signature............ Date........

I”.

‘Ascertain the method of

Confirm that stock are
physicatly counted
periodically {at least
once a year) - at the
end of a financial year;
ascertain-the ’
procedures for stock
taking; confirm
compliance with laid
down rules (the
Financial Regulations)
and the involvement of
the Stock Verifier

Verify the stock sheets
{igures against the
Ledaer entries,
ascertain completeness
and accuracy of
balances

Test-check the
balances in Ledger
folios by casting and
vetting them

stock valuation adopted
and verify the adeguacy
in relation to the tvpe
of establishment

Confirm that the stafi S
who do the physical

count is not involved in

the entry of the Ledger
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Vi

Confirm surpluses
declared and check that
such are taken on the
Ledger

Al

Confirm stock
deficiencies, apportion
liabilities accordingly

Vil

Obtain the previous
recommendations of the
Stock Verifier, confirm
that these have been
effected and the level
of compliance; confirm
that a Board of Survey
was appointed at the
end of previous year
and that the related
recommendations were
implemented

VI

Confirm that items
listed for destruction
were duly destroyed;
verify the Destruction
Certificate

Test-check to confirm
the existence for highly
marketable items which
can easily be stalen

Observe physical
stocktaking of stores in
reality; confirm the
level of compliance
with relevant rules and
reguiations

Qther Commentaries
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Section VIl

Audit of Plant, Equipment, Tools and Government Vehicles

General

1. Government’s property, plant and equipment (aside from buildings) are
usually classified as ‘plant, equipment, and motor vehicles’. Tools fall in a
class regarded as items of store but which last long enough and cannot
therefore be classified as consumables

Objectives

2. The purposes of plant, equipment, tools and motor vehicles audit are:

a.

Scope

To ensure adequate and perpetual control over the assets of
Government

To ensure that proper records are maintained regarding Government
assets

To promote the maintenance of motor vehicles in a manner that
enhance their useful lives

To ensure that appropriate approvals for purchase of assets are
obtained as stipulated by relevant laws, rules and regulations

To make sure that Government is advised on a timely manner, when an
asset is no longer economical to keep

3. The term ‘Plant’ includes fixed and movable items owned by Government.
Such could encompass machines used in the office, or operational site
equipment etc. All plants are to be numbered as appropriate in numerical
order and recorded in a Plant Register or Ledger. It shall reveal the
Departmental number, name and rank of the officer in charge etc.

4. With respect to plant/equipment, An Auditor concerned shall;

d.

Generally, verify the physical existence of the item and also the
appropriate records. He/she shall confirm any records of damages
or loss of plant.

. As a rule, be in a position to confirm that all unserviceable plants

are arranged to be disposed off according to the relevant
provisions (Financial Instructions). :
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c. Be in a position to monitor and report any unauthorised
cannibalisation of plant/equipment

d. Observe and report unauthorised scrapping/sale of unboardec
Government plant/equipment

e. Generally, confirm that plant, equipment and motor vehicles are
acquired using Government fund allocated for that purpose and
with appropriate approvals

f. Be in a position to confirm that relevant Registers and or Ledgers are
being maintained and updated as these are due

g. Regularly inspect the performance of each piece of plant/equipment and
rmotor vehicle vis-a-vis the cost of maintenance and take note when such
15 no longer economic to keep

. Tools: In the case of tools and due to the diverse nature, the Auditor is
concerned with the audit of the records {e.g. Ledger) being maintained - its
completeness, adequacy and how timely these are being updated.

. Motor Vehicles: As concerns motor vehicles, the scope of audit involves the
following:

da.

The Auditor is to confirm that motor vehicles are being maintained with
adequate servicing arrangements. Proper records of the maintenance
program are also to be kept and presented for audit

The Auditor shall examine the custody and usage of each venicie; this
also concerns the keeping of log books (having recori: of kilome
made) by the drivers concerned who must record journeys m>ds uiside
the town or city of location and the authority for such trips

I'T equipment: The scope of audit of IT equipment involves the foilowing:

d.

The Auditor is to confirm that acquisition and disposal of 1T egu.,.rent s
properly authorised by designated personnel. IT equipment ¢ m--:rm
should be cross-checked that it meets specifications by an inde sendent

person

The Aucitor shall examine that the cquipment is properly imb
transferred to the right location, Asscts register shauld b

and routine physical check of the assets should be perfurr aodl S TTRS
existence.,
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Appendix 7

Audit of Plant, Equipment, Tools and Government Vehicles

INSEIEUETON. . et Period..................

Task Detailed Work Comments Signature...............
No

! Request for the Plant
Register or Ledger;
scrutinise and confirm
these are in existence and
that they are being
properly mantained;

Il Call for the register/ledger
of motor vehicles; site and
validate the existence of
all vehicles listed

ill.  Call for the relevant log
Books of motor vehicles,
check and confirm that -
details of petrol
consumption are entered
in each log book by
crosschecking from petrol
requisition book

IV.  Confirm that each journey
recorded was authorised
by checking the signature
of the authorising officer

v Examine the register of
private running of vehicles
by test-checking the
receipts issued for all
private journeys for which
payments have been made

Y Confirm that the private
running register is being
checked each month by a
senior officer
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Vii Verify that the
arrangements and records
kept for
maintenance/servicing of
motor vehicles are
satisfactory

VIl Confirm the adequacy of
-garaging and security of
vehicles

I1X Obtain and verify the a list
of unserviceable vehicles;
where no list is available,
compile one

X Survey the spare parts
available, comment on the
adequate safeguard of
such spare parts

Xl Check the system of
disposing boarded vehicles

X Verify the Tools store by:
checking the stores receipt
voucher (SRY) to confirm
any deliberate or
inadvertent omission in
the relevant record

Confirm that tools issued
are returned by checking
Xl the records

Xiv
Generatly confirm the

adequacy and
completeness of the tools
control and records

QOther Commentaries

Signature/Date
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Section Vil

Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of Government

Objectives

1. The Audit of Financial Statements of the Government is aimed at
authenticating the final accounts and reports received from the Accountant
General of the State. The audit process by the relevant Auditors is
significant since it is the basis of the report that is eventually issued by the
Auditor General, confirming the financial position of the State Government
regarding the year under consideration.

Scope and Responsibility

2. The philosophy regarding the audit of the annual financial statements of the
Government by the OSAG are stated as below:

C.

d.

e.

Responsibility for the preparation of the Financial Statements rests with
the Accountant General of the State who shall ensure that:

i.  The Financial Statements as presented comply with relevant laws
and the Financial tnstructions

ii.  The financial statements comply in all material respects with the
provisions of the FAAC Guidance on the Format of Financial
Statements.

The Accountant General of the State is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of adequate system of internal controls
at all MDAs which shall support reasonable assurances that the
transactions recorded are within statuiory authority, and that such
transactions adeguately disclose the use of all public financial resources
by the State Governmeint

The Auditor General for the State is responsible for the auditing and
issuing of a certification as to the fact that:

i.  The appropriate finzncial records have been kept in accordance
with the relevant faws

ii.  The Financial Stais s oresented by thoe Accountant General of
the State together . _?:'rz e notes and orther statements annexed
reflects the true ang {air view of the state of affairs of the
finances and accounts oi the State Government as at the relevant
date
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f. On completion of the audit, the Auditor General for the State shall issue
his/her Report concerning the particutar set of Annual Financial
Statements. A Domestic Report on the finances of Government which
shall contain sundry issues observed in the process of auditing the

accounts of the State shall also be issued by the Auditor General for the
State.

Submission of Financial Statements by the Office of the Accountant General

3. Not later than three months after the end of every financial year, the
Accountant General of Kaduna State shall present the financial statements
relating to the year under review to the Auditor General for audit.

4. Under the cash basis of preparing the Financial Statements, the following
statements along with the relevant notes and schedules are to be presented
to the Auditor General for Kaduna State for auditing:

a. Statement No 01 - Statement of Assets and Liabilities
b. Statement No 02A Statement of Consolidated Revenue Fund
C. Statement No 02B - Statement Capital Expenditure and Devetopment

Fund Receipt

Statement No 03 - Statement of Recurrent Revenue

Statement No 04 - Statement of Recurrent Expenditure

Statement No 05 - Statement of Capital Receipts

Statement No 06 - Statement of Capital Expenditure

T w 0 oo

Statement No 07 - Cash Flow Statement

Audited Statements of Accounts under the IPSAS Accrual System

5. Governments at all levels are expected to migrate to the [PSAS based
Accrual system of accounting from January 01, 2016. Accordingly, the set of
accounts to be presented for audit and upon which the Auditor General
Kaduna state would base his/her annuat audit report in compliance with the
IPSAS Accrual method. In consequence, the Auditor General shall receive a
complete set of financial statements from the Accountant General, Kaduna
State comprising the following among aothers:

a. Statement of Financial Position {(also known as Balance Sheet or
Statement of Assets and Liabilities)

b. Statement of Financial Performance (Statement of Consolidated Revenue
Fund)

c. Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity ‘
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d. Cash Flow Statement

e. Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

f. Statement of Accounting policies (these are notes, comprising a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes)

Procedure for the Audit of Annual Financial Statements

6. The annual financial statements are derived principally from the monthly
financial returns (the Transcripts) submitted by the MDAs which forms the
accounting components and are processed by the Office of the Accountant
General.

7. Tive steps required in the audit of financial statements emanating from the
office of the Accountant General are given as below:

8. Step | - Receipt of Documents: The Accountant General will arrange and
submit the following to the OSAG:

a.

Completed and duly signed printed copies of the Financial
Statements (along with relevant annexure/analysis and the related
notes) as concerns the period being audited.

. The payment details for the period (i.e. payment authorisation or

transfer instruments issued by the Sub Treasurer to MDAs)

The Consolidated Revenue Fund Cash Book

The Appropriation Act {the Approved Budget for the year)

Soft copy of the financial statements

Public Debt Statements {these are received from two relevant

agencies namely: The Revenue and Investment Department of the
Office of Accountant General, and the Debt Management Office)

9. Step 2 - Validation of Entries: The Auditor shall simultaneously validale
each Mandate against the eontrias in the Consolidated Revenue fund (CRF)
Cash Book and also the CRF it=ik % ztements

10.Step 3 - Authenticztion »7 #-riates: The Auditor shall examine each
mandate Lo substantiate tho sirpose of payment =nd the correctness of the
classifications

11.Step 4 - Analysis of Payments: The Auditor shall analyse the payment
mandates 1nto
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12.

TN T

Personnel

Overheads

Capital

service wide vote and
Capital Supplementation

Step 5 - Comparison of Financial Statements figures against Consolidated
Transcripts: The Auditor shall for each head/sub head:

a.

e.

compare the figures submitted in the financial statements against the
corresponding figures shown in the consolidated Transcripts to confirm
absolute correctness of both

Check the figures shown in the Transcripts from individual MDA against
the figures shown in the financial statements

Compare actual expenditures against the budgeted figures to determine
any extra budgetary spending

Verify the balances revealed by the Transcripts of each MDA agminst the
batances reported in the financial statements

Compare the actual amounts released to MDAs against the total
expenditure to arrive at the unspent balance; compare the fisures of
unspent balance against the actual cash balance in the Transcripts of the
MDAS

Conceriming loan servicing, compare the budgeted amouids wilh the
actual payments to determine any excess payment

Audit of Special Fund

13.

Th

5p

i8]

7

Lr

Jpeual funds of the Kaduna State Govornment are various. A of
dal funds involves the tollowing stage::

Tho Mandates for cach fund is abtained fram the Subs Treas

Obtain the bank stalemoent for each fund as well as the nfiow
Qutflow statements

SCTULINISE 2ach payinent Lo

VALT TRC DUraose n o oating the Tund sorarding the calooqt

e Ly . T I S DS e . P
Propare scibeaul 05 01 expEhinies 17 any that ars aos b
pUrmose ::=i' reating the findd.

L
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e. Carry out other audits in line with the recommendations of this manual
and the other audit guidelines/principles as established by the Office of
the Auditor General of Kaduna State
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Section IX

Audit of Corporations and Self - Accounting Parastatals

Objectives

1.

The object of setting audit procedures for corporations is to enable the
OSAG  discharges its oversight functions relating to government
corporations. The audit is aimed at achieving the following objectives:

a. To specify the criteria for selecting competent external auditors

b. To obtain assurance that External Auditors have complied with the
International Auditing Standards in carrying out their audits

¢. Ensuring that the audit is concluded within a reasonable time

d. Ensuring that issues raised by the External Auditors in his/her
management letter are resolved in a timely manner

e. Identifying areas where additional audit work is required and directing
the External Auditor to perform further audit procedure(s) on such
aspect(s) of the financial statements, and report back on such additional
audit work

Scope of waork

2.

The guideline shall specify the modality for the selection of a competent
external auditor and the ways in which the work of the external auditor can
be monitored to achieve audit objectives.

General

3.

Auditors shall initially set criteria for selecting competent external auditors
for corporations. This is to ensure that only the External Auditors with
requisite experience and skills are selected to carry out audit of
corporations. The selection of competent external auditors also gives
assurance to OSAG that guality work is carried out and this will in turn
reduce the level of oversight functions to be performed. The Auditors st .l
also develop a checklist for assessing the quality of work carried au . b, 1
External Auditors and oblain require assurance from the audit.

Audit Fecus and Summary of the Procedures

4.

The Audit Program as regards the audit of corporations . -ivon oo
Appendices 9A & 98, The basic procedures to which Auditors showia dires .
ther respective focus are summarised as below:
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i, Criteria for selecting competent auditars should be set.

ii. Database of competent auditors should be maintained by OSAG.

iii. The OSAG should develop a checklist for benchmarking work performed
by the

external auditors against best practices.

iv. The Auditor shall examine the External Auditor’s work te determine the

extent
to which it can be relied upon.
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Appendix 9A

Criteria for Selecting External Auditors

Institution:. ... Pertod:............. Reviewer.................
Date...ceee
Task Detailed Work Comments Signature
Date
No
. Confirm that he/she is a member
of a recognized professional body
n Nigerig
Il.  Check to confirm that the practicing ticense
presented is genuine and is issued by a
recognized professional body in Nigeria
IR _'Check to confirm that the firm has required o
practicing experience
V. Confirm that the firm is independent of the
auditee
V. Check and confirm whether the key Partner(s)
possess skills, competency and integrity.
Other commentaries
Signature/Date

_a
48}
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Appendix 9B

Reviewing the Work of External Auditors

Institution. ..o, Period................... . Reviewer.............. .
(O F: | 1=
Task Detailed Work Comments Signature Date

No

Obtain and review audit planning
memorandum with a view to ensuring
that appropriate audit procedures
have been designed for identified risk
of material misstaterments.

Review the audit procedure
implemented to ascertain
completeness and existence of
revenue. Confirmed that revenue was
remitted to the bank.

i Review audit program designed for
expenditures. This should ensure
detection of error or fraudilent
transactions.

V. Confirm that additions to property,
plant and equipment and inventorics
are duly authorized.

Check confirmations obtained for
trade receivables, trade payablos .

v. bank balances.
Check procedure impleriented to
ensure compleleness of liabititios a v
Vi existence of assets.
y Check the procedure used for ersurine
i

that all expenditures were that of the
corporation.
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Review the financial statements,
management letter and the interpal
control letters with a view of
identifying criticat areas of the audit.

Other commentaries

............................

Signature/Date
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Section X

Audit of Payroll

General

1.

Salaries, wages and other employee benefits paid to government workers
are referred to as payroll cost. The internal audit unit of each MDA shall
carry out monthly audit the payroll in detail while the external auditor i.e.
OSAG staff carry cut oversight audit periodically.

Objectives

2.

The payroll audit aims at ensuring that:

a. Adequate control exists over the preparation of payrall and the payment
of salaries

b. Proper records are maintained for payroll costs

C. Adequate database exists in respect of all workers and that these are
updated regularly as the need arises

d. Appropriatc approvals are obtained for the payment of salaries as
stipulated by relevant laws, rules and regulations

e, salaries and wages are paid only to authentic workers of the state

Scope

3.

7.

The main focus of audit with respect to payroll is 1o prevent the payment of
salaries 10 ghost workers and ensure that correct salaries are paid to the
genuine government staff and adequate records are kept for payroll costs.

As a rule, and in order to prevent ghost workers, a complete verification of
staft in all MDAs shoutd be accomplished at least once in two years. Data of
staff already verified should be updated reguiarly in order ta cater for now
staff and to delete the records of the staff whose emnloyments were
termination ¢r retired.

The detailed audit work of the internal audit unit of each MDA provides the
basis for the audit to be performed by the exiernal auditor from the 0OSAG
in the audgit of the payroll Consequentty, the external anditor from QSAG
will only carry autl the audit of payroil an a random basis, occasiorally.

With respect (oo oavred auch Ao auditcr 10SAG) concerned shail:

A, Gel fannbiar witt Do ot o wivnoe Sor criiplovess i the
statc

b Undcl’ t-.‘..-jljz f X 'h_’ NI q!:"‘(f],_-\ 4 .35}, \Il
pavment of salar

C. Focus aitontion oo oy ooatrols solal' - ond v payrnl

admimistration s order to identify o0y Lreash v the proces.

The oavioll audit process 13 provided i Aopoendin 104 Delow.




Appendix 10A

Audit of Payroll

INstitution......cccee e PETIO e

Reviewer......oveeees

Date...oovmeceeee .

Task
No

Detailed Work

Comments

Signature

Date

Obtain staff handbook to appreciate
the types of employee benefits
applicable to the public servants in
Kaduna State.

Validate the payroll schedule by
checking current report against the
previous month’s payroll schedule

V.

From the computer generated payroll
schedule, select a sample of staff and
ascertain that various benefits
computed correspond with those
specified in their letter of
employment or letter of promotion/
increase in salary.

In respect of variation inputs/payroll
advices, verify samples to ascertain
that these are authentic and that
approval has been obtained from the
Accounting Officer or a designated
subordinate before pracessing
additional benefits included for
payment.
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V. Obtain samples of payroll schedule,
cast and cross-cast these to ascertain
the accuracy of the amounts

Vi.  On a random basis, check the net pay
in the payroll schedule to bank advice;
investigate any difference.

On a random basis, confirm that
appropriate authorizations have been
Vil obtained before salaries are paid.

VIl Randomly check to confirm that
deductions made from the staff
salaries are correct.

Qther commentaries

Signature/Date
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Section Xl

Audit of Agencies Accounts E.g, Secondary Schools

General

1. To assure accountability, the accounts of all agencies for instance
secondary schools owned by Kaduna State are audited annually.

Objectives

2. The audit of secondary schools’ accounts is aimed at ensuring that:

a. Revenues recorded in the books are accurate and complete

D. Adequate control exists over recognition of revenue and expenditure
€. Expenditure are genuine and incurred solely for schools’ activities

d. Adequate control exists to safeguard the assets of the schools

e. Government policies are faollowed by the authority of each schoal.
Scope

3. The scope of audit shall cover the financial statements of each school for a
twelve-month period (from September of a year to August of the following
year).

4. An Auditor concerned shall-

a. Understand and be familiar with the laws and regulations
establishing the schools

b. Apply the relevant guidance provided in Section Il of this
manual for the audit of schools’ revenue

C. Apply the relevant guidance provided in Section IV of this
manual for the audit of payments concerning each secondary
school

d. Apply the relevant guidance provided in Section VI of this
manual for the audit of stores of the schools

e. Apply the relevant suidance provided in Section VIl of this
manual for the audit of assets of the schools.
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Section Xll

Audit of Retirement Benefits

General

1. The general applications of audit principles as expatiated above and in
other volumes of the manual are applicable to pensions and gratuities audit.
However, specific issues are to be observed for effectiveness and emphasis
as concerns the audit of retirement benefits (pensions and gratuities). This
is particularly to ensure compliance with the provisions of financial
instructions (FI) and Kaduna State Civil Service Rules with respect to
retirement benefits.

Objectives

2. The audit of pensions and gratuities of retiring/retired staffs is aimed at
ensuring that:

a. Adequate records exist for retirement benefits

b. Errors are avoided or kept to the barest minimum in the processing of
retirement benefits

c. There is absolute compliance with civil service rules especially with
regards to recognition and payment of retirement benefits

d. Adequate security exists over pension funds

Audit Procedures

3. An Auditor concerned shall: .

a. Ensure compliance with the provisions of financial instructions (F1}. A
particutar reference should be made to sections 1501 to 1510 and 1601
to 1603 of the FI

b. Ensure adequate records of pensions and gratuities are maintained for
all qualified staff of Kaduna State

c. Ensure that all required forms relating to pensions and gratuities are
properly completed and preserved e.g. Form 39 and Form 122.

d. Verify that records of pension are maintained for only the bonafide
members of staff

e. Ensure accuracy of computations of pension and gratuity
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Verify payments made during the year and confirm that only genuine
staffs were paid. Payment should be traced to the previous records and
bank statements

. Verify existence and adequacy of pension funds by checking the bank
statements where the funds are lodged or by obtaining written
confirmations from the fund administrators.
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1.0 Introduction

1.1 Purpose of the manual

The purpose of this manual is to establish guidelines and provide guidance on
procedures to be followed when an audit is conducted in an Information Technology
systems {IT) environment.

It i1s intended to provide guidance at the level required by the generalist auditor who is
familiar with the issues and metheds of IT audit. The guidance does not attempt to
present detailed specialist information on the highly technical areas of the subject. The
scope of IT audit work needed in any particular case must be decided in the light of the
general objectives of the audit being undertaken.

An Information Technology systems environment exists when a computer of any type
or size is involved n the processing by the entity of financial information of
significance to the audit; whether that computer is operated by the entity or by a
third party. A computer in this context includes any other related Information
technology. The Auditor should consider how IT environment affects the audit.

1.2 Impact of Information Technology
Information technology brings two particular problems for management and auditors:

. Computers and networks, like any technology, are vulnerable to breakdown and
damage. As soon as an organisation or a function becomes dependent on information
technology, contingency planning becomes important and must take sufficient account of
technical matters.

. Data and programs held in computer systems are invisible and intangible, and they
can be accessed or changed without leaving a trace. Management and auditors alike
need to take special measures to be sure of the reliability, integrity and confidentiality
of any data resulting from computers.

The Information Technology systems environment may affect:

» The procedures followed by the Auditor in obtaining a sufficient understanding
of the accounting and internal contral systems
« The consideration of inherent risk and control risk through which the Auditor
arrives at the risk assessment
e The Auditor’s design and performance of tests of control and tests of detail
appropriate to meet the audit objective.
1.3 Organisation of the manual

The manual includes six sections as follows:

s Section 1: Introduction,

» Section Z: gives a brief description of the 1T environment that is audited by the Office
of the Auditor General of KADUNA State.

205




Section 3: describes the steps for the annual overall plan and specific individual audit plan.
Section 4: describes the audit of the IT General controls

Section 5: describes the audit of the IT Application controls

Section 6 Auditing MDAs and the annual Financial Statements.

Questionnaires for IT General Controls and IT Application controls audits are included
in the appendices.

2.0 IT Environment in MDAs in Kaduna State

2.1 The IT Environment in MDAs in Kaduna State

The Office of the Auditor General of KADUNA State audits the accounts of the Line
Ministries, the Departments and Agencies {MDA).

Kaduna state Government is implementing an integrated Financial Management
system (SIFMIS) which includes the following compenents:

= Budget, Accounting and Treasury Management information system(BATMIS)
* Human Resource Management Information System{HRMIS)

=  Payroll Management System

« Computer Aided Audit Tool {CAAT)

= |nfrastructure and Network (I&N)

Microsoft Dynamic Navision {NAV) 2009 which was deployed to implement the BATMIS
solution in 2011 has been upgraded to Microsoft Dynamic NAY 2016 to address the
need to expand the implementation across other MDAs and 23 Local councils for a
State Integrated Financial Management Information System {SIFMIS)

Microsoft Dynamic NAV is a fully integrated relational database system that
maintains Financial, Budget and other business agtivities in a common database. The
main functions to be managed with the Application system include the following:

*  General Ledger

»  Budget

»  Treasury Management
» Releases & Virement
*  Projects

»  Procurement

»  Accounts Payable

= Accounts Receivable
» Debt Management

= Human Resources

»  Payroll

= Administration
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The review of some processes in the Accountant General Office revealed the
following:

* The Payroll of the Ministries, departments and agencies has been automated
and individual employees received their salaries through direct e-payment to
the Banks.

= The collection of all revenue in the state is managed by the Internal Revenue
service. All payments are made directly to designated bank accounts by
customers/taxpayers. These are automatically transferred to the state
gavernment account. The law has abolished physical collection of cash by any
staff of the service
The OSAG also performs periodic review of the accounts of Parastatals and Corporation
which uses Information Systems in their financial and other operations. The IT
infrastructure hosting the information systems arc located within the offices of the
respective organisation.

2.2 Scope of IT Audits in the MDAs

The main areas that will be covered in performing IT audits in the MDAs include the
following:

(a)_IT general contraols
These establish a framework of overall control over the |T activities in the MDAs.

General controls include controls over data centre operations, system software

acquisition and maintenance, access security, and application system development
and maintenance.

Examples of general controls include T policies. standards, and guidelines on IT
security, information protection, application software development, change controls,
segregation of dutics, Disaster recovery planning, 1T project management, etc..

(D) 1T application controls
These establish specific control procedures over accounting applications. They include
controls to ensure the proper authorisation. completeness, accuracy, validity of
transactions, and maintenance of the applications.

Examples of accounting applications in the state include the Microsoft Dynamic
Navision which manages the payroll, Budget, Accounting and Treasury management.

(C)_Financial Statements and Accounting records
e Financial statements of the State are maintained in the Micresail Dynenic
ravision (NAV), The trapsactions in the Navision system are direct posting of daily
accounting and operational activitios in the various MDAs.

the Auditors are oxoected to obtaired detailed lransactions o il toe ooy
cluding the Payioll asd ot~er transactioss maintained By the Acoauniant ol

The Auditor’s specific audit obijectives ac tot change, regardloss of  wiwotine

accounting data are processed numually or cleg tromcally. Howoever, the imethads ot




applying audit procedures to gather evidence may be influenced by the methods of
processing.

2.3 Organisation for IT audit in the OSAG

The office of the Auditor General will carry out IT audit function using some well-
trained auditors in the Government Audits department. The Resident auditors and
some selected auditors in the OSAG will be trained on auditing IT General controis, IT
application controls and on apptication of Audit software and Tools.

The Operations Audits department should be responsible for the followings:

« Develop and implement a risk-based IT audit strategy for the Office in
compliance with IS audit standards, guidelines and best practices.

« Plan specific audits to ensure that IT and business systems are protected and
controlied.

« Conduct audits in accordance with IT audit standards, guidelines and best
practices to meet planned audit objectives.

« Communicate emerging issues, potential risks and audit results to key
stakeholders.

« Advice on the implementation of risk management and control practices within
the MDAs while maintaining independence.

« Train the generalist auditors on the use of Audit software in the conduct of
regularity and forensic audits.

3.0 PERFORMING THE IT AUDIT

3.1 Annual Operational plan

The Operations Audits department should prepare an operational plan and selection of
the type of IT audit to be conducted in each year.

The annual operational plan should be prepared by the Director and approved by
Auditar General.

An operational plan for the IT audit should contain but not be limited to the
following:

Criteria - Activities Plan description
Scope and approach of the The terms of reference for conducting the audit will
review depend on the type of audit to be conducted:

e |T General Controis
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« T Application controls
* Information security management
* Other specialised audit

Objectives of the IT audit Should state the aim of the audits, for example, “To
determine if the e-payments processing has
adequate internal control for approval of the
payments”

Timing of the audit individuat audits to be conducted annually depending
on the availability of resources.

Budget for the audit The IT audit function needs to have enough
resources to carry out the audits. Where applicable,
a separate budget for the audit should be considered
and approved by the Auditor General annually.

Methods of gathering Indicate the methodology to be used.
information

Selection of audit team A team leader should be nominated for each IT audit
team and each team should consist of staff with
suitable skills and experience to carry out the audit.

3.2 Detailed Audit Processes

The IT auditor should perform detailed audit Planning for each audit to be carried
out. The following steps should be followed in order:

+ Gain an understanding of the business’s mission, objectives, purpose and
processes, which include information and processing requirements, such as
availability, integrity, security and business technology.

* Identify stated contents, such as policies, standards and required guidelines,
procedures, and IT organization structure.

» [Evaluate risk assessment and any other impact analysis carried out by
management.,

+ Perform a risk analysis.

 {Conduct an internal control review,

Set the audit scope and audit objectives,

Develop the audit approach or audit strategy.

+  Assign personnel resources to the audit and address engagement logistics.
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4.0 Performing the IT General controls audit

General controls are the controls in place over a whole computer installation or network.
The quality of these controls has a pervasive effect on ali applications that runs in the
environment. For example, if there are weaknesses in access control at the installation
level or for a whole network, it is most likely that all applications will be vuinerable to

unauthorised access, regardiless of any specific access controls in the applications
themselves.

The averall audit objective in reviewing the general controls is to ensure that the
controls and procedures are adequate to provide secure, effective and efficient day-
to-day operation of the computer facilities.

The controls and procedures which together form the general controls are discussed
in the succeeding paragraphs.

4.1 Organisational controls

These controls ensure that

e there is separation of duties to reduce the risk of employee fraud or sabotage
by limiting the scope of authority of any individual

« there are comprehensive written standards and

« Access to and use of computer workstations is properly authorised.

These high level controls are important as they influence the effectiveness of
any lower level controls which operate within accounting applications.

An assessment of the high level |T policies, strategies and procedures will
provide the auditor with a reasonably reliable indication as to the existence and
effectiveness of any lower level detailed controls.

The Audit program is contained in Appendix A: IT General Controls (Organisational
controls)

4,1.1 Segregation of duties

The auditor should check whether adequate and effective segregation of duties has
heen in place within the staff operating the computer system as it reduces the risk of
error and fraud. Poor segregation of duties could lead to any one person, with control
over a computer function, making an error or commiltting a fraud without detection.

in any major 1T System the following IT duties should be adequatety
searegated:
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. Database admimistration.

The Audit program is contained in Appendix A: IT General Controls Organisational
controls)

4.2 Security
4,2.1 Physical Access control

Physical access controls include the envirenmental controls which operate across the
whole IT environment and affect all underlying computer applications, These controls
are designed to protect the computer hardware and software from damage, theft and
unautheorised access. Access controls can operate on various levels, for example, from
restricting access to the Server’s room, to installing key locks on individuat PCs.

The IT Auditor should get a quick assessment of physical access controls. Restricting
physical access to the IT systems reduces the risk of unauthorised persons altering the
financial information.

4.2.2 Logicat Access control

Logical Access controls are provided to protect the finanaial applications and
underlying data files from unauthorised access, amendmert 1 deletion. Logical
access cantrols can exist at both installation and applicabion level. Controls within
the general IT environment restrict access to the operating system, system resources
and applications, whilst the application level controls restrict user activities within
indvidual applications.

The most common form of logical access control is login identifiers {ids) followed by
password authentication. For passwords to be effective there must be appropriate
password policies and procedures, which are known to atl staff and adhered to. Menu
restrictions can be effective in controiling access to applications and system
utilities.,

4.2.3 HNetwork Communication Security Contrals

Netwark communication security controls are important where LANS/WANS or web
enabled systems arc in use. Some important aspects that should be covered by this
controt are as follows:

« All sensitive information in the network should be protected by using
appropriate techniques;

+« The critical network devices such as routers, switches and medems should be
orotected from physical damage:

= The aerwok cenfiguration and nventaries shocdd  beo documerted  and
Maintaired:

« Prior authoisation of the Network Adonnistrator should be obtained for

making any changes to the network confiauration,

The changes made in the network contimnotagn sbhonta be dacinerted. The

Shreat vl sk assesstent of the eean s after s hnees e the otwork
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configuration should be reviewed.

*» The network operation should be monitored for any security irregularity, A
formal procedure should be in place for identifying and resolving security
problems.

e Physical access to communications and network sites shouid be controlled and
restricted.

e Communication and network systems should be controlled and restricted to
authorised individuals.

= Firewalls: Intelligent devices generally known as "Firewalls” should be used to
isolate an organisation’s data network from any external network. Firewall
devices should also be used to limit network connectivity from unauthorised
use.

+ Connectivity: Organisations should establish procedures for allowing
connectivity of their computer network or computer system to any outside
computer system or networks.

» Network Administrator: Each organisation should designate a properly trained
"Network Administrator” who is responsible for operation, monitoring security
and functioning of the network.

4.2.4 Disaster Recovery Planning

The auditor should ensure that there are adequate plans to resume processing in the
event of failure of IT operations. The degree of continuity planning will depend on
the size of the IT department and the dependence on computer processing. A
significant and prolonged loss of IT capability in a mission critical systern may
increase the risk of the financial statements being unavailable or materially
misstated. Disaster recovery planning for IT facilities should be treated as one
element of an organisation’s overall business continuity plan.

Disaster recovery plans should be documented, periodically tested and updated as
necessary. Untested plans may be satisfactory on paper but fail when put into
practice.

Back-up copies of systems software, financial applications and underlying data files
should be taken regularly. Back-ups should be cycled through a number of
generations by, for example, using daily, weekly, monthly and quarterly tapes. Back-
ups should be stored, together with a copy of the disaster recovery plan and systems
documentation, in an off-site fire-safc. Where micro-computers are used. in addition
to core Server computers, the auditor should ensure that there are also procedures
for the backing-up of financial data stored on lecal hard disks.

An audit program for the review of the Socurity is included in Appendix B: 1T General
controls (Securityd.
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4.3

IT Policies and Procedures

The Auditor should ascertain that policies and procedures which define the IT risk and
control environment are aligned with the organisation’s overall general risk and
control environment.

The policies and procedures should include the following areas:

E-mail Policy

Unauthorised Software

Program Change Controls

Access Controls

Third Party (External service providers)
Information secunty responsibitities
Information sensitivity ¢lassification
Password Management

Use of Internet

IT policies and procedures are an indication of what management want to achieve by
implementing certain controls.

Policies and procedures should be:

clear and concise;

Create a positive environment in the organisation;

reviewed at least annually to ensure that they are up t¢ date and reflect the
current position of the organisation;

Approved by management.

Communicated to staff members to ensure that they are aware of their
responsibilities.

Include periedic awareness training on the policies and procedures which are
issued in the MDA,

Include a process to reassess the adequacy of the control environment and the
risk appetite of the organisation to ensure that it is aligned with the
organisation’s changing environment.

An audit program for the review of the IT policies and procedures is included in Appendix

C: IT General controls {IT policies and procedures).
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5.0 Performing the IT Application Controls Audit

Application controls are essential to an application system and they have a direct
impact on the processing of individual transactions. The controls are used to provide
assurance (primarily to management) that all transactions are valid, authorised and
recorded.

The office of the Auditor General will audit the operational and accounting records
managed in the State Integrated Financial Management Information system (SIFMIS). The
main functions to be managed with the SIFMIS inciude the following:

=  General Ledger
«  Budget
=  Treasury Management
*»  Releases & Virement
=  Projects
=  Procurement
=  Accounts Payable
» Accounts Receivable
=  Debt Management
= Human Resources
« Payroll
= Administration
The operational systems that will be audited includes

= Automated Revenue Collection
= E-payment

The auditor must have good understanding of the application systems before proper
evaluation of application controls. This will involve having a brief description of the
application covering the following:

« Name of cach application system

« Description and purpose of each application
« Modules/Subsystems of each applications

+« The major transactions,

. he transaction flow and main output,

« The major files maintained and

» The transaction volumes.,

The auditor will evaluate the procasses w the application and procedurcs to ascertain

the weaknesses and the adeguacy of the woatrols i the foilowing:
. Respansibility for cach appucalicn system.

. Documentation standards

. Input control

. Processing control

. Qutput control
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. Master/Standing Data File contro!

5.1 Responsibility for the Application

The Auditor should ascertain that management responsibility for every aspect of
maintaining and running applications is properly allocated. For each application, the
following should be defined:

= The user {or a principal user) who is defined as owner of the application.

* Maintenance of the application and decisions on its future development are
formally managed, preferably by the owner.

= Ownership of the data used by the application is specified.

= The duties of the computer centre and of any third parties {e.g. Service providers)
for operating and supporting the application are covered by service level
agreements (contractually in the case of third parties).

= All the departments responsible for input or for handling output are known and
their responsibilities (for timing, quality, security etc.) are formally agreed.

* The division of responsibility for the accuracy and continued integrity of stored
data is clear (ultimate responsibility should normally lie with the user).

= Responsibility for deciding, and for executing, the security and control
requirements of the apptication is assigned, taking account of the organization's
general security policy and of the IT department’s standard security measures.

* Responsibility for providing and for maintaining documentation, including user
manuals, is defined.

5.2 Documentation Standards

Documentation standards ensure that adequate and up-to-date system documentation
is maintained. There should be poticies and procedures in the MDAs to ensure that:

* System documentation is sufficiently comprehensive.
» Documentation is updated to reflect system amendments and
= Back-up copy of the documentation is held.

Without good documentation, it will be difficult to assure that controls will cperate
on continuous basis and there will also be greater likelihood of error.

Good application documentation reduces the risk of users making mistakes or
exceeding their authorities.

A review of comprehensive, up to date documentation should aid the auditor in
gaining an understanding of how each application operates, and may help identify
particular audit risks.
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5.3 input Controls
The input control consists of measures and procedures to ensure that

« The data received for processing are genuine, complete, not previously
processed, accurate and properly authorized and
« Data are entered accurately and without duplication,

Controls over input are vital to the integrity of the system. The controls that the
auditor should evaluate include:

« All prime input, including changes to master data, are appropriately
authorised. For instance, all payrolt data from the MDAs must be properly
authorised

« For on-line systems, the ability to enter data from a warkstation is adeguately
restricted and controiled.

« There is a methad to prevent and detect duplicate processing of a source
document.

« There are procedures for ensuring correction and resubmission of rejected
data.

5. 4 Data protection

The protection of data includes data transmitted over telecommunication lines, data
in the system and the transportation of backed up data to offsite location.

when data is transmitted over telecommunication lines there are a number of ways
that an organisation can ensure the proper protection. Data can be encrypted and
decrypted in several ways to ensure the confidentiality, reliability and accountability
of data.

The auditor should ascertain that there are:

« Adequate controls in place, either within the network system, or the
financial applications, to detect corrupted data.

« Regular backup of data is maintained
Adequate protection of data when transported to an offsite location.

The Audit program is included in section 2.4 of Appendix B- IT General Controls
{Security)

5.5 Processing Controls

Processing controls ensure complete and accurate processing of input and generated
data. This objective is achieved by providing controis for:

. Adequately validating input and generated data,
. Processing correct files,
» Detecting and rejecting errors during processing and referring them
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back to the originators for re-processing,
. Proper transfer of data from one processing stage to another, and

. Checking contro! totals {established prior to processing) during or after
processing.

The Audit program is included in section 4.0 of Appendix D- IT Application Controls
5.6 Qutput Controls

These controls are incarporated te ensure that computer output is complete,
accurate and correctly distributed.

Output controls ensure that all output is:

» Produced and distributed on time,

* Fully reconciled with pre input control parameters,

= Physically controlled at all iterns, depending on the confidentiality of the
document and

» Errors and exceptions are properly investigated and acted upon.

The completeness and integrity of output reports depends on restricting the ability to
amend outputs and incorporating completeness checks such as page numbers and
check sums.

The Audit program is included in section 6.0 of Appendix D- IT Application Cantrols
5.7  Master/Standing Data File Controls

Master Data files controls ensure integrity and accuracy of reference data. Accuracy
of data on Master data files is of vital importance, to the auditor. Information stored
in master and standing data files is usually critical to the processing and reporting
of financial data. Information on master files can affect many related financial
transactions and so must he adequately protected.

These controls have to ensure that:

* Amendments to Master data are properly authorised and
controlled.

* lIntegrity of Master data files is verified by checking,
control totals and periodic reconciliation with independently
held records.

* Physical and logical access to application data files are
restricted and controlled.

The State has an Integrated Financial Management information system (SIFMIS) which
maintains various standing data in the Payroll, Human Resource, General Ledger and
other operationat systems.

The Auditor should ascertain that standard procedures exist for the management of
these applications.
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The Audit program is included in section 5.0 of Appendix D- IT Application Controls

6.0 Auditing the MDAs and the Annual Financial Statements

The audit findings and conclusions are to be supported by appropriate analysis and
interpretation of the evidence. Today's information processing environments pose a stiff
challenge to an auditor to collect sufficient, relevant and useful evidence since some of
the evidence exists on magnetic media and can only be examined using CAATs.

with systems having different hardware and software environments, different data
structure, record formats, processing functions, etc.., it 1s almost impossible for the
auditors to collect evidence withaut a software tool to coliect and analyze the records.

some of the accounting records that will be audited by the office of the Auditor General
are automated. These include:

= Payroll System

» Cash Book

» Vote Books

» Revenue Collection
= Bank Reconciliation
» E-payment

These accounting records have been automated through the implementation of the
State Integrated Financial Management Information System (SIFMIS). The State has
deptoyed. Micrasoft Dynamic Navision. to implement the SIFMIS consisting of the
following rrain functions: R

= General Ledger
"~ Budget
= Treasury Management .
» Releases & Virement .
R L L N T
' = 'Procurement o
= Accounty Payable | L
« AcconntsReceivable P
-Deht Managemerntt. .~ T -
i durhan Resotyces. . L T
~ Payrolt - "
s Administration . _
- The auditor must ascertain that the amaunts reporied it the financial statements are
in agreement with" the accounting recards of the State and in the SIFMIS. The
Financial statements of the State are to be generated from the accounting records in
the SIFMIS. '

a ﬂ -

However, for continuous audit during the year, the following accounting records
shauld be provided to the Office of the State Auditor General:
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« Monthly payroll transactions for each employee as generated by the payroll
system. This must include all essential data items such employee number, MDA
code, gross pay, net pay and all deductions.

*  Monthly transactions of all e-payment of salaries to the individual employee Bank.

«  Monthly detailed collection of the revenue heads through the direct payment
system. The censolidated detailed collection for the year should also be provided.

These various reports are to be provided in electronic format using excel spread sheet.

The Office of the Auditor General should be provided access to the SIFMIS to have
direct enquiries and extraction of essential reports. The office should evolve a
program to ensure that Resident auditors and other selected auditors in each
department are proficient in the use of audit software and excel spread sheet.
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e i —— e ————— R

ssessment  of the Control | Risks _ | Adequacy  of Is the risk Audit guery
management adequately ratsed /
measures prevented References
or
| ?,;m_: the . mitigated?
7 . finding on the |
| 7 procedure] i (Yes / No) |
_ | ' [If No. raise
an it
query]
- sensitivity classification - o )
-+ alicy to determine 3F it includes at i Sensitive data misused or 1 ST m o

i the following: | destroyed. |
| _

. rlassification of information is . Unauthorised data access
! - .
- to sensitive data.

rent levels of classification. w

tien can be released to the Data altered by
unauthorised users.

qois labelled.

247



" No | Indicators for assessment of the Control | Risks Adequacy of Is the risk Audit query
Environment management adequately ' raised/
measures prevented References
or .
m....meﬁm. the B‘ﬂ_WWHva ._
finding on the i
“ procedure] (Yes / No)
| [If No, raise
| an audit |
query]
3.75 |What happens if information cannot be |Disclosure of sensitive _

classified in one of the groups as disclosed in | data.
the policy?
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No Indicators for assessment of the Control | Risks Adequacy of Is the risk  Audit query
| Environment management, adequately | raised /
measures prevented  References
or
E.:mmwl the mitigated?
finding on the
procedure] {Yes / No)
{If No, raise
: an audit |
| query] |
m_
3.8 Password management
Inspect the policy for the following: Unauthorised access to 4
organisation’s systems. |
| |
3.8.1 ;| Dges the policy contain the minimum criteria _
“_qoﬂ passwords? (l.e. the length, should the | Weak passwords. _ :
password only consist of characters, numeric ; _
or should it be alpha-numeric and how !
regularly passwords need to be changed)
3.8.2 Does the policy provide guidance on the

protection of passwords?
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‘\ No | Indicators for assessment of the Control | Risks " [Adequacy  of | Is the risk . Audit query

_ Environment management | adequately | raised/
| _ | measures prevented  Refererces
" _ S or
_ finsert the mitigated?
: finding on the
| procedure] ' (Yes / No)
, | {{f No, raise
| an audit .
' I

query] i

' Does the policy clearly prohibit the use of |

| other person's user names and/or passwords?

3.9 _ Use of internet
391, Does the policy make provision for the usage of | Reduced system _ o o
the internet? availability. 7

_| e e —

39.2 |Does the policy make provision for | N
circumstances where software is downloaded |

from the internet? | Virus attacks on system

. when unauthorised
i software is dewnloaded.
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Appendix D: - IT Application Controls

| Auditee: Reviewed by: Name | Rank Date
Period end: Level 1
Prepared by: | | Level2

_ Rank: | m Level 3

” Date: k Date:

__

No T:a_ﬁmmﬁoa for assessment of the Control | Risks

i Environment

Adequacy
management
measures

[Insert the
finding on the

- procedure]

of [Is the risk Audit query

. adeguately
ﬁ prevented

for
mitigated?

- raised ;o

' Reforences

(Yes / Noy

[If No. raise
an atdit
| query]
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1. Organisation and Documentation
1.1 Identification of Application Systems
Background
! _M
' Management responsibility for every aspect of maintaining and running applications should be property allocated. :
Alt necessary documentation should exist considering the type of application concerned and the organization's needs.
ﬂ_ The Auditor must identify all application systems owned by the Auditee.
11,1  Obtain a detailed list of all software mapped to o
them, Functions, Server, location of server, the
- operating systems, number of users.
Obtain a description of the modules in each
1.1.2 application systems and their functions
2.1 Responsibility for applications __

' Background
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Ta ensure that management responsibility for every aspect of maintaining and running applications is properly allocated.
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2.2 Documentation N
Background 7
To ensure that all necessary documentation exists in the light of the types of application concerned and the organization's needs.
2.2,1 | Qperators' Instructions are up-to-date and cover
any special action required e.g. response to error
messages, abnormal termination, etc.
User Manuals fully describe respensibitities and
procedures and are systematically kept up to
date.

2.2.2
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P30 it - Agdhosisation
i

_ Background
ciets @nsure that only those authorized
WLENS 0 1Pt PTOCESSES.
[

zuthorized documents, which are |
v cathority (usually a signature) by
doen the input, or in a preliminary

36,

Gsud fue input are serially numbered
z heck for validity and for
t yzigience either by the computer

20 authorized  and checked

2 caresofled by batching,
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3.4

3.5

3.6

‘ been authorized, e.g. payments in excess of

Confirmatory prints of input are sent to
authorizing officers, who sign for approval.

Changes to permanent data are properly.
authorized.

.

Programmed checks prevent validation and
processing of input which logically cannot have

available budget.

Vi
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4.1

Background

- Completeness and accuracy

._ - . :
| A

. To ensure that data input to applications is accurate and complete. (Input comprises both transaction and permanent/reference
data.}

Validation checks are carried out by program to| “ | |
ensure that the data entered: ! | _

e have the format expected for each field;

i« are within appropriate ranges {e.g. do not
exceed pre determined reasonable amounts;
are within the known sequence of items of
their kind (chegue numbers, etc.).

| For on-line entry, input reports are produced
showing agaregated totals, which are checked or
matched with totals established separately for
the session.
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4.3

4.3

4.4

Validation includes tests of self-consistency of the
data input {e.g. debits = credits, reference
numbers match related descriptive material).

Logical checks are made with accessible existing
records e.g. account balances.

Permanent data (and other key data) are printed
out and positively approved by the responsible
user before being used in processing.
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5.0

Continued correctness of standing data

Background

To ensure that all data stored in the system as a permanent record or for reference remains correct and complete.

5.1

5.2

Responsibility for checking the continued
correctness of data is allocated either to a
database administrator or to appropriate users.

Print-outs of standing or reference data are
checked periodically to source documents by the
responsible user. This can be done on a cyclical
or statistical basis, depending on the risk
represented by incorrect data.
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6.0

. Correct distribution of output

. Background

. To ensure that output reaches all and only those for whom it is intended.

6.1

6.2

Mailing lists for cutput are regularly reviewed and
unnecessary of incorrect addressees removed.

The general security rules applied to PCs,
terminals and printers located with end-users
ensure sufficient privacy for output, taking into

| account the level of building security and the

quality of password etc. controls.

The person responsible for security decisions for
the application has a clear picture of the various
user groups with access to ocutput in any form and
makes decisions on control accordingly. In
particular, logical access controls for the

application take account of possible approaches |
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through all networks in which the installation is
. Inveolved.

6.3
All expected output is accounted for (e.g. use of i |
serial  numbering to detect unauthorized
suppression of exception reports}. _

_ |
7.0 | Developed Systems |
| Background o
It is important that new information systems should be designed in such a way that they are auditable and that there is sufficient .
internal control

7.1 Are formal project management procedures *_ *_ 7
. applied to the system development and | | i

- implementation

_

7.2 _

i Are the developed Systems properly tested
| before implementation?

_Em appropriate support and maintenance
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VOLUME IV



Section |

Introduction

Purpose of the Manual
1. The purpose of this Performance Audit Manual is 10:

e.

f.

Provide a general guide concerning the methods of approach and the practices to
be adopted in the conduct of performance audits in Kaduna state ministries,
departments and agencies (MDAs)

Enhance the capability and skill level of Auditors within the Office of the Auditor
General Kaduna State, in the conduct of performance audits of an acceptable
standard and uniform quality

Provide a guide for training of Performance Auditors within the Office of the
Auditor General Kaduna State

Form the basis for decision-making within the performance audit process
Enhance standardisation in the performance audit

Facilitate the communication of reports of findings on the completion of each
performance audit assignment.

Organisation of the Manual
Z. This manual consists of nine main sections as below:

= Section | is the introduction to the Performance Audit Manual as given above

* Section il is the context within which performance auditing takes place

= Sections lll and IV provide guidance for the Planning of Performance Audits

* Section V describes how to execute performance audits. It inctudes collection,
documentation and analysis of audit evidence and development of audit findings

= Sections Vi provide guidance on writing, clearance and presentation procedures of
performance audit repoits

" Section Vil deals with the follow-up in the performance audit cyelo
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Section Il

The Context of Performance Auditing

Definition of Performance Auditing

1.

Performance audit is the audit, review and appraisal of the process, economy,
efficiency and effectiveness with which an audited entity (MDA) selected has applied
its resources to achieve the set goals. It is aimed at optimising the effectiveness of the
resources available to a MDA in the accomplishment of its programs, projects and the
procurement process generally, using laid-down and clearly explained auditing
standards and practices, within the mandate of an independent audit institution whose
authority is defined by relevant acts.

In general, performance auditing involves three key elements as below:

a. Audit of the economy of administrative activities in accordance with sound
principles, practices and management policies

b. Audit of the efficiency in the utilisation of human, financial and other resources,
including the examination of information systems, performance measures and
monitoring  arrangements, and procedures followed by an audited entity for
remedying identified deficiencies

c. Audit of the effectiveness of performance, in relation to the achievements of the
set objectives of an MDA and the audit of the actual impact of activities as
contained in the mandate that establishes it, compared with the intended impact.

Taken together, economy, efficiency and effectiveness constitute the three Es and
form the basis of performance auditing. Strictly speaking, INTOSAI defines the three Es
as follows:

Economy Minimising the cost of resources used for an activity, having regard
to the appropriate quality and the ultimate aim

Ffficiency The relationship between the output, in terms of goods, services
and results, and the resources used to produce them

Effectiveness The extent to which objectives are achieved and the relationship
between the intended impact and the actual impact of an activity

All other things being equal, economy is about keeping the cost of input low without
compromising on the quality; efficiency is about getting the best output from available
resources while effectiveness is about achieving the stipulated aims or objectives. None
of the three Es however should be assessed in isolation. When evaluating for example
the effects, it is necessary to take inte consideration the cost of the inputs used to
acnerate the effects and similarly when assessing economy, the uscfulness of the inputs
for producing the outputs has to be taken into account.

“The three Es” are useful concepts established to guide the performance auditor when
planning and outlining the general direction of each performance audit assignment. To
define these concepts and facilitate the analysis, the input-output model can be used.
it provides a useful tool for handling different situations and for different purposes.
Also, it enhances the Auditor’s understanding of the three Es, to describe processes,
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argamise thoughts and observations. The model 1s based on the assumption that it is
possible to arrange concepts in chains and to identify how they influence each other as
causes and effects. Another assumption is that an organisation has a set of established
goals that it wishes to achicve or that such goals can be deduced. Summarily put:

»  Economy is concerned with the inputs

- Efficiency is about how these inputs are transformed into outputs, and
Effectiveness relates to the effects generated by the outputs.

How the three Es fit into the input-output model is illustrated in the following figure:

Figure |

The input-output model

Effectiveness
1 ~
1 -
v ~
‘ Goals —‘ A

[ i

/ | ~. . \
LS
{internal) Activities »

nput ——» ‘ —* Outpu — Effect
- : . .-‘Vt
4 Tl I
1 -~ e
] bl -
i - -
I - “-‘H f”
Cconamy Ffficiency

The Special Features of Performance Auditing

7.

Whereas regularity {or financial audit) apply relatively fixed standards, performance
audit is more flexible in its choice of, for example, audit objects and methods.
Performance audit is not based on formalised opinions and does not have its roots in
private sector auditing. It is an independent examination made on a non-recurring
basis. By nature, performance audit is wide-ranging and open to judgements and
interpretations. It must have at its disposal a wide selection of nvestigative and
evaluative methods and it operates from a knowledge base; by some means different
from that of traditional (c.g. financial) auditing. The special feature of performance
audit is the variety and complexity of questions relating to the work. Within its legal

mandate, performance audit is free to examine all government activities from different
perspectives,
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Some Differences between Performance Audit and Regularity (Financial) Audit

Performance Audit o Regularity Audit
‘Purpose | Assess whether the performance of | Assess whether the accounts !
the auditee mecets the three Es, presented provides a true and
namely economy, efficiency and fair representation of the
effectiveness financial position as at the date
stipulated
“Focus on The organisation/pregramme and The accounting system -
its activities
and management systems
Academic base | Economics, potitical science, ~ | Accounting o
| sociology, etc.. i
Methods Varies from project to project ‘Standardised
Assessment Unique criteria for the individual Standardised criteria suitable for
criteria audit alt audits
Reports Varying structure and contents. Standardised structure. Published
Published on an ad hoc basis on regular basis

8. Nevertheless, collaboration between the two sets of auditors (i.e. regularity and
performance auditors} is often required in order to achieve the objectives of the Office
of the Auditor General Kaduna State. Generally speaking, performance audit and
regularity audit have a number of similarities. The two types of auditors for instance
carry out the same types of tasks, namely to assess the performance of the auditee
especially with regards to the mandate it was given. In this way, they may also apply
similar methods for collecting data. While the performance auditors focus primarily on
economy, efficiency or effectiveness, the regularity auditors focus on the correctness
and fairness of the accounts and the financial statements. Regularity and performance
auditors most often have the same mandate namely to carry out the audit, the same
obligations to the auditee and the same type of support in the form of international
cooperation, standards and discussions,

Stages in the Performance Audit Process

9. The performance audit process covers a number of steps. It comprises the planning,
carrying out of the main study (execution), reporting and follow-up. Each one of these
processes can be divided into different stages as below:
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Planning Execution Reporting Follow-lUp
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| audit tooies study and analysis repon re:on the
work nlan of audit renart
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Planning Concept

10. The purpose of planning in performance auditing is to select suitable areas for audit,
identify audit problems and prepare the execution of the main study. Before the
planning of the individual audits can begin, it is nccessary for the Office of the Auditor
General to make strategic choices on ¢riteria and priorities that can guide the auditors
through the selection process. The first stage after this is usually area watching,
followed by general surveys, if that is required for the analysis of potential themes
and topics. Once an audit area has been selected for performance audit, a pre-study -
resulting in a work plan for a main study - should be undertaken to obtain required
information in order to be able to design a proposal for a main study.

11. Conducting the main study involves the collection, documentation and analysis of audit
findings and ultimately the drafting of the audit report. The report-drafting stage is a
continuous analytical process of formulating, testing and assessing audit findings,
conclusions and recommendations. Issues such as the expected impact and value of the
audit should also be considered throughout the documentation and analysis of audit
evidence. The emphasis should be on the production of a final report which will be
considered by Kaduna Statc House of Assembly on one hand and the State Executive
arm {including the management of the audited entities} on the other.

12. The reporting stage would involve clearance of the report through reviews, quality
controls and exit meetings with the auditee, and finally the submission of the report to
the House of Assembly and the management of the auditee,

13. The follow-up process identifies and documents audit impact and the progress the
auditec has made in implementing audit recommendations. Such processes are vital for
providing feedback to the Office of the Accountant General Kaduna State and to the
State House of Assembly.

The Mandate of the Auditor-General

14. As a rule, the audit mandate and the general goals concerning performance auditing
should be adequately defined. The basic audit powers of the Auditor General Kaduna
State are embodied in the relevant legislation.

15. Among other issues, the mandate regulates the extent to which the Auditor General
Kaduna State can audit public sector programmes and organisations. Special regulations
are often needed that specify the conditions for performance audit, for exampie,
access to information from sources other than the auditee’s, the ability to make
reccommendations, the mandate to scrutinise government undertakings and
programmes, and the effectiveness of legislation. The mandate ordinarily specifies the
minimum audit and reporting requirements, specifies what is required of the Auditor-
General, and provides the Auditor-General with authority to carry out the wark and
report the results. The mandate also covers the entire budget, including commissions,
agencies and all corresponding government programmes within the state's public
service,
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The Performance Audit Department

16,

17.

A distinct department within the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State, the
performance audit department shall perform the function of auditing of programmes,
projects, organizations etc. perpetually within Kaduna State. To be designated
Performance Auditors, the staff of the performance audit department shall be
professionally qualified accountants suitably trained for the specialized task. It is the
responsibility of the team leader of each performance audit group to admimster the
audit project in a professional and satisfactory manner. The performance auditor must
be able to plan and carry out each performance audit project in an economic, efficient
and effective way, supported by convincing evidence, and ensuring high quality work.

Other key players within the office are the Auditor-General and other departmental
heads that takes decisions on what to audit and they participate in the approval of the
final report. The senicr members of the performance audit department are responsible
for ensuring that workable systems exist to facilitate management reporting, review
and quality assurance. In addition, sustained traimng of performance auditors is
imperative in order to meet the qguality regquirements specified in the Auditing
Standards. The Office of Auditor General Kaduna State shall therefore ensure that its
workforce maintain professional proficiency through continuous training including
exposure to relevant local and international conferences/seminars.

Key Units and Roles in the Performance Audit Set Up

18.

19.

20.

The Auditor-General of Kaduna State - He/she approves the annual plans and
individual performance audit plans. Moreover, he/she decides whether or not to
circulate or include the final reports in the Auditor General’s report on the
accounts and also signs the final performance audit report. The Auditor General
Kaduna State is expected to further interact with and provides the Public Accounts
Committee (PAC) with up-to-date information regarding performance audit reports
and related matters.

The Audit Chief (Performance Audit) - Usually in the grade of Director, He/she
compiles the departmental annual plans based on the information generated and
the audit plans developed at the lower level. He/she recommends the plans to the
Auditor General for approval. The Audit Chief (Performance Audit} has overall
responsibilities for managing the entire performance audit cycle. He/she organises
and assigns work to audit teams. Qther responsibilities pertaining to the Audit Chief
are as follows:

o Directing, supervising and monitoring the activities of the performance audit
department

o Assurancc of quality in performance audit process and in the final reports

o Training of Performance Auditors.

Team Leader: Normally of the rank of Principal Auditor and above, He/she
supervises the audit team(s) to which he/she is assigned during the course of the
audit. It is the respansibility of the Team Leader to continuously review the project
files during the fieldwork of performance audit and to point out deficiencies to the
lower auditors. Other responsibilities of the Team Leader are as follows:

» Coordination of performance audit plans
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= Reporting audit findings, conclusions and recommendations
= Undertaking follow-up audits

» Training of lower level performance auditors.

21.The Senior Auditor: He/she is responsible for executing the audit work as well as
allocating tasks to her/his team members as per the activity plan. The Senior
Auditor ensures high quality of the output and its timely production. He/she
ensures that all data collected is analysed and the conclusions arrived at are
consistent with the data collected; ensures that the team has thoroughly analysed
its findings and recommendaticns and presents them for discussion to the whole
department. The Senior Auditor, together with the team, prepares and submits a
draft repart with the working paper file for discussions with the Team lead. Some
of the other responsihilities of Senior Auditor are as follows:

- Production of draft performance audit plans

- Allocating tasks to the team members

- Supervision during execution of performance audits

- Reporting audit findings, conclusions and recommendations
- Undertaking follow-up audits

- Training of performance auditors

- Maintaining a good team spirit within the group

22. Auditor: He/she participates in the actual audit of the entity in question under
guidance of the Senior Auditor. Some of the responsibilities of team members are
as follows:

- Collection of data

- Documentation of collected data
- Classification of files

- Participation in in-house training.

23.The figure below depicts the organogram of the Performance Audit Department

‘ Audit Chief

Team Leader;

~ Senior - Senior -
_ Auditor Auditor
Auditor . Auditor - Auditor Auditor .
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Internal Communication

74. The organisational set-up prescribed above recommends roles and responsibilities for
performance auditors. The operational strategy should clearly specify the channels of
communication and the feedback mechanism between audit staffs and the seniors.

25.Format for internal organisation of a performance audit function: The
following 1s guide provided for the internal workings of the performance audit
department

. Top management meetings
Frequency: Monthiy.

Participating: The Auditor-General and the management team
Chairing: The Auditor-General.

Contents: Short, medium and long-term issues affecting performance audit
operations, e.g. staffing, delegation of assignment, fixing deadlines for completing
mandatory assignments, delegations for training, delegations for international
conferences and seminars, budgeting and controls of expenditures.

. Departmental meetings
Frequency: Monthly.

Participating: The Directors
Chairing: Director

Contents: Audit teams report on progress and obstacles in audits, other
departmental issues,

Further reporting: The Director reports back to top management.

* Progress reports
Frequency: Monthly and sometimes also weekly.

Participating: Team leaders.

Contents: Team leaders submil to the Director the teams’ progress on a specially
designed form showirg bDudgetod outout, actual output and romarks on the
differences.

further reporting: The Directer reports back to top management.

External Communication

/6. Communication shall be with the nurpose of corhancing the establishment ard
implementation of a strategy and policy for extornal communication with regard to
performance auditing. This strategy is in Une with the averall strategic nlan which
guides the Office of the Auditor General Kaduma State and hiow it chould commwunicate
with stakecholders and others in diffcrent situations. The main extornal key players or
stakeholders are the people and organisations - the House of Assembly (throigh the
Public Accounts Committee), the audited entity and uftimately the public  tzking an
interest in the findings, conclusions and recommendations of the audits.
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A7 The tiffice of the Auditor General Kacuna State will ensure that senior serformance
auot starfs are aware of the strategies “or external conununication and are able 1o
Interact na proper manner with the auditec, and with any other party that provides
information essential for the performance audit project. Before any othet contact is
made with the auditee, a formal introduction should take place. This should be through
a Letter of Notification to Conduct Performance Audit (WP 14) signed by the Auditor-
General Kaduna State. This will be followed by a formal meeting of the senior inembers
of the audit team with the management of the auditec. Regular contact should be
rmaintained throughout the audit, preferably through a contact person appointed by the
audited entity. Before the finalisation of a performance audit assignment, a draft
report should be sent to the auditee and discussed at an exit meeting. There will also
be an established practice (in line with the communication policy of the Office of
Auditor General Kaduna State) regulating to whom any report should be routinely
delivered,

Code of Ethics

28. Every performance auditor must be independent of the auditee; this is confirmed

through the completion of the Code of Ethics Statement (Working Paper 1B) prior to
commencing a performance audit assignment.
Code of Ethics Statement

29. The following code is a guide for the performance auditors regarding his/her
conduct in the course of performing a performance audit.

30. Code of Ethics for Auditors: The code of ethics guides the work of every Auditor. In
addition, the code of ethics recognizes that the objectives of the job are to work to the
highest standards of professionalism. These require four basic compaonents thus:

1. Credibility - The development of any society is based on credible information

j. Professionalism -The obvious need for individuals who can be clearly identified by
the MDA, and other interested parties as a professional Auditor

k. Quality of Services - The assurance that all audits are carried out to the highest
standards

. Confidence - The auditee and users of the related audit reports should feel
confident that there exisls a framework of professional ethics for the audit.

31. Specifically, the following shall be observed:

Integrity: An Auditor has the exceptional duty to adhere to high standards of
behaviour in the course of his/her work

Independence: Auditors must be independent of the audited entity and other
outside interest groups. Auditors are to be objective and impartial in dealing with
1ssues and topics

Political neutrality: It is important for Auditors to maintain political neutrality
Conflict of interest: The various aspects are listed thus;

f.In the caurse of his/her work, an Auditor shall not take management responsibilities
ot powers, which must remain solely with the auditee organization,
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g. Auditors are to protect their independence and avoid any possible conflict of
interest by refusing gifts or gratifications

h. The Auditor shall avoid relaticnships with officers and staff of the auditee which
may influence, compromise or threaten his/her ability to act independently

i.  An Auditor is not to use his/her official position to promote private interests and
therefore must avoid relationships which involve the risk of corruption

j.  An Auditor is not allowed to use information received during his/her duties as a
means of securing personal benefit. Divulging of information that would provide
unfair advantage to other individuals or organizations is not permissible

o Confidentiality or professional secrecy: An Auditor shall not disclose information
obtained in the auditing process to third parties, except for the purposes of
meeting the auditee’s statutory or cther identified responsibilities as part of the
organization’s normal procedures or in accordance with relevant laws.

o Professional competence and due care: It involves the following:

g. In carrying out their work, Auditors are to apply high professional standards
always

h. An Auditor shall apply applicable auditing policies, procedures and practices;
they should have a good understanding of the constitutional, legal and
institutional principles and standards governing the operations of the audited
entity

i. An Auditor shall exercise due professional care in conducting and supervising the
audits and in preparing related reports

j. The legislative and/or executive authority, the general public and the audited
entities need to he fully assured of the fairness and impartiality of the Auditor

k. It is essential that the reports and opinions of an Auditor be considered to be
accurate and reliable by knowledgeable third parties

. The Auditors' work must stand the test of tegislative and/or executive scrutiny,
public judgments on propriety and examination against this Code of Ethics,

Declaration on Compliance with the Code of Ethics

32. Each performance auditor shall declare his/her compliance with this code of ethics
before commencing each audit assighment using the Code of Ethics Declaration Form
(Working Paper 1B). Also, at the end of every audit report, the performance auditor
shall conclude that the statements included in this Code of Ethics have been duly
observed.
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Section |l

Planning and Selection of Audit Topics

1. The purpose of planning in performance audit is to identify, prioritisc and select audit
cbjects that should be included in an overall programme of work for a particular
period. It would be useful to have a three-year rolling plan - the strategic ptan at the
beginning of which a high:level strategic planning meeting will be held to identify areas
of focus during the period being covered. The fiscal/ecanomic position of Kaduna state
- meaning the areas of high expenditure should form the foundation of focus for the
performance audit strategic plan.

2. Moreover, possible requests from either the legislature or the executive arms of Kaduna
state Government may form part of the basis of planning focus in the medium term
(the strategic plan). Performance audit topics would be considered according to the list
of suggestions of the Auditor General or any of the Directors. The diagram below
illustrates a medel of planning in performance audit.

Planning and
Process selection of

{ Pre-study and Work

- Carry out area watching and general surveys
Audit team

- Select and present possible audit topics

- Carry out strategic planning and annual planning
Management

- Launch pre-study

3. Objective of planning: Planning in performance auditing should be aimed at making
the actual audit work more effective. The planning process leads Lo appropriate
decisions on the nature, extent and timing of the performance audit work to be
undertaken. The programme of performance audits would be based on strategic choices
as conceived by the Office of Auditor General Kaduna State as a whole. Moreover, it is
considered helpful to adopt a structured approach to performance audit, whilst still
allowing flexibility in the timing and priority of particular subject or topic.

4. The planning should be at two levels thus:
e The overall level (strategic and annual planning)

« The area level {arca watching/general surveys and later the pre-studies)
Planning at the Overall Level

5. The overall planning would deal with strategic and annual planning.
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Strategic planning ‘

6. The adopted method for strategic ptanning would support the cverall vision and mission
of the Office of Auditor General of Kaduna State which in tun would align with the
overall mandate of the Office of Auditor General of Kadunma State as specified in the |
relevant legislation. It should also anm at enhancing the independence of the Office of |
Auditor General Kaduna State and address the demands of the stakcholders namely -
improved accountability and transparency as regards the utilization of public funds ot ‘
Kaduna Statc.

7. Strategic planning itself is a process of defining goals, setting objectives and examining
the current situation, future developments and the ways and means to be adopted in
order to achieve the goals set. The strategic plan provides an opportunty to direct the
audit activities in order to mect the responsibilities in terms of audit legislation and
international auditing standards.

8. The overall performance audit strategies would be developed on the basis of the
policies/corporate goals of Kaduna State and also based on issues that have been raised
in previcus audit reports. Strategic choices should be made in respect of broad focus
areas, e.g. infrastructure development, healthcare, education. poverty reduction, or
the criteria to use when selecting areas for audit. Such would deal with broad policy
issues including the determination of overall priorities and resource allocation.
Therefore, strategic planning represents policy decisions that provide a starting point
for the planning of performance audits. The strategic plan should cover a period of
three years, and should be reviewed annually to reflect the changing needs and
circumstances of Kaduna State.

9. Summanly put, the purpose of strategic planning as regards performance audit is to
ensure that:

a. A comprehensive and well-planned performance audit programme is in place

b. Audit methodologies are progressively developed

¢. Audit priorities are adequately determined

d. An adequate skill - base is developed and retained

in a cost-effective manner

f. Monitoring arrangements are in place to review progress on delivering the agreed
audit program

g. An effective quality assurance process is in place.
Annual Planning

10. The strategic planning will normally lead to an annual plan for all performance audit
activities to be carried out during the immediate year ahead. Development of the
annual performance audit plan shall be the responsibility of the head of the
performance audit division {the Audit Chief or Director). The plan should comprise a
detailed approach for the expected nature, timing and extent of the audits. Adeguate
planning of the audit work helps to ensure that appropriate attention is devoted to
important areas of audit; that potential problem arcas are identified early and that the
work in each area selected is completed expeditiously.
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12.

il annual plan of the Office of Auditor Genera. Kaduna State waould “ncorporate the
pierformance  aucit  department’s work p.ans for ongoing  audits ard  the new
performance audits that will be undertaken duning the year. It must necessarily focus
on strategic priorities. on significant matters listed in mmemos from area watching or
general surveys, on pre-study reports and on follow-up of work done during the
previous year. The aim of the annual plan is to determine the annual programme of
performance audit work to be undertaken and the staff and other resources required to
deliver the programme. The annual plan should be based on a scund knowledge of the
audit field and a considered view of prospective changes Lo ongoing operations.

Furthermore, the annual plan will enhance effectiveness in the allocation of work to
team members and in the coordination of work performed by the different audit teams.
This is a basis for development of a detailed work programme that identifics the
specific  audit tasks to be undertaken. An annual plan would normally entail
departmental objectives, intended outputs and ocutcomes, areas to be audited, time
frames and resource allocation for each audit.

Planning at the Area Level

13.

14,

Area watching and general surveys are part of the strategic annuat planning processes
in a performance audit system. While considering the priorities laid down n strategic
planning documents, such would determine the potential audit areas from which topics
for pre-studies will be selected.

Area watching: Area watching entails the monitoring of key issues within MDAs 1n
Kaduna State, to keep abreast of developments. The key purpose of area watching 1s to
identify indicaters for possible performance audit ranges. It is carried out through
reading of relevant publications and previous reports relating to performance and
regularity audits; attending conferences and seminars; discussions with colleagues,
stakeholders and specialists; listening to radio and television breadcasts; listeming to or
reading transcripts of parliamentary debates; and reading newspapers and journals.
Area watching should be a continuous process which ensures that the Office of Auditar
General Kaduna State is always in possession of updated information about arcas that
may require focus or attention regarding performance auditing. Moreover, and as may
sometimes be indicated by the executive arm of Government (e.g. in the beginning of
the annual planning process), results from area watching should be presented to

Government (the executive) for a decision on whether a general survey or a pre-study
shiould be carried out.

General Survey

15.

16.

The purpose of general surveys should be the collection and evaluation of relevant
information in order to provide an understanding of a particular sector or programme,
identify potential audit areas and allow the performance auditor to direct his or her
attention to the most important areas and issues. 1t should be a process that provides a
relatively fast way of gathering information, without detailed verification of the
activities or gperations of the organisation.

The general survey should include the same activitics as area watching, but will go
deeper and study particular Acts and Regulations referring to the auditee. it will also
include a literature search, annual reports from the auditee, consultation of regularity
audit files, reports from the public accounts committee and contact with professional
bodies. When necessary, information shall be collected directly from the relevant
organisations through interviews and/er wntten communication.
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17.

18.

19.

20.

21,

|

The general survey will be used by the Office of Auditor General Kaduna State in the
case when It enters into a completely new area where the Office has little previous
knowledge of. The results from the general survey may consist of a number of different
ideas for performance audit and will be kept as a 'bank of ideas’. These idcas will later
be used as a starting point for a pre-study or sometimes even directly for a main study.

when a general survey has been completed, the results should be summarised in a
memorandum and submitted to the Auditor General for his perusal and cpinion.

Some differences between area watching and a general survey are highlighted in the
following table:

Area watching | General survey
Purpose Keeping updated I Identify possible probtem
information on key issues areas
Time frame Continuous . Ad hoc ]
Focus ' Broad Specific target B
Sources of Various sources Various sources and
information information from auditees
" Documentation ' Oral or written Memaorandum

During both the area watching and the general survey phases, vast amounts of
information are obtained. A number of potential audit areas would probably
have been identified. To make recommendations about the topics that warrant
further examination, the performance auditor could require some form of basis
for evaluating the information collected.

in this situation, a number of factors should be taken into account to compare
and eventually rank potential audit topics. Soeme important factors to consider
as regards Government MDAs are the following:

a. Performance targets are not being met

b. The entity is carrying out activities outside its mandate

c. Unauthorised amounts are expended; nsing costs resulting in demands for more
resources

d. Projects are not completed on time

e. Complaints from contractors due to long waiting time in payments despite release

of funds

Complaints from staff

Tender procedures not being adhered to

Changes in legislation or government policies

New technologies introduced or other circumstances that have changed

J. Complexity due to scattered activities.

Jua

I
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Presentation of Possible Audit Topics

22.The Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State shall establish how results from area
watching and general surveys are 1o be presented and decided on. Results from area
watching are normally not documented in a structured format but should. at times as
indicated by the concerned senior member of the performance audit team, and
thereafter presented to the Auditor General for a decision on whether a general survey
or a pre-study should be carried out. Where the preblem indicators are broad and need
to be specified further, the decision would normally be to carry out a general survey.
If, on the other hand, specific problems have been identified, the process could
continue into a pre-study or sometimes even a main study stage.

23. Whereas the results from area watching could be presented orally or in writing, the
results from the general survey should be presented in a structured memorandum. The
memorandum should provide background information on the auditee, such as
legislation, goals, objectives, structure/organisation, outputs, costs, etc. It should
also contain an analysis of problems encountered and recommendations as to the way
forward. The memerandum should be submitted to management (the Auditor General)
for a decision on whether to carry out a pre-study or go ahead with a main study.

24. A model for the general survey memo could be as below:

Background

Risks

Materiality
Conclusion
Recommendation

00 0 00

i. Background: It is a description of the sector and the relevant part of the entity
under audit, including the auditee’s:

- Task, cbjectives and undertakings
- Organisational structure
- Division of responsibilities within the body.

ii. Risks: It is an appraisal of the risks due te the auditee’s shortcomings within the audit
area. The risks should be divided into:

¥v" Inherent risk, i.e. factors that are embodied in the nature of the auditee but fall
outside its control, e.g. new legislation, complex area, etc.

v ldentified risk, i.e. factors identified by the audit team cor others, which were
created by the way the auditee performs its duties, e.g. the auditee’s practices or
internal organisation.

ili. Materiality: it is an assessment of the extent to which the auditee's shortcomings
within the audit areca affects the state and the public, namely:

» Materiality by value, i.e. the amount of money spent or the relation between
expenditures and revenues
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~  Katenality by nature. i1.e. how people are atfected by the audited area. o.g.
people’s time, health or rights.

. Conclusion: [t should point out the main results from the general survey and identify
potential audit problems.

v. Recommendation: Based on the overall conclusion, the audit team should
recommaend whether or not to launch one or more pre-studics.
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Section IV

Pre-Study and Work Plan

1. The purpose of the pre-study is to identify possible audit problems, establish whether
the conditions for a main study exist and to produce a main study proposal with a work
plan. In addition, it provides background knowledge and information required to
understand the entity, programme or function. The outcome of the pre-study should
result into an internal pre-study memo which is normally not intended for publication.
An idea of a pre-study approach is presented using the flow diagram as below:
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Audit team

- Carry out pre-study

- Approve pre-study plan

- Launich pre-study and contact auditee
Management

- Supervise/monitor pre-study work

Planning a Pre-study
2. The pre-study plan is a definitive plan for the execution of the pre-study. A pre-study
plan should contain the necessary information regarding approach, timing and the

resources required for conducting the proposed pre-study. The following issues should
normally be inctuded in the pre-study plan:

a. Motive i.e. the reasons why it was decided to carry out the pre-study

b. Objectives and issues to be investigated: focus on the chosen audit object and
illustrate what the auditors hope to achieve by means of a pre-study

. Collection of information: mention the type and sources of information that will be
required and what methods will be used to gather the information. Sources of
information could be people (e.g. interviews), documents and objects

d. Organisation and need for resources: it will indicate who will be involved and
what role each would play. All other resources, such as money and time, should be
indicated. Also to be specified is an assessment of whether the issues to be clarified
by the pre-study justify the amount and level of resources to be deployed.

3. The Office of the Auditor General will also decide on how long a pre-study could take
(from one menth to a maximum of three months).

4. For members of the performance audit team, the plan serves as the guideline upon
which the project is to be pursued. The team should decide:
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a. What information is required for the pre-study
b. How the information will be obtained

c. How the information will be applied to select the audit problem.

Conducting the Pre-study

5.

The pre-study has the character of a trial and error process, where it is possible to test
different ideas, alternative audit problems and methods. it is a broad-based appraisal
of the operations of the auditee.

The pre-study takes the assessment made during area watching and general survey
work further and provides sufficient justification to proceed with the main study or
else to conclude any further work. it defines the most important effectiveness
problems for an entity as a guideline for the main performance audit and determines
whether or not there are indications of non-compliance or shortcomings within the area
In question. ‘

Collection and Documentation of Data

7.

Data can be obtained through a number of methods in the form of reference facts,
physical observations and documents etc. The audit team may interview people with
special knowledge of the audit object and people who are willing to assist in giving
information and discussing possible audit problems. The performance audit team may
atso devote time to studying basic documents and other literature. The primary
objective  of data collection is to collect enough information in order to assess
alternative audit problems.

The documentation of data is of great importance in performance auditing. This is true
for the pre-study phase as well as the main study. During the pre-study phase, it is
important to bear in mind that properly documented data might later be used as audit
evidence in the main study. Therefore, all data should be carefully documented and
the information collected should be filed in accordance with the general filing policy
within the Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna State

Analysis of Data

9.

Data collected during the pre-study phase will be analysed and converted into
meaningful information. It can be done using the following means:

a. Identify the key factors most likely to influence economy, efficiency and
effectiveness

b. Where possible, indicate if and why the operaticns did not meet the three Es

c. Brainstorm ideas using the problem indicators gathered and group them into
possible problem areas

d. Rank the possible problem areas using the criteria described in the paragraphs 12 to
17 below.

Selecting the Audit Problem
10. From a performance auditor's perspective, a situation or event in an organisation or

programme where performance is not satisfactory may be defined as a problem. A well-
formulated audit problem is an identified probtem and fact that can be audited. It may
be linked to one or more of the three concepts of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness. Performance audit can focus on a range of different problems. However,
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performance audit gives priority to problems that are relevant for groups of people and
not only to one individual, and which are of a long-term and structural nature.
Problems may also be locked at from different perspectives. What is defined as a
problem by the headmaster of a primary school may not be regarded as a problem by
the teachers or the pupils, parents, administrators, cleaners or politicians. Therefore,
the performance auditor will make an independent assessment, approaching the
problem from different angles.

11. Possible audit problems emanate from the findings of the pre-study. During the pre-
study stage, the performance auditor will identify and analyse the characteristics of
the problems found. When several problems have been identified, the team has to limit
the scope by choosing the audit problem judged as the most important to the audit.
This is done because it is usually impossible to audit all the problems identified during
the pre-study. The most important audit problem can be determined by using selection
criteria within the Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna State in conjunction with
the statistical problem-tree and/or the input/output model.

The Problem-tree Analysis Technique

12. The problem-tree analysis is used to relate and link different problems to each other
hierarchically according to how they influence each other. Any box in the tree can be
defined as a problem. Causes of that problem will then be found as you move
downwards in the tree and the consequences as you move upwards. The main purpose
is to identify possible audit problems from the observations and findings made during
the pre-study.

13. An example of a problem-tree is shown in the figure below:
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o 14. Before arriving at the final version of the problem tree, the performance audit

15.

16.

17.

team would bave reformulated many problems and eliminated others.
Interrelated problems that have the same causes and consequences would have
been merged. In this example, problems such as inadequate facilities. poor
attitudes or poverty have been left ocut, since they be outside what can be
audited in this example. Other problems may have been eliminated simply
because the performance auditor considers the . he too insignificant.

If, in the example above, the audit problem is chosen at a very high level (c.g.
high failure rates), it will probably be of great interest to the stakeholders, but
it might not be possible to deal comprehensively with the problem since there
s a risk that the audit will either be shallow and trivial or demand
unreasonably large resources to cover all important aspects of the audit
problem. If, on the other hand, the audit problem is chosen at a very low level
(e.g. poor record keeping), 1t might be possible to investigate it very well, but
1t may be of little interest to the stakeholders. In the example, we have chosen
‘inefficient deployment of teachers’ as the audit problem.

When in doubt, it is generally better to choose an audit problem at a lower
rather than a higher level. Problems are usually more complex and complicated
than initially envisaged. With good arguments, the performance auditor can
explain to stakeholders how a problem at a lower level relates to problems at
higher levels. It is also possible to launch parallel audits that deal with related
problems at a lower level. The results of these separate (but coordinated)
audits could then be used in a synthesis report, addressing higher level
problems.

Organising thoughts in the form of a problem-trec will take quite some time, as
the tree will probably have to be revised several times before the team is
satisfied with the result. There are different phases in the problem-tree
analysis. Firstly, new and innovative ideas are-generated, and secondly, the
ideas put forward are critically assessed. The team should not try to be
creative and critical at the same time. Staff members from outside the project
team could be invited to provide feedback on the problem-tree. This will most
hkely offer new insights and generate a better understanding of the problems
at hand.

The Selection Criteria
18.

A performance audit prolect represents a major investment in terms of time
and money. Therefore, the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State can
undertake only a limited number of performance audits each year. All projects
must be carefully selected and designed to bring maximum benefits to the
Government and other stakeholders. Selecting an appropriate audit problem is
a prerequisite for successfully meeting this target. Below are examples of
selection criteria that can be used.

Mandate

19. Does the problem fall within the mandate of the Office of the Auditor General

Kaduna State?

20. Materiality: This should be viewed from the following angles:

a. To what extent does the problem affect the citizens, the economy
and government finance?
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b. Is it a general preblem throughout the organisation or confined to a
small part of it?

¢. Isit along-term or a short-term problem?
21, Risk: It can be considered from the following perspectives:
1. Is there a risk that money may be lost or used wastefully?

ii. s there a risk that shortfalls in the audited entity's performance
could lead to poor performance?

1. Is there a risk that important objectives will not be achieved?
22. Auditability: Viewed from the dimensions as below:
* Are relevant and accepted audit methods applicable?

= Are sufficient resources available, i.e. budget, transport and human
resources?

23. Potential for change: This should be considered from the following
perspectives:

1. What are the possibilities that the conclusions and recommendations
of the audit will be accepted?

ii.  Are there political, financial, ethical or other factors that limit the
possibilities for change?

ni.  Can the problem be solved without an increase in resources?

v, Are there other bodies already considering how the probtem could
be solved?

Pre-study Memorandum

24. At the end of a pre-study, the audit team will present a written report (a pre-
study memo) summarising the findings of the study and recommending further
action(s}. This written documentation of the results is normally an internal
document. The pre-study memo should be written as precisely and
unambiguously as possible. The information included and the structure should
help the reader to understand why the team:
a. Selected this audit area
b. Selected the specific audit problem

c. Believes it is possible to carry out a main study.
25. The following should be covered in a pre-study memorandum:

a. Background to the pre-study: It gives the reasons or explanation for
conducting the pre-study

b. Design of the pre-study: it is a brief outline as to how the study has been
carred out 1n terms of scope and what methods and sources of information
have been used
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d. Description of the audit area: it should provide sufficient background
information to understand the area which has been under review

€. Results of the pre-study: This would be in terms of problems identified

f. Recommendation to management: On whether to carry out a main study

g. Description of the selected audit problem.

Work Plan

26. When the audit problem suggested by the team has been decided on, a work
plan for a main study has to be prepared by the team leader. This is reviewed
by the Audit Chief and approved by the Auditor General. The purpose of the
work plan 1s to design and describe how the audit of the specific problem will
be carried out in the main study. The work plan will help the team to structure
their assumptions; it will also guide them through the audit process. In
addition, it provides a basis for monitoring by the Auditor General throughout
the process. The performance auditor concerned (the team leader) should plan
the audit in a manner to ensure that an audit of high quality is executed in an
economic, efficient and effective way and in a timely manner. To illustrate the
key components of the work plan, a pattern from the problem-tree described
above can be used.

27. The work plan should include the following:

a. Audit problem

b. Audit objective
Audit scope

Audit questions
Assessment critena

Methodology and sources of information

@ ™o o

Rescurce planning including budget, human resources and activity
plan etc.

Audit Problem and Audit Objective

28. The audit problem as defined in the pre-study memo provides the starting point
for the planning of the main study. Also, the audit objective relates to the
reason for carrying out the audit. As a rule, an audit objective is a precise
statement of what the audit intends to accomplish and/or the question the
audit will answer. 1t is linked to and can be derived from the audit problem.
Also, 1t states what the audit intends to accomplish. When defining the audit
prablem, the audit team needs to specify whether the problem is related to
certain time periods, geographical areas, population groups, seasons, etc,

Audit Scope

29. The audit scope defines the framework or limits and subjects of the audit, i.c.
it expresses the extent to which the main study is being limited. The scope of a
performance audit is determined by answering the following questions:

a. What? What 1s the audit object, i.e. the activities, programmes or
processes that will be audited?
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b. Who?  Who is the auditee, i.e. the mimstry/entity responsible for
the audit object?

C. When? Are there limits on the time frame to be covered, e.g. a
specific year or period of time?

d. Where? Are there geographical limits concerning the area to be
covered, e.g. one or more regions?

Audit Object

30.

31.

32.

33,

The audit object is an ongoing or terminated activity carried out by an auditee.
It could cover the whole process, from input of resources to output and effects,
or merely a part of that process. The same limitations in time, geographical
areas, etc. that apply to the audit problem will also apply to the audit object.

Auditee: After having defined the audit object, it is necessary to indicate
clearly who is responsible for carrying out the activity under audit.

Time coverage: The purpose of performance audit is usually to form an opinion
about an on-going or completed project/programme or activity. it may not be
possible to study the whole period that is relevant to the audit problem and the
audit object. In such a case, the period to be covered by the audit has to be
limited. It is advisable however, that the performance audit should cover a
longer time frame than just one or two years. It might, for example, be of
interest to illustrate developments in a certain ficld over a series of years. The
availability of data and changes such as major reforms launched by government
should also be taken into account when defining the time coverage for the
study.

Geographical coverage: The definition of the audit problem and of the audit
object will aiready be known if the problem is a general one or one particular
to certain geographical areas. The audit will always have to stay within the
limits defined by the audit problem. If those limits are broad, the audit team
will need to further reduce the coverage of the audit. How this coverage is
defined 1s crucial for the performance auditor to generalise their conclusions
and recommendations at the end of the audit so that they cover the whole
audit object. Selecting a few representative locations could be one way of
limiting the study. Applying sampling methods to select a limited number of
interviewees in each location could be ancther.

Audit Questions

34. After determining the audit scope, the team has to define the specific audit

35.

guestions that will be examined,

A few examples of audit questions common to most performance audits are the
following:

Do the means chosen represent economical use of public funds?
What causes the rapid increase in costs?
Are the services provided client - criented and of good quality?
Why are the services not delivered on time?
Arc the programmes implemented efficientty?
Arc the costs of operation justifiable?
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36.

37.

¢. Are the goals and objectives met?
h. What is the reason for any poor impact of the programme?

(n formulating the audit gquestions, performance auditors must rely on the
information collected and their own skills and experience. Techniques such as
the problem-tree analysis, brainstorming, etc. are sometimes used at this
stage. The audit questions will deal with issues such as “what is” or “why is
it”. It will alsc be an advantage if the questions indicate who is responsible.
When answered, they should provide sufficient information about the audit
problem and its causes within the given scope. It is advisable to formulate
between three and five specific audit questions. In general, a larger number of
questions will increase the risk of the performance auditor losing his/her focus
on the key issues of the audit,

Audit assumptions may often be used together with audit questions. This is
especially true in audits where statistical tests can be applied to test the
hypotheses, [t can be argued, however, that formulating questions is better
than assumptions as it helps the performance auditor to employ an open and
inquisitive mind throughout the audit.

Assessment Criteria

38.

Assessment criteria are the standards against which the performance of the
audited entity will be measured. These standards determine whether or not the
operations or the programme meet or exceed expectations, They will also help
the performance auditor to create a commoen understanding with the auditee.
It 15 important to note that satisfactory performance does not mean perfect
performance, but is based on what could reasonably be expected, taking the
auditee’s circumstances into account.

Sources of Criteria

39,

Vil.
Vil

iX.

When developing audit criteria in performance auditing, it may be useful to
consider the following:

Standards and measures set by the auditee

Laws governing the operations of the audited entity

Planning documents, contracts and budgets

Organisational policies and procedures

Standards set by the performance auditors in previous audits

Comparison with corresponding activities in the private sector

Comparisons with international benchmarks

Criteria used by professional organisations and standard-setting bodies

The expectations or experiences of the citizens affected.

Characteristics of Useful Criteria

40.

For the criteria to be useful, such should meet certain standards for instance:

a. Objective criteria are free from any bias on the part of the auditor or the
audited entity
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b. Understandable criteria are clearly stated and are not subject to
significantly different interpretations

c. Comparable criteria are consistent with those used in performance audits of
similar entities or activities and with those used in previous performance
audits

d. Complete criteria refer to the development of ail significant criteria
appropriate to assessing the performance

e. Acceptable criteria are those that independent experts in the field, audited
entities, the legislature, media and general public areé agreeable to.

Developing Assessment Criteria

41.

The process of identifying assessment criteria requires rational consideration
and sound judgement. Goals and objectives set by a law, by the government or
by the auditee are sometimes vague or very broad. Under such conditions, the
performance audit team might have to interpret the goals to make them more
specific or measurable.

Methodology and Sources of Information

42.

43,

Performance audits can draw upon a large variety of data-gathering technigues
that are commonly used in the social sciences, such as surveys, interviews,
observations, and studying written documents. For each individual audit
question, the audit team should indicate sources of information and methods
for data collection. To be able to corroborate the data at a later stage, it is
usually preferable to combine different sources and methods. The selection of
sources and methods in the work plan should be as complete as possible, yet
allowing additional ones to be included if necessary during the main study.
Unavailability of data may, however, restrict the choice of methods. As a
general rule, it is advisable to be open and pragmatic in the choice of methods.
Nevertheless, the approach in the work plan document has to be detailed
enough to allow for proper resource planning. Data collection and analytical
methods are described shortly.

Wherever possible, the performance audit team should assess the practicability
of the proposed audit methods, the availability of data in the required forms
and the team’s ability to collect, analyse and interpret the data. Any
foreseeable problems should be identified at this stage and strategies for
overcoming them developed.

Resource Planning
44. Both humzn and financial resources, including time required to complete the

main study, need to be specified. Also, the resource plan should specify how
the resources will be used.

Human Resources

45. The names of the performance auditors who will conduct the audit and the

team leader’s responsible should be mentioned in the resource plan. In
accordance with INTOSAl Auditing Standards, no member of the audit team
should have any affiliation, e.g. kinship or other relationship, with the auditee
which could affect his/her objectivity or/and independence. Accordingly, each
member of the team shall complete the Code of Ethics Form (WP 1B).
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46.

47,

It is usually not practicable for a single auditor to singlehandedly accomplish a
performance audit assignment. Nevertheless, too many auditors in the team
may also lead to problems of internal communication, coordination, etc. The
size and complexity of the audit will determine the number of performance
auditors needed. In a sense, performance auditors are generalists who use audit
methods to anatyse organisations. However, there may be cases when the audit
team needs specialised knowledge regarding other fields. In such cases. the
possibilities for using the expertise of consultants e.g. doctors, engineers,
surveyors etc. should be considered. Also in such cases, the assignment and the
role of the expert should be clearly specified.

A Specialist could be obtained either in-house (i.e. within Government) by
requesting for such from MDAs assuming they are available and where there
would be no clash of interest, or by hiring an independent expert at a fee.
Responsibility within the team should also be clarified and work should be
allocated appropriately. All members of the team should have insight into the
overall development of the project. Nevertheless, the most experienced or
highest ranking performance auditor within the team will usually be appointed
as team leader. As such, he or she has specific responsibilities when it comes to
planning the project, reporting to management, contacts with the auditee, etc.

Financial Resources

48.

Budgeting involves deciding on the amount of money needed for the project.
Salaries, accommodation, transport, stationery and printing, various
allowances, etc. for staff conducting the audit must be determined in planning
the project’s budget. Budget for a performance audit project must be realistic
in order to achieve the desired effectiveness. Therefore, the plan should focus
on what is reasonable and realistic and not what is desirable.

Time Schedule and Activity Plan

49 The resource plan should include a time schedule and an activity plan for all

main activities, and should be as realistic as possible.

50. The following are suggestions for drawing an activity plan:

a. Do not be over-optimistic when compiling the plan. Performance
auditors might have to spend time on other tasks, such as seminars
and training programmes. They should aiso consider public holidays
and vacations

b. Take into consideration the logistics for travelling, weather
conditions and the working hours of the client

c. Compare activity plans from previous audits in order to estimate the
amount of time that will be needed to complete a specific activity.

Contacts with the Auditee

51.

The planning process also includes reflections considering the relationship to
the auditee. Contacts with the auditee would have already been established
during the pre-study through a formal letter {Notification - WP 1A) to that
effect and signed by the Auditor General. The audit team should specify the
need for a contact person and the role of that person. An indication must be
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given of the person in the audit team ({usually the team leader) or from
management who will be involved in direct contacts with the auditee.

Monitoring and Supervision

52.

53.

54.

It is important that the role of different levels of hierarchy within the Office of
Auditor General Kaduna State is made clear in the work plan. The work plan
should be decided by an appropriate level within the Office of the Auditor
General. The decision should encompass milestones and monitoring plan for the
project.

According to the INTOSAI Auditing Standards, the work of the performance
auditors at each level and at each audit phase should be properly supervised
during the audit. Supervision 1s essential to ensure that audit objectives are
achieved and the quality of audit work is maintained. Supervision should
involve ensuring that:

a. All members of the audit team have a clear and consistent understanding of
the work plan and how it shoutd be implemented

b. The audit is carried out in accordance with the standards and practices of
the Office of Auditor General Kaduna State

¢. The work plan and action steps specified in that plan are followed unless
variation is authorised by the appropriate senior

d. The audit team achieves the stated perfermance audit objectives.

Supervision, whether within the audit team or at a higher level is only one
aspect of the leadership and direction required. To achieve good results, it is
imperative that the Auditor General or his delegated official should also play a
proactive, supportive and visionary role throughout the performance audit
project.




Section vV

Executing a Performance Audit

Collecting and Analysing of Audit Evidence

1. The purpose of data collection and analysis of audit evidence in the process of
performance audit is to be able to answer the audit questions and to develop
audit findings, conclusions and recommendations. The diagram below is a
suggestion of approach to be adopted:

Collection,

AR analysis and e
:/ P[E-StUd}’ \,l documentation :, Oraft { \“
Process | andwok '—» of audit [ rafting of
\ plan - . ', thereport -

-~ - \“_ 4’

- Contacts with the auditee
- Collect and document evidence

Audit team - Analyse evidence

- Introduce the main stl.‘dy to the auditee

Management - Supervise and monitor work processes

Introduction of the Main Study to the Auditee

2. Contacts with the auditee should have already been established during the pre-
study through the Notification Letter. However, an introduction to the main
study is also necessary in the form of a follow-up letter and a meeting. The
letter, to be signed by the Auditor General or someone with delegated
authority for that purpose, will inform the auditee about the decision of the
Office of Auditor General of Kaduna State to launch a main study and explain
its purpose. At the meeting, the Auditor General could be represented by the
Audit Chief (thé Director) or his/her delegated official.

3. The purpose of the introductory meeting is to present the forthcoming
performance audit. The audit team will inform the auditee about the following:

a. Purpose of the main study
b. Time schedule for the main study

Members of the performance audit team

C
d. Methods that will be used in the performance audit

e. The information that will be reguested from the auditee
f

The need to appoint or confirm the contact person.
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4.

The introductory meeting is usually followed by a meeting between the audit
team and the appointed contact person. The contact person will throughout the
audit assist the audit team with required information and he/she will be
consulted if the audit team needs to make visits to the auditee’s regional or
local branches.

Throushout the audit, it is important to maintain a productive relationship with
the auditee.

The performance audit team will discharge its mandate freely and impartially,
taking the auditee’s views into consideration in formulating audit findings,
conclusions and recommendations, but with no responsibility to the
management of the audited entity for the scope or nature of the audits
undertaken. The team of performance auditors must remain independent from
the audited entity throughout the audit. As a consequence of this and based on
the signed Code of Ethics Statement, none of the audit team members should
have any ties to the auditee that could question his/her objectivity and
independence as an auditor.

Audit Evidence

7.

Audit evidence is information that forms the foundation which supports the
findings, conclusions and recommendations of performance auditors. It consists
of specific information and facts collected and used to test the assessment
criteria, and subsequently to support the audit findings. All works will be
planned from the perspective of acquiring the evidence needed to identify
findings that satisfy the audit objective. Selection, examination and evaluation
of audit evidence are the backbone of a performance audit.

Audit evidence can be categorised as:

a. Physical evidence that is obtained by the direct observation of
people, buildings, events, etc.

b. Testimonial evidence that is obtained through enquiries, interviews
or questionnaires

c. Documentary evidence that consists of all sorts of written
documents, e.g. reports, research papers, records, statistical data,
etc.

When planning the collection of evidence, it is essential that the audit team is
aware of the expected standards set by INTOSAI, stipulating that relevant,
reasonable and competent evidence should be obtained to support the
auditors’ conclusions regarding the audit object. Later on, when analysing the
evidence that has been obtained, these concepts will be used to assess the
quality of the audit evidence in terms of:

a. Relevant evidence which is/are information that can be used to answer the
audit questions

b. Reasonable evidence - meaning the information that can be collected at a

reasonable cost and thus allows the auditor to stay within the agreed
budget limits
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c. Competent evidence

quantity.

-implying  appropriate

Sources and Collection Methods

information in

sufficient

10. Data collection is one of the longest phases in the performance audit
process and often involves extensive field work at different levels.
One approach to planning for data collection is to list, for each audit
question, the nature and location of evidence that is needed as well
as the audit procedure that is to be implemented. To facilitate this,
performance auditors can use a verification form. An audit on
government vehicles is used as an example of this as below:

Example of Audit
Subject

1. | Are vehicles used
efficiently?

Data Collection

What to
obtain?

Kilometers in
line of duty
per vehicle

2. | What is the cause
of high failure rate
in SSCE and what is
| the role of teachers

Managers’
assessment of
utilisation

How to obtain | How to
information? compile and
analyse?
Service A table
records at showing
each depot in | average

the districts

kilometers per
vehicle, depot
and month

Interviews
with 10
managers
from the
districts

Compilation of
the
assessments in
a table '

Number of
qualified
teachers in
school

Staff Nominai
Roll

Frequency in
lecture rooms

Subject-by-
subject
qualification
of teachers

Attendance
from class
prefects

Assessment of
quality of
teaching
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11.

12.

13.

14.

It is vital that performance auditors adopt a critical approach, see things from
different perspectives and maintain an objective distance from the information
put forward by the auditee. At the same time, the performance auditor must
consider the views and arguments of the auditee.

Data collection methods need to be carefully chosen. The audit team will aim
at developing its ability to use different collection methods. Also, there is a
need to collect different kinds of data in a performance audit assignment.
Audit teams will ensure that findings in different parts of the audit, based on
different kinds of evidence, are consistent. When evidence from one source
appears inconsistent with that obtained from another, the reliability of each
remains in. doubt until further work has been done to resolve or explain the
inconsistency. When evidence from different sources and findings in related
parts of the audit are consistent, it gives assurance that is higher than that
attached to the individual parts.

In choosing methods for data collection, the performance auditor will be guided
by the objective of the audit and by the audit questions. Practical reasons such
as availability of data may restrict the choice of methods, so the performance
audit team may have to settle for second best. As a general rule, the
performance audit team should be pragmatic in the choice of methods.

Consultants can provide useful expertise in a number of areas. However, the
accuracy of the evidence remains the auditors’ responsibility. All work
produced by others need to be critically assessed.

Testimonial Evidence

15.

Below is a table showing the method of collection, the aim, benefits and the
likely challenges that may be encountered in the attempt at obtaining
testimonial evidences

Method Purpose Advantages Chatlenges

Interviews To fully - Obtain full range and | - Each interview can take a long
understand depth of information time
someone’s _ .
views - Develop relationship - Could be difficult to summarise
impressions | With and
or _ client compare to each other
experiences

- Possible to ask for - Could be costly

clarificaticns and pose

follow-up questions )
client's responses

Focus groups Explore a Quickly and reliably - Could be difficult to analyse
topicin obtain common
depth by impressions responses
combining . -
different _ Efficient way to get - Need a skilled facilitator for

range and depth of
information in short

views good discussions
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time ) - Difficult to schedule several

Convey key people together
information about
Programmes
Questionnaires | To get - Could be answered - People might not answer

information | anonymously
from a large
number of
people

- Inexpensive to

administer ) _
bias client’s responses

- Easy to compare and
analyse

- Administer to many
peaple

- Obtain large amounts
of data

- Requires skills in sampling

i - Requires knowledge to construct

- Is impersonal and wording could

Interviews

16.

17.

i8.

Interviews should be properly planned. As far as possible, the interviewer
(performance auditor) should be familiar with the subject to be discussed and
the areas to be covered. The structure of an interview depends on its
objective. In the pre-study, the questions will typically be broader, the
objective being to formulate possible audit problems. In the main study phase,
the focus will shift to verifying the audit problem and the reasons behind it.

When asking for opinions on different issues, the performance auditor wiil
usually benefit from not giving the questions to the interviewee in advance.
The same applies if for any reason, the audit team needs to inkerview severa!
people within the same organisation. On the other hand, if the purpose 57 the
interview is to collect specific facts about the audited entity, it is advisable to
provide the guestions in advance to enabie the interviewee collect relevant
statistics and other documentation. Whichever the rcase, questions will
rermally bo prepared in advance in the form of an inteiview guide.

The typical interview is held in the context of 2 meeting. Sometimes telephone
witerviews provide an alternative that can save both time and costs, especially
Hoguestions are ielavively simple, straightforwaid aond standardised,

Focus Groups, Seminars and Reference Groups

19

Facus groups, a selection of just a fow individuals brought together to discuss
specific topics, are primarily used to collect qualitative data that can provide
insights into the values and opinfons of individuals invalved in the process or
activity under audit.
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20.

21,

Seminars have the advantage of bringing together a large number of people
representing a wide range of knowledge and perspectives.

Reference groups will be composed of people drawn from within or outside the
Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State and arc usually made up of experts
and specialists, c.g. academic researchers etc. The group will usually meet on
few occasions during the audit. The reference group may be used both for
collecting data and for quality control purposes.

Questionnaire

2.

A questionnaire provides a systematic ¢ollection of information from a defined
population, usually by means of interviews or questionnaires administered to a
sample of units in the population. Questionnaires are used to gather detailed
and specific information from a group of people or organisations.

23. Questionnaires are mainly used to coliect facts that arc not available in any
documents and that are important as a reference (o substantiate an
observation. In addition, questionnaires are used when comprehensive

24.

knowledge s required. Also, guestionnaires may be distnbuted by using regular
post or the Internet. The completed questicnnaires are thereafter processed
usually on the computer to obtain a summary that would be useful for the
assignment.

It is important that the questions are easy to understand and correctly
articulated. Performance auditors should therefore put a lot of effort into the
construction of the questionnaires. The respondents will probably not be able
to respond if questions are incorrectly constructed or difficult to understand.

Documentary Evidence

25.

Considered excepticnally relevant 1n all auditing assignments, the table below
provides a guide concerning the method, purpose, the value and the challenges
normatty encountered 1n obtaining documentary evidence.

| Method Purpose - Advantages Challenges

| .

"Review of When onc wants an | - Gives comprenensive and | - 1s often tme consuming |
written impression of how a | historical information ‘
documents | programme operates - Info may be incomplete

without disturbing
operations

Information already
exists

- Does not burden the
auditee unnecessarily

File Examination

- One needs to be clear
about what to look for

Not flexible; data is
restricted to what aiready
exists

26. A prime source of documentary evidence is the examination of the auditee’s
files amd papers. It can be summarised and recorded in the performance
auditor’s own words in working papers. In excepticnal cases, important
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documents and those conveying significant or potentially controversial matters
could be photocopied.

27. 1t is important that the audit team realises that all relevant papers may not be
contained on files that are registered. There may be other relevant documents
of which the tearn is unaware. The team will, however, seek to ensure that the
evidence obtained 1s complete enough to answer the audit questions.

Policy Statements and Legislation

28. The performance audit team will asscmble policy documents, opetating
guidelines, manuals, official directives, decisions on delegation, ectc. The
performance auditor will also consider changes that have been made to
legislation and the document trail leading to the need for change, such as
submissions, press clippings, complaints, case histories and speeches.

Auditee’s Budget Statements

29. The budget statements of the auditee will include overview providing financial
information as well as facts about the objectives and performance of the
auditee.

Management Reports and Reviews

30. Entities usually generate a number of internal reports or reviews for senior
management which could contain a summary of current issues or proposed
courses for action. The performance auditor will locate and analyse such
reports. Ways of identifying reports include interviews and examination of
minutes of management meetings relating to the management reports.

Databases

31. Many organisations have compiled databases, both manual and computerised.
Typically, there is a government bureau of statistics and there may be
commercial data bases that are run, for example, by banks, which may be
useful. These data bases will enable the performance auditor to obtain and use
data which has already been collected and compiled. This will also save time

and money. it might be possible to order special computer compilations.
Published Information

32. When conducting a performance audit, it is wise to consult academic research
and other (iterature concerning the audit area. This alone may not provide
audit evidence, but it could provide the theoretical framework or points of
reference necessary to elaborate on other audit evidence.

Physical Evidence
33. These are also normatly invaluable. The following table is relevant:

| Method Purpose Advantages i Challenges '
Observing To gather - View operations as they | - May be difficult to
| people/inspecting information on | occur interpret behaviocur
" physical objects “how a '. !
Drogramme i Method can be adapted to May be complex to
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processes

actually Tevents as they occur categorise observations

cperates, . ) ‘ ‘ _

particularly - Gives reliable information May influence

with regards to | oN easily abserved behaviour of programme
objects/phenomena participants

- May be time consuming

Observing People

34. The direct observation method provides the audit team a unique opportunity to

understand the reality behind inspection reperts and other official documents.
It will offer a clearer bottom-up view of essential problems which can be
compared to the picture given in official reports or by the executive level of
the auditee. It also provides an opportunity to study relationships and processes
between staff and management. There are different ways of using this method.
The performance auditor may choose to visit workplaces, schools, hospitals,
operating bases etc. Another alternative is to accompany inspectors or other
officials in their day-to-day work. A further possibility is to sit in the reception
hall of, for example, the local clinic to observe how patients are being
attended to. Sitting in (without participating) meetings with the auditee will
also provide useful information.

Inspecting Physical Objects

35.

A wide range of information can be collected by inspecting physical objects,
such as buildings and other facilities. Inspection of physical objects is mainly
used to study a few objects in order to provide detailed examples of what has
been observed. Physical data could also be collected from a large number of
objects, compiled and analysed for further use.

Surveys and Case Studies

36.

37.

Methods of data collecticn will be described in terms of how broad they are. At
one extreme, the performance auditor may wish to give an overall picture of
the situation in the whole geographical area or for the whole population. This
type of study is sometimes referred to as a survey and usually uses guantitative
data such as results from questionnaires, statistics, etc. In general, it is not
necessary to observe the whole population. For example, in hospitals, a sample
will be taken. If the audit team wants to apply the description of the studied
sample to the whole population, the sample should be large enough, and
randemly and independently selected in accordance with statistical practice.

On the other hand, case studies which aim at thoroughly exploring a small
number of cases as examples of a situation may be prevalent throughout a
population. A case study may consist of a specific event or object. it enables
the performance auditor to concentrate on details and an understanding of
organisational processes. It is wise to choose a case (or a few cases) that is the
most or least likely to have certain characteristics. Another option is to choose
a case that is considered as representative of the whole population, or to select
several cases that together can be argued to be representative. Several
different methods can be used in a case study such as interviews, chservations,
statistics, etc. It is also often useful to cembine surveys with case studies.
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Preparing for Analysis While Collecting Data
38 The different data-collection methods have so far been treated separately.

There are, however, several common traits, especially when it comes to the
steps that will be taken to facilitate the future analysis of the collected data.

The More Data, the More Need for Structure

39. The more data that is to be collected and analysed, the more structured the

data collection will be. This will facilitate the analysis by providing
performance auditors with data that is easy to compare and to categorise
further. This is especially relevant for interviews, physical observation and
some documents, e.g. worksheets. If a large number of observations/interviews
are to be carried out, it is particularly important that the performance auditor

start by testing the ocutline of the programme so that it can be revised and
perfected.

Scrutinise Sources Critically

40.

The source of information, whether from an interviewee or the author of a
written document, may have reasons for not being objective. It is therefore
important to carefully consider the possible bias in the collected information
ang try to adjust for it through double checking and corroboration of data.

Direct Documentation

41,

If the data is not properly documented, auditors risk the chances of missing
important aspects. This is especially important in cases when the auditor is
creating new primary data through interviews or physical observations.
Documenting, in this sense, is not about simply recording an interview by taking
notes. The auditors’ notes will as soon as possible be typed and structured in
relation to the audit questions. This facilitates later analysis of the audit
evidence. It will also be wise to send the interview notes to the interviewee for
confirmation to ensure that the information is not contested at a later stage of
the audit,

Analysis of Audit Evidence

42,

43,

44,

Analysing cuantitative and qualitative data is an important step in all
performance audits. When analysing data, the audit tcam will start by revisiting
the audit objective and the audit questions. This will help to organise data and
focus the team’s analysis in line with the audit questions. To analyse and
nterpret information cffectively will require time, communication, creativily
and systematic utilisation of the extracted and summarised data.

It 1s sometimes uscful to distinguish between the compilation of data and the
analysis of data. For example, when working on a questionnaire, the answers
given to each question can be compiled to an average representing all the
answers of the respondents. After this, the compiled data witl be analysed from
different perspectives or together with other data. The distinction between
compilation and analysis is not always clear-cut and in the case of interviews it
is sometimes not possible to maintain the distinction. From the foregoing, the

use of the term “analysis™ to cover both analysis and compilation of data is
useful.

It is also important to study the information received comprehensively.
Analysing and interpreting data constitute an interactive process that requires
the performance audit team to constantly move between the different stages
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as the analysis gives rise to new knowledge and new ideas. This process will go
on until the performance auditor is satisfied with the result.

Some Key Concepts

45. 1t 15 of great importance that performance auditors critically assess the quality
of the audit evidence that has been collected during the main study. To do this,
he/she should get familiar with the key concepts that will provide useful tools
for the quality assessment.

46. The following provides additional detail concerning the concept of audit
evidence in performance auditing:

l. Relevant evidence: It is evidence that bears a clear and logical relationship
to audit objectives, audit questions and assessment criteria. An important
aspect of relevance, if the audit object is an congoing activity, is that the
evidence used to reach a conclusion should not be outdated. If recent
cvidence is not available, the performance auditor will be able to justify
why historical evidence is still relevant.

Il. Reasonable evidence: It is evidence that has been collected and compiled
in the most cost-effective way and yet allows the audit objective to be
achieved. Although most importantly when collecting evidence, applying
this concept during the analysis will help the performance audit team to
highlight problems that will be avoided in future audits.

. Competent evidence: It is usually explained as evidence that is both
sufficient and appropriate, where appropriate, it means that the evidence
1s reliable and valid.

V. Sufficient evidence relates to the quantity of audit evidence that is needed
to support an audit finding. The decision as to whether evidence is
sufficient in quantity will be influenced by its quality. An audit team will
gather enough evidence to persuade a reasonable person that their findings,
conclusions and recommendations are well founded. The judgement on
what can be considered as sufficient evidence will be influenced by a wide
variety of matters, including:

The team's knowledge of the audited entity and its environment
The materiality of the matter in hand

The risk that insufficient evidence will lead to the wrong conclusion
The persuasiveness of the evidence

The likelihood that findings will be challenged by the auditee

nano

47. Concerming the idea of competency in relation to evidence, there is need to
cxamine the following:

|. Reliable evidence: It is cvidence that will lead to consistent findings if the
same study is carried out repeatedly in the same environment by different
auditors using the same methods and data. Therefore, the performance
auditor will make surc that his/her methods are clearly described and
generally accepted

li. Valid evidence: It is evidence that describes what it is intended to present.
A correct thermometer-reading, for example, is valid evidence if the
auditor wants tc measure the temperature of water, whereas a measure of
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48.

the depth will produce invalid evidence. Similarly. if the audit team wants
to study the guality of schools. people warking in the education sector are
mere tikely to provide valid evidence than people working in hospitals. The
concept of validity 15 especially important when findings are based on
analytical evidence (“valid arguments”).

In addition, the following guidelines will help the performance auditor to assess
the quality of audit evidence:

a. Evidence corroborated by several different sources is more valid and
sufficient

b. Evidence collected by several auditors, applying the same
methodology is more reliable

c. Ewvidence that 15 old and does not reflect changes might not be
relevant

d. Evidence that is too expensive toc obtain may not be reasonable and
sufficient

e. Evidence callected from sources that have a vested interest in the
outcome might become less valid

f. Evidence collected from non-representative samples is not valid for
the whole population and therefore insufficient

g. Evidence from first-hand informers is more valid than the same
information obtained indirectly

h. Evidence obtained from knowledgeable independent sources is less
biased and therefore usually more valid than that obtained from
within the audited crganisation

1. Evidence from statements made by officials of the audited entity is
more rebable when confirmed in writing.

Quantitative Analysis

49.

50.

Quantitative analysis is often equated with statistical analysis. Whether or not
it can be applied partly depends on the kind of data that has been collected.
The difference between quantitative and qualitative analysis is often described
as the difference between analysing numbers (quantitative analyses) and
analysing texts (gualitative analyses). Information that has been collected as
text can, nevertheless, often be transformed into numbers. One can, for
example, go through documents to see how many of them include a paositive
statement about a certain issue. A calculation can then be made, expressing
percentage of investigated documents that include this positive statement.

The kind of statistical analysis most frequently used in performance auditing is
descriptive statistics. More advanced forms of statistical analysis such as
regression analysis are valuable tools for performance auditors who are
acquainted with statistical theory. Descriptive statistics can be used to describe
the fotlowing:

= Sample on which the auditors have gathered information
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»  Whole population of which the sample is a part.

51. A number of statistical concepts can then be used. Some concepts aie
presented in the table below:

" Concept Explanation B Useful

Mean Sum of alt observations When scores are more or less
divided by the number of all | symmetrically distributed, e.g. height
observations or weight

Median The observation in the When extreme scores distort the mean,
middle if all observations e.g. income '
are arranged progressively

Mode The most frequent To describe dichotomous values and
observaticon proportions, €.¢. men and women, or

to point out the “typical” value, e.g. !

¢ the typical number of children in &
family

Range

The difference between the | To comptement the mean/median it
highest and the lowes: scores are widely distributeg

i
observation !
o

i

|

i
A I

52. When generalising from a sample to the whole population, attention has to be
given to the level of certainty with which this can be done. Moreover, suci
would depend on the size of the sample and the size of the population. in the
case of arithmetic mean, the degree of certainty can be calculated hy
establishing the confidence interval, i.e. the interval within which the "trae”
mean of the population fatls ~ithin reascnable doubt.

Qualitative Analysis

53. Qualitative analysis is a broad torm used to describe o wide ranze of mothods
for structuring, comparing and doscribing data. It is usually used whoen
combining different kinds of data. Unlike gquantitative analysis, gualitative
analysis does not use matheimnatical procedures. Instead, it is based on logical
reasoning and arguments. In general, howoever, gualitative analysis meaiss,
creating own ways of systemising analytical thought. Commen components of
this systematisation arc comparing, sorting after differences and sorting after
simitarities,

54. Generalising through qualitative analysis beyond the cases that have been
nvestigated 15 a complex and disputed issue that needs careful consideration
cach time. It there is a reason to beliove that the auditee, or ciher
stakeholders, will dispute the generalisation, the performance auditor should
cxercise particutar caution.

55. Qualitative analysis 15 commonly used when deriving anatytical evidence fram

certain sources of data, such as interviews and documents. An examnple of how
tc analyse interviews 1s as follows:
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a. Choose a method for structuring the information from the interviews, using
audit questions as the first choice, and problems, actors, regions, etc. as
the next choice if it is not meaningful to structure the information only in
line with the audit questions

b. Read the interview notes again and focus on the structure. If interviews are
to be organised according to audit questions, make a note in the margin
where something is said that is relevant for question number one, two, etc.

¢. Go through all notes regarding audit question number one. If there are
many retevant remarks, make a written summary. If necessary, choose a
new factor to structure the remarks. Key players will be used as such a
structuring factor

d. Compile and analyse the opinions of each type of key player, one at a time
e. Compile and analyse the opinions of all types of key players together

f. Look for similarities and differences between the opinions of different
categonies of key players

g. Summarise the information in few sentences and judge whether or not the
audit questions can be answered. Continue with the next audit question.

Mixture of Quantitative and Qualitative Data Analysis

56.

Most often, data is analysed using different sources, different methods of data
collection as well as different types of data analysis. Consequently, the final
step in data analysis consists of combining results from different types of data

analysis. This means that, results from ntrraews will be combined with
analysis of statistical records; results from « a»  tuhes will be combined with
results from surveys etc. Some findings will veanate from field studies in one
location while other findings refer to another place. The work of combining

data from different sources is a process that should be compared to doing a
Jigsaw puzzle, where the pieces are the results of different data collection
activities. There is no general sotution as to how to handle these situations, it
is, however, of central importance that the performance auditor works
systematically and carefully in interpreting the data collected.

Documentation

57.

58.

59.

60.

As a rule, performance auditors should adequately document the audit
evidence in working papers, including the basis and extent of the planning,
work performed and the findings of the audit.

Working papers refer to all retevant documents collected and generated during
a performance audit assignment. Examples of such papers are interview notes
and statistics collected from the auditee. They also include documents
recording the audit planning and the nature, timing and extent of the audit
procedures, and the findings and conclusions drawn from the audit evidence.

Working papers serve as a connecting link between the fieldwork and the audit
report and should be sufficiently complete and detailed to provide an
understanding of the audit. Thus, they should contain all evidence accumulated
n support of the findings, conclusions and recommendations in the report.

Working papers assist in satisfactory organisation of the assignment and
facilitate access to the evidential documentation, and thus:

Assist in the planning and performance of the audit
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Facilitate effecvo management of ndividual audits
Assist i the supervision and revicw of audit work
Record evidence resulting from audit work performed to support the audit opinion.

61. The performance auditor shoutd adopt appropriate filing procedures to
mairnain the confidentiality and safe custody of the working papers and should
retain the working papers for a period sufficient to meet the needs of the legal
and professional requirements of record retention policy within the Office of
the Auditor General Kaduna State.

Guidelines for Preparation of Working Papers

62. Throughout the audit assignment, the audit team should prepare working
papers (mast of these are fashioned basced on the peculiarity of each
assignmentt and would contain information that s retevant for achieving the
audit objective, These working papers need to be of sufficient guality as
described in the following auidelines:

. Completeness and accuracy: Working papers must be complete and
sccurate in order to provide proper support for findings, conclusions and
rocommendations and ta cnable demonstration of the nature and scope of
audit wark when necessary

.  Clarity: Warking papers must be clear and understandable without
supplementary oral explanations. The information they reveal should be
clear, complete and yet concise. Anyone using the working papers should be
able to determine their purpose, the nature and scope of work and the
audit team’s chservations. Conciseness s important, but clarity and
completeness should not be sacrficed

I, Legibility and neatness: Working papers must be legible and as neat as
practicable. Sloppy working papers may lose their worth as evidence

iV, Relevance: The information contained in working papers should be
‘ostricted to matters that are important, relevant and useful with reference
Lo the obiectives estabhished for the audit.

Audit Files

43 Working paper fues for each assignment will normally be divided nto cuirent
and permanent files, Once the warking papers have been prepared, they need
to he proporty filed, Belore filing the working papers, the team lcad and the
toam members fave to agree that the working papers meet the quality
standards as described above.

A
|

Current Files

4. The materal placed in cwrent files should contain information primarily
relating 1o the current phases of the assignment. Exampies of working papers 1o
e included sn the current Hile are:

[l

a.  eboryiow notes

S0 anatynes in support of the audit work




(. Memos from discussions with representatives of the auditee and other
officials

d. Memos comprising anatyses of various documents

¢, Correspondence/communication with managors

(. Work plan

2. Materials and papcrs accumulated in repor L propaiations, inctuding drafls

h. Reviews of management controls.

65 The Table below 1s a model of Index for a Werking paper file

An index for a working file

comments from
auditee, exit
meeting

P — e

I B6 Interviow notes Cé Final draft
and summaries !
: - I e

" B7 Analytical review

b forms
A Planning B Execution C Reporting | D Finalisation
M_'_FTr_'oj'ect | 'B1 Minutes of the C1 First draft report | D1 Final report
approval tintroductory meeting
A2 Project | B2 Extracts from ' C2 Comments from D2 Letter of sub-
plan relevant staff - mission to

: documentation auditee
A3 Work ptan | B3 Walk-through | €3 Comments from | -

’ notes management

A4 Weekly | B4 Questionnaires | C4 Second draft | T
action plans report _

Permanent File

66. When the audit report 15 completed, the performance auditor shouid transfor
the current file to a permanent file, The purpase of the permanent Tl
twofold. It can be used to check eariier findings particularly it the responsin.
alditors and seniors have left the Office. 1t can also be a source of knowledgoe
when planning future work,

67. To establish the permanent file, working papers of lews importance should b
sutted out winle the rest should be organised to {acilitate (i e Lee

(a2
.
n



Developing Audit Findings, their Causes and Effects

68.

69.

70.

71.

Findings are the specific evidence gathered by the performance auditor to
satisfy the audit objectives. The findings are gathered to be able to answer the
audit questions and verify the stated hypotheses. The relationship between
assessment criteria, audit evidence, audit findings, conclusions and
recommendations s described n the figure below:

Assessment criteria (what shouid be}M
Audit e%%lnce (“what is”)
idit finding ("what i:” compared with”
Determine the 'ca'us:s and effects of the finding

Develop audit con;_issions and recommendations

ould be")

ons wherever possible

Findings are based on relevant facts and sound logical conclusions. A finding
must always be related to the audit problem. Audit findings are identified by
relating audit observations to assessment criteria, in other words, they always
compare ‘what should be’ {criterion) to ‘what is actually the case’ (condition}.
Once the findings have been identified, the performance audit team should
determine if and why there is deviation from the criteria {causes) and what the
consequences (effects) of these deviations are. The effects should be noted
either as what has already occurred or, based on logical reasoning, as the likely
future impact.

The term “condition” encompasses the evidence relevant to the audit question,
which has been cotlected and analysed throughout the audit.

Causes are the reasons why the condition deviates from the criteria. The audit
team needs to identify possible causes and then determine the ones that should
have been prevented (actionable causes). The validity of actionable causes
should be confirmed. This will be done through the analysis of management
control weaknesses. Below are some examples of how to pursue the analysis
once a cause has been identified:

Determine whether the cause is isolated or systematic. Systematic causes
generally require more significant corrective action and may be creating
other adverse effects outside the reviewed activity. Recommendations to
address such causes must consider the potential effects that changing
aspect of a system might have on other activities in the system. However,
the team should be careful because in some cases, an isolated cause can
also create significant problems. There might be a need to assess the
materiality of the cause

Determine whether the cause was an error or an omission, or whether it
was intentional. Intentional causes generally suggest disregard of
procedures and regulations. Errors or omissions generaily suggest lack of
knowledge of what is expected

Determine whether the cause was internal or external to the audited body.
External factors not within the control of the institution (auditee) may have
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72,

73.

74.

significant bearing on the problem. Recommendations for corrective actions
must consider these factors and how their effects might be mitigated
Determine the internal controls and routines that should have prevented
the cause from occurring.

Once the team has documented the condition, compared it against the criteria,
determined that the condition does not meet the criteria, and determined why
the criteria are not being met {causes), the team should identify possible
consequences (effects) of the criteria not having been met. If possible and in
identifying the effects, the actual situation (where the criteria are not met)
should be compared with the ideal situation where the criteria would have
been met. To a certain extent, these possible effects would have been
considered at an earlier stage as motivation for carrying out an audit of this
particular problem.

The nature of the findings determines whether the audit team can present
actual or potential effects. Actual effects from past or current conditions help
te demonstrate the harmful consequences and generally provide the strongest
evigence that corrective action is needed. Potential effects are generally
described as the logical consequences that should follow if the conditicn does
not meet the criterion. Potential effects are to some extent speculative, so a
performance audit team should use them with care, especially in the absence
of any related evidence of observed past effects.

Performance audit teams should, whenever possible, quantify the effects. In
the event that the effects cannot be measured, the team should give sufficient
examples. It is worthwhile to report on both negative and positive effects.

Audit Conclusions
75. Audit conclusions should clarify and add meaning to specific findings in the

76.

77.

report and reflect the view of the performance auditor as deduced from these
findings. The purpose is usually to highlight the need for changes in policies,
procedures, practices, approaches, philosophy or even organisational structure.
Conclusions should consider causes and effects related to objectives and goals.

It is not always easy to make a clear distinction between the findings and the
conclusions. One reason for this is that conclusions are based on findings and
usually include summaries of the findings. Conclusions, however, go beyond
merely restating the findings. Whereas the audit findings are identified by
comparing what should be {assessment criteria) to what is actually the position
{(audit observations}, the conclusions reflect the audit team’s explanations and
opinions based on these findings. This is why findings are usually expressed in
past tense and the conclusions in present tense. Conclusions might include
identifying a general topic or a certain pattern in the findings. An underlying
problem which explains the findings may also be identified.

The conclusions should flow togically from the findings, causes and all
analytical steps taken beyond the findings should be clearly exptained and
justified.




Audit Recommendations

78.Recommendations are the performance auditors’ proposals that call for

improvement 1n opecrations and/or performance of either the audited
entity as a whole or a particular section or area audited within the
entity. Audit findings resuiting from an audit may be positive or
negative. Where deficiencies in performance have been identified the
performance audit team needs to develop recommendalions to guide
corrective actions.

Formulating Recommendations
79. Audit recommendations emerge from identification of the causes of the

audit  findings which ought to be addressed by the entity.
Recommendations should neither be too detailed nor too general. In
developing the recommendations, performance auditors have to
concentrate on what should be changed and leave the questions of how
to make changes to the auditee.

80.Recommendations should be sufficiently detailed so that they can be

understood and implemented by the audited entity and monitored by the
Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State. The audit team must
develop audit recommendations that can be implemented and that will
not necessarily require additional resources. However, the audit team
should not prescribe detailed steps to be taken by the auditee in
implementing such recommendations. This will be for the auditee to
decide at a later stage.

81. The performance audit team needs to consider the following questions in order

to develop workable recommendations:

What needs to be done and why?

Where does it need to be done?

Who is responsible for doing it?

What is the expected impact of the recommendations?
Could the implementation have negative effects elsewhere!

®oap oo

Characteristics of Useful Recommendations
82. Below are some characteristics of good recommendations that the performance

audit team is expected to develop. Good recommendations should:

a. Flow logically from the findings and conclusions. referring only to matters
addressed i the renos:

b. State what aciicie coct * - hop and by wheo

€. Be directed at those vt Dave moabority and rownsibility to act

d. Be stated positively and constructively

e. Address significant deficiencies and demonstiate that action witl improve
operations. safeguard assets. reduce costs or hring the condition into

comptiance with the criteria
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dentify anc weigh costs and risks against potential benefits

Consider the practical constraints of nplementation in the light of
linitations such as finanoal/budgetary constraints

Indicate alternative solutions when more than one course of acton could
correct the preblem

Avoid recommending additional measures if efforts are already underway to
remedy the problem. In such circumstances, reference to such efforts may
suffice,




Section VI

The Performance Audit Report

1. At the end of each performance audit assignment, a written report
communicating the results of the audit to the stakeholders would be prepared.
The performance audit report is the product on which the performance audit
function is measured by its stakeholders. Inaccuracies in the report coutd be
potentially damaging to its credibility. It is therefore crucial that adequate
attention be given te the accuracy, logic and clarity of the report. The diagram
below depicts the process of preparing the Performance Audit Report

—_—————— e e

/~ Clearanceof
\ the report ‘

2 Colectionand ™
Process "‘ analysis of ,rl

Y . - -
~._ Aldit avifenre -

-

Drafting of
the report

-——— e - -

- Cempose synopsis
Audit team

- Write and revise draft
Management - Agree on synopsis

Reporting Standards
2. As a rule, an audit report should be appropriate and easy to understand. The
standards to be met include the following:

l. Timeliness: The audit report should be prepared and issued in a timely
manner in order to be valuable to readers and users, particularly
government and the audited entity which have to take the necessary
corrective actions. It is therefore important that the report be published
within the time schedule set out in the work plan.

li.  Completeness: The audit report should contain all information and
arguments needed to fulfil the audit objective and provide answers to the
audit questions. The relationship between audit objectives, findings and
conclusions needs to be verifiable, complete and clearly stated.

Ill.  Accuracy: Evidence presented in the audit report should be true and
comprehensive and all findings correctly and logically portrayed. The need
for accuracy is based on the need to assure the readers that what is
reported is credible and reliable. A high standard of accuracy requires an
effective system of quality assurance.

IV.  Objective and logical: The presentation of the report should be balanced in
content and quality. For the credibility of the report, all evidence should be
presented in an unbiased manner. Performance auditors should be aware of
the risk of exaggeration and overemphasis of deficient performance. The
audit report should only present arguments that are logically valid.

V. Clarity: The audit report should be clear and easily understood, written to
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suit the capabilities, interests and time constraints of the audicnce. The
language should be as simple as the subject matter allows. Technical terms
and unfamiliar abbreviations must be defined. Tables, Appendices. charts,
photographs and other relevant documents should be used where
appropriate to present and summarise complex information. Clarity is
improved when the report is concise. Sources of external data used should
be quoted clearly.

Format of the Report

3. A number of points nced to be emphasised with regard to performance audit

reports thus:

The value of concise and sharply focused reports that highlight significant issues of
public administration

The need for well-developed audit findings based on relevant, reasonable and
competent evidence

The importance of having fewer, but more comprehensive, audit conclusions and
rccommendations

The importance of a timely final report
The benefits of sound and well-established audit methodclogy.

4. Format of a performance audit report: Below, additional concepts regarding
an approach to the draft report are provided.

I. Title: The title should clearly specify what the audit object is and indicate
the auditee responsible for the activities audited. For example, if the audit
problem is “insufficient supply of water in the rural area”, the title could
be “Provision of potable water in the rural area by the department of rural
water supply in the Ministry of Water Resources”

I, Foreword: The Auditor General presents the report and acknowledges the
cooperation received from the auditee by the performance auditors who
undertook the audit. The foreword is written on the official letterhead of
the Auditor General, including his/her signature and the date. (n the letter,
reference is made to the relevant statutes and the mandate to undertake
special audits in accordance with the Audit law. The report should identify
those to whom it is addressed

. Table of contents: It illustrates the structure of the report

1Y, Executive summary: The chapter summarises the backgrounc, najor
findings, conclustons and recommendations. I is designed for thos~ wi
have little timo to read the full report. The summary shoubd norme oy
De more than bwo pages

V. introduction: The objective is to provide backgiound information ahaat 1.
audit, namely the auditee's legislative framework, goals and ohijortives,
resources and nrgamisational structure. This chapter afso present: tho aidit
motivation. the audit obiective and audit prohlom

V.. Methodology: Tins chapter includes i audiling svandgarc: a1 s
aesign. If necessary, a more detailed prosentation of the daiz cotiostiar
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carried out (number of interviews, Questionnaires administered etc..} may
be included

Vil. Description of the audit object: Description of the system or programme
being audited. From this description, it should be clear how the system
should work, with all the dctails, which is responsible for what, etc. Part of
this work should have been carried out during the pre-study. The title of
this chapter shoutd be the name of the system or programme being audited

VI Findings: The chapter clearly describes the criteria and relates them to
what has been observed. It presents the findings generated from the
comparison between criteria and observations. All findings must be derived
from the audit evidence

EX. Conclusions: The chapter contains the conclusions reached by the
performance auditors as put together by the team leader

X. Recommendations: The chapter contains the recommendations of the
performance auditors as drawn up by the team leader

XlI.  Annexure: If comprehensive, descriptions of the auditee, many statistical
tables, etc. are needed, these should be placed in Annexure in order to
facilitate the reading of the audit report. Sources of externally generated or
extracted data or information need to be clearly stated in case the reader
wishes to venfy such source.

The Writing Process
5. The process of writing the report shoutd be broken down into four stages,

namely:
L. Synopsis
ll.  Audience analysis
1. Drafting
V. Revising

Clearance of the Report

6. After receiving the draft report, the overall head of the performance audit
department should initially review it and then conduct a final assessment of all
working papers. The purposc of the two-stage review is to ensure that the audit
meets laid down auditing standards of the Office of Auditor General Kaduna
State and to secure a swift initiation of the clearance process. The report is
finally laid before the Auditor General for final clearance. Once the report has
been cleared by the Auditor General, it is ready for submission to the ultimate
recipients (the State House of Assembly and any other stakeholders). The
diagram below represents the report writing and clearance process.

“Drafting of tne

et Tt
\ Tenon '
“ ;

. Presentatonof
1
N trg BP0

Process
Clearance of

the report

- Organize contacts with the auditee

Audit team o )
- Finalise draft report after management review
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- Review draft report and working papers

Management

- Send draft report to the auditee

Review of the Draft Report
7. During the review, top management within the Office of the Auditor
General Kaduna State should ensure the:

a. Legitimacy of the report: The report should not stray outside the
tegal responsibility of the Office of Auditor General Kaduna State.
There should be no suggestion that the Office is questioning the
merits of political objectives

b. Adequacy of the findings, conclusions and recommendations in
addressing the audit objectives. Management should ensure that the
report provides complete and conclusive coverage of the audit
problem

¢. Balance of the various sections: The report should concentrate on the
important aspects of the auditee’s management and performance and
avoid detail on minor issues

d. Quality of presentation: The draft should be well written, in
accordance with the standard and policy of report writing within the
Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State. Appropriate tables,
charts, etc. should be used to enhance reader’s understanding of the
report.

8. The draft report could be submitted to a team of experts {e.g. the
standing team on quality assurance) for further quatity review, advice
and comments. Once the finat adjustments have been made, the draft is
submitted to the Auditor-General, or to a Director with delegated
authority, for a decision on whether the draft report can be sent to the
auditee for comments.

9. Top management within the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State
will not normally review the working papers. Such would have already
been done by the performance audit head {Audit Chief). However, where
findings, conclusions or recommendations are particutarly sensitive, top
management may find 1t necessary to call for the relevant working
papers for further scrutiny.

Releasing the Draft Report to the Auditee

10.When the Auditor General or a Director suttably deleeated witl the
authority 1s satisfiea that the draft report mec:s the eic dow
standards. he/she will send it to the auditee together with ar imvitation
to submit written comments. The Auditor General will hive o decide on
whether the draft report Lo be sent to the auditec should inciudc
conclusion. nd recommiendations, or only descriptive facrz shout o
Auditen v oo Sindings. The audit team wil, agrea will o st




a date for an exit meeting where the draft report, and possible written
comments from the auditee, will be discussed.

Exit Meeting

11. The purpose of the exit meeting is to ensure that the auditee has been
given the opportunity to appreciate the report, and also that the
management of the entity is given the opportunity to comment on the
report before it is finalised. At the exit meeting. it is particularly
important that the critical findings of the audit are highlighted. The
meeting should ensure that:

a. All relevant facts have been included in the report and presented in a
fair way

b. The conclusions drawn are rational

c. It is clear that the auditee agrees on the findings, conctusions and
recemmendations.
Internal Finalisation
12.1f the auditee’s comments have not been presented n writing, they
should be summarised in agreed minutes from the exit meeting.

13.The performance audit team should carefully consider reservations
expressed by the auditee. The team should verify data that has been
contested and, if necessary, collect additional information. It might also
be necessary to ensure once again that all findings and conclusions are
nased on relevant evidence. Where differences of opinion cannot be
satisfactorily resolved, the relevant leader/head of the performance
audit group should consider whether this should be brought cut in the
report.

14.The main etements of documentation in the clearance stage are the
various drafts of the audit report and the Director’s (i.e. Audit Chief’s)
review notes. Few additional working papers will be generated at this
stage. It is essential to maintain the standard of documentation, as
defined in relevant part of this manual throughout the finalisation of the
audit report.

Presentation of the Final Report

15. Once it has been internally finalised, the audit report should be presented to
the intended recipients (House of Assembly, stakeholders  etc..).
Comprehensive reports and wide distribution of the reports are critical to the
credibility of the performance audit function. The diagram below illustrates the
presentation/distribution of performance audit reports,
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Section Vi

Follow-Up

Objective and Purpose of Follow-up

1.

The key objective of a follow-up to performance audit mission is to determine
what measures the auditee has taken on the basis of the conclusions and
recommendations presented by the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State,
and whether these measures arc adequate in view of the shortcomings or
developmental needs that were observed in the audit. In other words, follow-
up should provide a picture of whether the problems that were observed have
been corrected adequately and what further steps the office of the Auditor
General Kaduna 5tate should take with regards to the matter.

In addition to the implementation of the recommendations and/or the
correction of identified issues, follow-up can also determine whether other
essential changes have taken place in the activities of the auditee. The purpose
of a fellow-up is not to re-evaluate the issues as a whole, however, but to
concentrate on the improvements that have taken place based on the
recommendations of the performance audit report.

Follow-up also strives to determine to what extent an audit has led to changes
in the activities of the auditee. Since an audit is only one factor that influences
activities and verifying cause-and-effect relations is difficult, follow-up usually
has ta rely on a reasonable assumpticn concerning what effect an audit has had
on the activities of the establishment.

Another purpose of follow-up is to produce information to help the office of the
Auditor General Kaduna State in its own planning. Planning is aided by
information regarding the current state of audited activities, the extent to
which auditees’ have implemented the previous recommendations and whether
the implementation of recommendations has resulted from the audit or other
factors that may have influenced the auditee’s activities.

As a matter of fact, follow-up is part of the performance audit process by
means of which the Office of the Auditor General Kaduna State carries out its
statutory task.

A follow-up is net an audit but the monitoring of changes in the activities of the
auditec. The findings in the audit report on which the positions taken by the
Office are based should be verified very carefully. In a follow-up assignment,
the need to verify findings is weaker and the focus is narrower, so methods for
producing audit evidence and orsuring quality differ from those in an audit.

Conducting the follow-up

7.

Every audit report ts followed 11 An exception car be made if, for example,
the audited activities have chanced completely anc this could not be foreseen
when the audit report was submitted. A soparate decision must be made in

stich cases.

Follow-up plan is prepared 1n connection with the final dralting and 1ssuing of
an audit report. The subsequent matters e orcided in connection with the
s of an audit report s tand ooy o kD 2s ceearly as poassible i the

)
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10.

11.

12.

positions or original findings in the audit, which would still be fresh at the
time. The follow-up ptan should also be discussed at the final (exit} meeting
with the auditee because the decision page in the audit report gives a deadline
for the follow-up.

The follow-up plan tells a} what matters will be followed up; b) how the follow-
up will be conducted and ¢) when the follow-up report will be submitted.

The matters that are monitored in a follow-up should always be measures that
are carried out on the basis of the most important conclusions and
reccommendations in the perfoermance audit report. In some cases, the State
House of Assembly may issue a statement or otherwise express her views
regarding the conclusions or recommendations in the performance audit report.
Special attention should be paid to the views of the House in conducting a
fotlow-up.

In a follow-up program, data should be obtained in an on-going manner after an
audit report has been submitted. The same methods can be used as in
producing audit evidence, e.g. collecting and analysing financial information,
documents or statistics, interviews or questionnaires. Since the amount of time
that is available for collecting data and reporting in a follow-up is generally
short {about 5-10 working days), the basic information source in a follow-up
should often be the request for information that has been sent to the auditee.
This should be written on a letter template.

The deadline for the follow-up report is specified on the decision page of the
audit report and in the follow-up plan. This could be between 1 and 3 years
after the completion of the performance audit. In deciding on a deadline, it is
necessary to evaluate the scope of the measures and changes that are required
by the positions in an audit and how long it may take to implement or initiate
the measures. Even if a follow-up concerns broad system changes, which can
take years to implement, the follow-up should not have to wait more than
three years after the performance audit report has been submitted. In the case
the House of Assembly has given its own timetable for a follow-up report, this
must also be taken into consideration in deciding on a deadline.
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WP 14

LETTER OF NOTIFICATION TO CONDUCT PERFORMANCE AUDIT

Auditee: Reviewed by: | Name Rank Date
Address ' Level 1

Prepared by: | Level 2

Rank: Level 3

Date: Date;

On Letterhead of Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna State

Audit of the [insert name of audited entity] performed by Auditor General
Addressee [Applicable title of the accounting officer]

Date

Dear Sir / Madam

Performance audit of Your Establishment [Insert the name of the audited entity] to
cover the period [insert relevant years] are subject to performance audit by the
Auditor General in terms of [Refer to the relevant section of the act].

The purpose of this letter is to outline: performance audit

» The respective responsibilities of the Office of the Auditor General of Kaduna
State in the performance audit are:
i.
i,
1.
Objective(s) of the Audit
The objective(s) of the performance audit are:

e [insert the objectives of the performance audit]

This letter sets forth our understanding of the terms and objectives of our
engagement, and the nature and scope of the services we will provide. Auditors
will be conducted with the objective of reporting on programs, project faiso refer
to any other reporting responsibilities if any].

Responsibilities of the Auditor

Qur audit will be conducted in accordance with the international Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to establish the level of performance within your
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institution as compared to the mandate and the resources made available by
Government. The procedures selected depends on the judgment of the auditors

Responsibilities of management
The audit wilt be conducted on the basis that management has responsibility:

e. To cooperate with the auditors and make available necessary documents
and other information that may be required

f. To provide us with access to all information which is relevant

g. Unrestncted access to persons within the entity from whom we determine it
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

As part of the audit process, we will request from management and, where
appropriate, those charged with governance, written confirmation concerning
representations made to us in connection with the audit.

The following are the key deliverables and target dates that should be met by both
parties:

Agreement to Terms

This letter will remain effective until it is replaced. We shall be grateful if you
could confirm your agreement to the terms of this letter by signing and returning
the enclosed copy, or let us know if the terms of our engagement are not In
accordance with your understanding.

we took forward to full cooperation from your staff during our audit.
326

Activity Responsibility Target
- date
1. -| Meeting between the representatives of the Auditor | fAudit Chief, Team
General’s Office and the management of the audited | lead and officials
entity to discuss the Overall Audit Strategy. of the audited
entity at relevant
level]
2. | Request information from audited entity. Team Lead
3. | Submit information requested for audit. Management of the '
audited entity
4. | Meeting between Auditor General’s Office and the | Team (ead and i
management of the audited entity, to discuss the | management of
| { outcome of the audit. audited entity B
5. 1 Submit draft report to management for study. Auditor General of
Kaduna State
6. Discuss draft report with management Audit Chief, Team
Lead and officials
of the gaudited
entity at relevant
- . . tevel]
7. | Management submits written response to draft report | Accounting Officer
|| to the Auditor General. 5 _ B L B o
8. | Issue of final report | Auditor General of o i
Kaduna State L ‘




‘ Yours faithfully

i | AUDITOR-GENERAL OF KADUNA
STATE




WP 18 - CODE OF ETHICS DECLARATION

[ Auditee: Reviewed by: | Name Rank Date
Period end: Level 1 Sl —
Prepared by: Level 2 e R «
Rank: Level 3 T
Date:

[This declaration should be completed by all audit team members including
management responsible for the audit|

CODE OF ETHICS DECLARATION
Audited entity: finsert the name of the audited entity]
Performance Audit Object: [insert the object of the Performance Audit]

For the purposes of the audit of [insert the name of the audited entity], | confirm

that:

7. Myself, or my any members af my immediate family do not have a financial
interest* in the finsert the name of the audited entity|.

8. | do not have any business relationships with the audited entity or any of its
directors, officers and employees.

9. | am not, and have nol been in the last two hnancial years, an officer,
employee or direclor of the audited entity.

10. | do not have any immediate or close family member(s)’ that currently hold(s) a
financial reporting and oversight role® at the audited entity or held such a
position during the financial year under audit.

11. | do not have any other relationship with any director officer and employee of
the entity under audit that may impair my independence.

12. | understand the requirements in the INTOSAI Code of Ethics as far as:

12.1 1 should exercise due care and perform the audit in a professional manner and
to the best of my abilities.

12.2 | should perform the audit with honesty, integrity, impartiality and political
neutrality.

17.3  The confidentiality of information obtained during the audit process and that |

should not disclose such information to third parties

Circumstances which may impair my compliance with the above statements for the
audit:

' Including the ownership of shares, Inans or guarantees o or from the entily, its directurs or officers.
" Including any dependents of the team member. parents, step-parents, children, step-children and siblings

“ A financial reporting oversight role refers o those persons exercising influence over the accounting records or
financial statements. This would include & memver of the board of directors or similar governing body, chiel
executive officer, president, chiel financial officer, chief operating offizer. general counsel. chief accounting
officer. controller, director of ntermal audil, and director of fimancial reporling. freasurer, of any equivaient
position.
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{List circimiciances where applicable]

DECLARATI(M

I, the undoricnes fully understand the requitemionts and responsibilities contained
in the Cod.w of £thics, Where applicable, | have documented the circumstances
which may uiipair my compliance.

....................................................

Name of team member Rank . Signature of team member

CONCLUSION FOR THE AUDIT

[This conclusion should be signed once-off for the audit by the person responsible
for the audit]

Threats identified by team members ‘Actions taken to address the threats

After consider i of the above declarations by the audit team and interviews with team
members, | lade that the all the requirements contained in the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants are understood and met for the audit engagement. Any threats {o
the audit teains’ independence have been eliminat cd or reduced to an acceptable level.

Signature of person responsibie for the report Date
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